

 
The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please contact the  


Village Clerk’s Office, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 


 
 


AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 – 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 


January 21, 2019 
6:00 p.m. 


1. Call to Order 
 


2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 


3. Roll Call 
 


4. Recognition - Citizen Award to Emily Kay Brenner  
 


5. Minutes of the Special Meeting – November 19, 2018, December 3, 2018 and December 
17, 2018 
 


6. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received 
from the public on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken 
under citizen comments.) 


 
7. Administrator’s Report 


 
8. New Business 


 
A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 


#19-01 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment as it relates to property located at the 
corner of Old Green Bay Road and STH 165 to be known as Green Bay Trail 
Condominiums. 


B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of a Conceptual 
Plan as it relates to property located at the corner of Old Green Bay Road and STH 
165 to be known as Green Bay Trail Condominiums. 


C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Resolution 
#19-01 to vacate a portion of the Schmidt’s First Addition to Pleasant Prairie 
Subdivision rights-of-way. 


D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 
#19-02 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to amend Village 2035 Land Use Plan 
Map 9.9 as it relates to property located between 116th and 128th Street east of 
Sheridan Road. 


E. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 
#19-03 Zoning Map Amendment as it relates to property located between 116th and 
128th Street east of Sheridan Road. 


F. Consider and approve the Offer to Purchase of property known as 10214 39th Avenue, 
Pleasant Prairie. 


9. Village Board Comments 
 


10. Adjournment 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 
November 19, 2018 


6:00 p.m. 
 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, November 19, 
2018.  Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris 
Keckler, Mike Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village 
Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community 
Development Director; Kathy Goessl, Finance Director; Dave Smetana, Chief of Police; Craig Roepke, 
Chief of Fire & Rescue; Rocco Vita, Village Assessor; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink 
Jr., Public Works Director; Dan Honore', IT Director; Craig Anderson, Recreation Director and Jane C. 
Snell, Village Clerk.  One citizen attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


A request has been made to move Item A under 7 New Business to the top of the agenda here.  
Motion to do so? 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I’ll move. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider approval of an Assignments of the Development Agreement between the 


Village and Harpe Development, LLC regarding the Vintage Parc Development 
location at the southeast corner of STH 165 and Old Green Bay Road. 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this is the request of Dustin Harpe through the Harpe 
Development, LLC, and this is for an assignment to the development agreement between the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie and Harpe Development.  The current owner as of last Thursday, the 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
2 


last owner, was Lakewood Meadows, LLC.  And Lakewood has since on Friday sold this project 
to Dustin Harpe as part of Harpe Development.  As with any other project in the Village this is a 
project that was started and not completed during the recession era of 2008-2009.  The slide 
shows where the project is located south of 165 at approximately 105th Street as well as 65th 
Avenue, it’s east of Old Green Bay Road. 


 
At that time back in 2007-2008 this project was platted as a condominium development.  It has 
since sat for almost ten years.  There were some public improvements that were completed to the 
site including the pavement and the curb and gutter, and then there were some other 
improvements that were done.  The two terminations of cul-de-sacs on the east and the south are 
actually terminating as temporary cul-de-sacs. 


 
This property was sold last spring from Wisen Developments or Wisen Investments to the 
Lakewood Meadows Development.  And now they are selling it to Dustin Harpe.  Again, he 
closed on the property last Friday.  The intent is that Harpe Development, LLC, will take over 
and execute the development that was entered into between the Village and the original 
developer.  And there are obligations that the new developer will have with respect to complying 
and completing basically all of the public related improvements for the site.  Mr. Harpe will also 
be required to post a letter of credit with the Village that is equal to a 2018 estimate. 


 
So the staff recommends approval of the assignment of the development agreement for Mr. 
Harpe.  He is working on conceptual plans with the Village.  It is my understanding that he 
intends to bring the project forward as two and three unit condominium development, project 
units, but he is vetting all that through the stuff.  And, if course, the public related improvements 
he’s vetting that out through our Village engineering department.  So with that the staff 
recommends approval of the assignment of the development agreement to Harpe Development, 
LLC, subject to the comments and conditions as outlined in the assignment one of which is 
executing this document, and secondly to provide a 2018 estimate for the letter of credit.  And, 
again, as we finalize and vet through the entire project he may need to submit an additional or a 
supplementary letter of credit.  And, again, that will all come back through for the Village Plan 
Commission and the Village Board’s approval. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I’d move approval. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
3 


Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  So carries. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Thank you. 
 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE ASSIGNMENTS OF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND HARPE DEVELOPMENT, LLC REGARDING THE 
VINTAGE PARC DEVELOPMENT LOCATION AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF STH 165 
AND OLD GREEN BAY ROAD; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 
4. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 A. Proposed 2019 General Fund Budget 
  1. Citizen Comments. 
  2. Closing of Budget Hearing. 
  3. Board of Trustee Comments. 
  4. Resolution #18-46 relating to the Adoption of the 2019 Budget and property 


Tax Levy including Capital, Debt Service and other funds of the Village 
budget. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


In your packet is the actual detailed budget for general operating capital and debt.  And that was 
also published on the website.  And this is our org chart for the Village.  Everything in blue will 
be presented tonight, the general government operating capital and debt service, and then our tax 
increment districts which now we have more than one, so I’ll present all of them, and then our 
special revenue fund.  The ones in green, water, sewer, clean water, solid waste and fleet were 
presented a couple weeks and approved. 


 
I’ll start with operating.  This is an overview of our operating budget for general government.  It 
compares 2018 budget to what we’re proposing and the changes in dollars and percents.  Revenue 
is up $595,000 with property tax being down by three percent or $285,000.  And then other 
revenue being up $880,000 which is the addition of a personal property tax aid of $285,205 and 
an increase in permits and licenses, mainly building permits, of $367,000. 


 
Expenses are up $652,000 with decision packets of $540,000 accounting for the majority of the 
increase.  All the other categories increased except for parks and contingency.  We’re 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
4 


recommending use of $243,821 reserve for one-time expenses, and using the reserve to transfer 
$850,000 to general government capital.  Our estimated end of year reserves will still be at 30 
percent even with a transfer and the one-time expenses which is over our current reserve policy 
minimum of 25 percent. 


 
These are our operating revenues in our different categories.  It’s comparing last year’s budget to 
our proposed and the dollar change.  As I mentioned on the previous slide property taxes are 
down $285,205 for the operating portion of the general fund budget.  That $285,000 equivilates to 
the personal property tax aid that we will be receiving that in intergovernmental revenue.  Other 
taxes are mobile home taxes, utility tax from the water utility, also personal property tax penalty 
and hotel and motel tax.  This is up $132,000, the majority of the increases in utility tax from the 
utility, water utility up $127,000. 


 
Intergovernmental is up $265,000.  The majority of this category is shared revenue from the state 
for having the power plant and power lines for $1.8 million and [inaudible] shared revenue for 
$172,000.  This category also includes our new personal property tax aid of $285,000 which 
accounts for the increase in this category.  Licenses and permits are up $267,000 mainly due to an 
increase in commercial building permits up $305,000.  Fines is Municipal Court revenue and our 
parking ticket revenue, there’s a slight increase in Municipal Court revenue of a little over 
$6,000.  Public charge for services, the large revenue sources in this category is engineering, 
billing engineering, rescue squad, franchise fees and street light billings.  A small increase across 
the majority of the accounts totaling $43,000 in this category.   


 
Other revenue sources are up by $66,000.  The majority is due to interest on investments up 
$25,000 school officer up $17,000 and assessing contracts up $9,000.  So overall we have a total 
revenue increase of a little less than $600,000.  This is the source of the revenue.  The two largest 
revenue sources besides property taxes is intergovernmental at $2.5 million up $132,000.  And 
public charges for services $2.1 million up $42,000 from last year. 


 
Now I’ll switch from revenue to expenses.  Our expenses are up $1.5 million.  In the base portion 
of the operating budget overall personnel costs are up $280,000 across all the categories.  
Operating expenses are up $33,000.  We have this operating transfer of $850,000 toward the 
bottom of this table, and recurring packages of $297,000, so a total increase of $1.5 million in this 
budget. 


 
Public safety, the top line, is up $87,000, fire and rescue an increase of $87,000, police and 
inspection up slightly offset by a decrease of $17,000 in public safety communications.  Public 
works is engineering, streets, street lighting up $37,000, and increase of $21,000 in engineering, 
streets up $31,000 offset by a decrease in street lighting.  General government includes our 
Village Board, Municipal Court, administration, HR, IT, finance, assessing, Village Hall and 
Roger Prange Building up $62,000.  The majority of increase is in IT up $46,000.  Other 
departments up some and some are down. 


 
CD up $18,000, personnel is up $27,000 offset by a one-time down $14,000.  Parks has a 
decrease of $58,000.  This is a decrease in the personnel allocation of our public works 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
5 


employees down $53,000.  And then we have contingency.  In 2018 this contingency was meant 
for unsettled union contracts.  In 2018 the dollar amount is used to balance our budget.  


 
Decision packets, the decision packets were discussed in detail at our October 15th meeting.  
Recurring decision packets totaled $296,710, and one-time total $243,821.  The ones over 
$30,000, $30,000 or over are in the recurring, one police officer for a little over $89,000, part-
time landscaping position to full-time for a little over $51,000, seven part-time dispatchers to full-
time for $68,000, full-time municipal code enforcement officer for $53,000, and annual park 
maintenance which includes the emerald ash borer from the parks department $30,000.  Our one-
time over $30,000 or over is our compensation study for $35,000, storage bay floor epoxy seal for 
$40,000, security fence around Prange for $50,000, fire staffing study for $30,000, and public 
safety communications study for $30,000.  So that’s our general government operating, revenue 
and expenses. 


 
Now I’m going to switch to the capital fund.  The tax levy increase on our capital fund increases 
by $710,000.  All the growth was put into the capital fund for the upcoming year.  
Intergovernmental is an increase in road aids of $127,000 which is 15 percent, our max increase 
in that category, plus one additional one-time payment of $159,000 from ATC.  Impact fees 
collected, estimate of the collection of, currently we’re already at $800,000 for 2018 with some 
big payments recently received from Aurora and Breeze Terrace.  So I’m estimating to collect 
$850,000 in 2018.  I keep a conservative estimate for 2019 of $150,000. 


 
Transfer in of $850,000, that’s from our general operating fund.  We had a surplus last year of 
over $1 million accumulated plus surpluses over the last couple years.  So we’re transferring that 
money of $850,000 to capital to be used for one-time capital expenditures.  Land sales, reserves 
were used in this fund to purchase Abbott property located in Bristol in 2017.  Currently we have 
a purchase and sale agreement pending to sell the land in 2019.  The land purchase is currently on 
the balance sheet as a land for resale so only the profit from the sale will be recognized when 
sold.  And currently I don’t have anything in here until we sell it for 2019. 


 
Other, interest income, sales of police vehicles and the use of the fire and rescue capital reserve.  
And another one is sponsorships or donations, and/or donations, for the command post 
communication vehicle.  The increase of $175,000 budgeted in 2019 is for the sponsorship 
[inaudible] donation for the command post communication vehicle offset by a decrease in the use 
of the fire and rescue capital reserve of $98,000.  That’s our total revenue. 


 
Capital outlay totals $4.3 million for 2019 up from $3.4 million in 2018.  The major projects over 
$200,000 that are included in the $4.3 million are the paving program for $1.8 million, 
replacement ambulance for a little over $309,000.  We’re using the final balance in the fire and 
rescue reserves of $38,000 to help pay for a small portion of that ambulance.  And we’re carrying 
over the replacement of the 1990 pumper tanker for $882,000 which was borrowed in November, 
just a couple weeks ago, but will be received in 2019.  We are recommending no borrowing for 
2019.  We did have some borrowing in 2018 for the ambulance, the pumper tanker and to finish 
our fiber ring. 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
6 


 
On to our next category is our debt service.  The debt levy was updated based on the sale of our 
bonds a couple weeks ago so this did change slightly.  But interest rates were a little higher than 
expected increasing the levy and the debt payment by $13,598.  Even with that increase we’re 
looking at a decrease in our tax levy of a little more than $2,000.  Our interest income will be up 
$8,000, and we have a small increase in principal and interest payments of $3,075.  We’re 
looking at a balanced budget with no gains or losses in this fund. 


 
This is our general government outstanding debt trend.  General government’s outstanding debt at 
the end of 2018 will be $10,365,000 after paying off $1.5 million in 2018 and borrowing $1.4 for 
the fire truck, ambulance and finish the fiber ring.  At the end of 2019 outstanding debt will be 
$8.9 million after paying $1.5 million and not borrowing any in 2019. 


 
This is a summary of all three of our general government funds, our operating, debt and capital.  
Total property tax levy that’s being recommended is $12,306,203 up because of growth of 
$705,081, a debt adjustment of an increase of $3,075 offset by a personal property tax reduction 
of $285,205, overall a net increase of $423,000.  Our fund balance at the bottom is estimated to 
end the year at $9.6 million across all three funds with unreserves of $5.5 million overall or 23 
percent of expenditures.  Our fund balance policy is written based on our operating being above 
25, not all three funds being over 25.  So as you can see on the left hand side operating is at a 30 
percent fund balance unreserved. 


 
How does this affect the property tax bill?  This is a comparison of the 2018 to 2019 
recommended mill rate for all taxing bodies.  All numbers are final.  The total mill rate without 
school tax credit decreased $1.91 from $21.58 to $19.67 per $1,000 of assessed value.  All taxing 
districts mill rates decreased in 2019 because equalized value and assessed value increased.  The 
Village accounts for only 22 percent of our total taxes being collected. 


 
This is a median residential home which increased 15.48 percent or $31,800 from 2018 to 2019.  
The total property tax bill before tax credits which is a final if our budget is approved tonight is 
an increase of $234.39 or 5.29 across all taxing districts including the school, the county, 
Gateway and our tax levy.  Less credits the credits are not finalized.  We don’t have any credit 
information yet from the state so this is just an estimate of what we had last year, and then it 
adjusted slightly because of the increase in assessed value.  So a net increase of $230.16 with 
probably less because the tax credits will come in for an increase of a little under six percent over 
and across all taxing bodies. 


 
So now I’m switching gears to our tax incremental districts.  Our most active district or has the 
most activity going on is out TID #2.  The property tax increment which is on the top line is 
determined by the State of Wisconsin formula based on the equalized value without and with 
TID.  This should be the final number being up a little over $2 million.  Sale or property, 2018 
was the sale of land to Aurora, that $14.5 million.  And then I’m budgeting in 2019 for the final 
land purchase payment from Haribo for $7.5 million.  


 
And then other revenue 2019 budgeted for exempt computer aid for $337,000, personal property 
tax aid for $293,000, and interest income of $260,000 for an increase over last year’s budget of 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
7 


$286,000.  The transfer in is CDA land that was transferred into the TID District to be sold to 
Uline.  It’s a piece that is mainly stormwater management and was sold to them for around the 
same price as what we transferred it in for.  And it’s included in the sale price up above, the $14.5 
million. 


 
Capital improvements we budgeted in 2018 to complete $16.1 million or work in the Prairie 
Highlands which got off to a slow start, so only estimating spending a $7.2 million for 2018.  
Budgeting to spend $13.5 million in 2019 for Prairie Highlands leaving about $4.8 million left to 
spend out of our TID escrow in 2020.  Debt payments show debt payments of $31 million in 2019 
which includes calling some notes and paying off early saving the TID $421,000 in interest.  2019 
budgeted to end at a positive $13.8 million fund balance across all TID #2 funds.  Even with a 
negative net income here we’re looking at ending at $13.8 million. 


 
This is the TID #2 debt.  Our highest debt was in 2017 we borrowed to purchase the Abbott land 
for $37.9 million.  Put money in escrow by July 19, 2017 to make improvements to Abbott land 
or Prairie Highlands Corporate Park for $25.6 million.  And refinanced to pay off some original 
short-term notes.  From 2018 until 2022 we are only paying off debt, no new borrowing.  We are 
calling any notes that are callable if we have enough fund balance to make the payments.  So 
currently we had projected the TID to close in 2023, but now we’re looking based on what our 
current projections are 2022. 


 
Our next TID District is TID #4 which is now Ava Manor.  TID 4 was a blight elimination for 
property located at 22nd Avenue and 91st Street.  Total project cost was $715,000 with the 
developer financed the project.  In 2018 the developer started a housing development called Ava 
Manor.  Now that improvements have been made to the property bigger tax increments will be 
generated.  These increments will be used to reimburse the developer for the project costs plus 
interest.  Closing dates of TID #4 is 2034 so the payment of increment minus costs will be paid 
through 2034.  As you can see the increment actually went down this year by a little over $500.  
Because of how the state did personal property tax aid $83 got attributed to TID 4 when they 
really don’t have personal property tax, but an incremental payment the net will be paid out to the 
developer on this project of a little over $3,000. 


 
TID #5 is Prairie Highlands.  It was created in 2017 and no property tax increment until 2020 so 
we budgeted zero.  We haven’t gotten anything this year or next year.  2018 is administrative cost 
and will be paid back once the increment is generated in 2020.  2019 mainly Prairie Highlands 
capital cost, also design of the roundabout 350, and Aurora’s development grant/grading payment 
is our capital cost on TID #5.  That will be issued to cover these costs in 2019 for a little over $20 
million with issuance cost of $105,000.  And we’ll generate a little bit more administrative cost 
for this TID.  And for 2019 we’ll be ending with a little bit negative balance until we generate -- 
we can’t use borrowed funds to pay administrative cost.  So once the increment comes in in 2020 
we’ll pay that back. 


 
TID #6 is Main Street Marketplace.  It was created in 2018.  Property tax increment will start in 
2021.  We’re borrowing GO debt for phase one public improvements.  All the rest of the public 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
8 


improvements will be developer revenue bond funded.  The developer has accrued some expenses 
to acquire some land right away and some engineering plans for around $400,000 in 2018.  We 
will reimburse the developer in 2018 ending the year with a negative 406 in this fund.  In 2019 
when we borrow for TID 5 we will borrow also for this TID, and that will cover the cost that the 
developer has incurred so far and the remaining amount we are obligating ourself to pay for this 
TID.  Again, we have some administrative costs here that will be reimbursed once we start 
generating an increment. 


 
And our final TID is TID #7, Stateline 94.  This was created in 2018.  Property tax increment will 
start in 2021.  All the public improvements will be developer revenue bond funded.  
Administrative costs will be reimbursed when the increments are generated.  So we’re ending the 
year at $20 million negative which will be reimbursed in the future.  So all these small negative 
amounts we borrowed from our general government operating reserves at the end of the year and 
be paid back. 


 
Special revenue fund, the federal forfeited special revenue fund has been closed in 2018.  So you 
can see zeroes there, and this is the last you’ll see of this fund.  The only one left now is police.  
The revenues are mainly donations, and expenditures are mostly for the care of the police dog.  
So at the end of the year we’ll have a fund balance around $17,000 based on their projected 
donations and expenditures with the police dog.  So that’s my presentation.  Any questions or 
comments? 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


If there’s no questions we will open it up to citizens’ comments. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, there were no signups for the public hearing this evening. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Anyone wishing to speak on the public hearing for the budget this evening?  Hearing none I’ll 
close citizens’ comments and move on to Item 2 closing of the budget hearing with item 3 being 
the Board of Trustee comments. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Again, Kathy, I give you credit for putting together a budget that many won’t understand, it’s 
complicated.  But you do a great job at it.  And, believe me, we appreciate it.  And I think more 
than us is the residents of Pleasant Prairie who realize the services we give for what we charge.  
And I give the department heads and you all the credit.  We just put the stamp of approval on it, 
and that’s easy to do when you make a presentation like this. 


 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
9 


Kris Keckler: 
 


And I think it’s appropriate to note that it’s kind of an early stage culmination of past efforts 
where sometimes the general population thinks it’s inherently bad to borrow money when, in fact, 
there’s a quality examples in here where the Village took its time and understood projects and had 
opportunities to not only take some additional debt on but then repurpose that and resell some of 
that land back in the larger projects that we’re working on.  So I think it’s a really good example 
that you guys manage all around. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I just want to say going through the budget staff did a good job of preparing a strategic job 
document that’s going to guide the Village through some what’s going to be difficult times in the 
next few years here where we’re dealing with a range of issues between the closure of the power 
plant, the growth that the Village is undergoing before we receive any money from the TID #2.  
And I’m not sure to what extent we’ll be able to prevail very early on the dark store problem, and 
we’ll be under pressure from that as well. 


 
And I think that along with what Trustee Keckler said I think we’ve been prudent with the 
issuance of debt.  That debt issuance has been tied to economic development that hasn’t been 
showing up on the general fund taxpayer at all.  It’s been paid for by the developer or people 
buying property.  And the more we can keep that in balance and pursue as early retirement as 
possible I think it’s going to help us deal with some of the major expenditure issues we have 
facing us.  I think probably the big ones when you look through the budget is going to be public 
safety for additional personnel in those departments. 


 
And I really believe that taking that strategic plan and coupling up with the staffing studies that 
we’ve funded in the budget is really going to give us a way to track through and deal with the 
impact of the growth that’s taking place in the community without having it be a substantial 
burden on the taxpayers which is also a real challenge. 


 
I’d also like to recommend that we’ve been able to do a lot with debt in the last few years because 
the cost of debt has not been bad.  But that’s changing.  I think as the federal deficit increases and 
you can see that right now it’s putting more pressure on the markets to increase the cost of debt.  
And under the State of Wisconsin’s creative effort to limit municipal spending on everything but 
debt it encourages everybody to do more debt.   


 
And the things that were more kitchen table and made more sense that almost every community 
used for many years before this problem was to once the debt was paid that debt service money 
was then put into a capital fund so you didn’t have to borrow more money.  You could use that 
capital fund to secure more capital improvements.  Now you can’t do that.  And Lord knows that 
the bond salesmen need more money.  We’ve got to make sure that their industry is well 
protected, and every community is facing this.  And I think that doesn’t serve the taxpayers well.  
And the only people that are clutching on this is the people who are collecting interest.  I think 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
10 


that’s something that could be done that would -- as I say it’s common sense kitchen table 
mathematics that a lot of people think happens, but it doesn’t happen because you really can’t 
save for anything anymore because you have to lower the levy and then go back and issue more 
debt.  And also with cleaning up how the frozen levy process works because in a growing 
economy it makes no sense.  I think not that you want to raise taxes but you want to be smart 
about how you impact when those taxes are collected for equity for everybody. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


I just want to say thank you, Kathy, also and all the department heads, Nathan and Tom and 
especially the employees because this is what makes the budget work.  These folks toe the line, 
do their job, provide the services.  Without their efforts and hard work this would all be 
meaningless basically.  I think the taxpayers are very fortunate to have the quality of the people 
working for the Village working for them, and that’s what makes the Village work great. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Two of the many things that you went over on a very thorough budget, two of the things that 
stand out for me are that over half of our general government operating expenses are for public 
safety.  I don’t think there’s any municipality that provides better service than what we do for 
public safety.  And with all of the market pressures on taxes and regulations you’re still able to 
find a way to call the bonds that are callable, pay the off early and save us you said $400,000 and 
some. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


$400,000, yeah. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


$401,000 and some in interest payments that we don’t have to pay.  So thank you for that.  That’s  
something everybody in the Village will appreciate. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


The only thing I’ll add is that this was a fun opportunity to work with the department heads and 
work with Kathy.  I think she did an excellent job in preparing and assisting the budget moving 
forward.  I’m grateful for all of the comments and the recognition that our Village Board have 
given tonight and the support that you guys have shown.  We look forward to the future 
especially with TID 2, and looking for ways like you had mentioned, Mike, of how do we address 
that service.  How do we address some of the pressures that are upon our community both from a 
legislative standpoint but also just for us strategically how do we move forward. 


 
And I think that we did a couple of things this year to really address those things.  We tried to 
make sure that the additional revenues we’re receiving, tax levy, that we directed those 
strategically towards capital improvement projects to kind of buffer the storm that we’ll see when 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
11 


we see the impact of intergovernmental revenues decrease with We Energies and so forth.  So 
anyways I applaud all of our staff and their efforts.  This was a team effort.  We didn’t get 
everything we wanted, but everybody got a little bit.  So we’ll just continue to plug away. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


One last comment not necessarily on the budget.  This Village was blessed with Mike in charge 
for 32 years and we excelled.  And Mike retired and now we have Nathan.  And in the short time 
Nathan has been here he’s hit the ground running.  And every impressive, very impressive 
administrator.  So we had Brett Favre and now we’ve got Aaron Rodgers. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Thank you.  I’ll pay you later, Mike. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


If there are no further comments or questions, Item 4 Resolution 18-46 is in order. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Move approval of Resolution 18-46. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adoption of Resolution 18-46.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
KECKLER MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-46 RELATING TO THE ADOPTION 
OF THE 2019 BUDGET AND PROPERTY TAX LEVY INCLUDING CAPITAL, DEBT SERVCE 
AND OTHER FUNDS OF THE VILLAGE BUDGET; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
12 


5. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, we do have one signup this evening, Jim Chapman. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We just ask you give us your name and address for the record. 
 
Jim Chapman: 
 


Good evening, I’m Jim Chapman.  I live at 8110 100th Avenue.  And recently there’s been a lot 
of bad publicity around the elections that we had in Pleasant Prairie, a lot of misinformation that 
was out there.  And I would like and hopefully like the Village to address that and clarify those 
things.  As part of that I know that St. Anne’s which is the polling place in question the Pastor 
there, Father Bob Weighner, sent a letter to the Village and asked it to be submitted I think into 
the minutes so that at least that information and both sides of the issues are clear and everybody 
can see what both sides of the issue are. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none I’ll close 
citizens’ comments. 


 
6. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


I have nothing this evening. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 B. Consider and approve the Professional Service Agreement with RA Smith, Inc. for 


$87,000 relating to STH 50 Corridor Utility Relocations and Extensions. 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, the Wisconsin Department of Transportation is 
completing their plans for the State Highway 50 reconstruction project.  Per standard procedures, 
entities with utilities in the DOT right of way must review the plans and make utility adjustments 
to accommodate the roadway project.  Work plans for utility adjustments are required to be 
submitted to the DOT by late January in 2019.  


 
The engineering department has reviewed the plans and identified necessary sanitary sewer and 
water main adjustments along State Highway 50 roadway construction corridor.  We’re 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
13 


coordinating with RA Smith National who is involved in the State Highway 50 project to prepare 
detailed plans for the necessary sewer and water work. 


 
The design work that we’re looking at will include water main, hydrant, laterals and valve 
conflicts and necessary adjustments, addressing sanitary sewer conflicts and adjustments, 
designing water main extensions and relays within the roadway construction limits.  Some of the 
project that we’re looking at is water main extension along Highway H north of Highway 50 
within the DOT work construction limits, looking at relaying some water main along Highway H 
across Highway 50 and just a little bit south of Highway 50, providing water main across State 
Highway 50 by 91st Street to loop the system, and we’re also looking at identifying water main 
volt replacement areas. 


 
Upon design the utility adjustments will be provided to and coordinated with the DOT.  It will 
then be determined what items will be incorporated into the DOT project, what items will be 
completed by the Village outside the DOT project.  The DOT is planning on letting this project 
right now the plan is in February 2020.  The project is divided into two phases.  Upon on the map 
you’ll see kind of the corridor limits.  The reconstruction project goes close by I-94 by 117th 
Avenue and extends east all the way to 43rd Avenue in the City. 


 
The red area on the map is kind of phase one, that is being let in February 2020.  Phase two is the 
blue area which we let later that summer in 2020.  This design contract with RA Smith is looking 
at the whole corridor and getting plans in place for any kind of utility adjustments and extensions 
that we’ll need. 


 
Funding for the compensable utilities which is utility adjustments and coordination that is 
required by the DOT due to their road design will be 100 percent funded by the state.  This is due 
to in exchange for transfer of State Highway 50 from Highway 31 to 32 to be a local road 
between Kenosha and the Village.  The cost for any kind of noncompensable utility work which 
is water main extensions and so forth like that will be borne by the sewer and water utilities.  
Staff recommends the Village Board approve the time and material contract with RA Smith in the 
amount of $87,500 to complete this work.  If you have any questions I’d be happy to answer 
them. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Matt, I have one.  Do we know is there going to be one lane shut down each way as the 
construction goes or no lanes? 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


The actual way they’re constructing it I don’t know if they have a total construction plan that 
route.  They will maintain traffic on those roads.  And I know they’ve had meetings in the past 
especially with emergency police and fire departments as to how that access is going to occur.  I 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
14 


don’t have that plan in front of me as far as the logistics of the construction.  But we can certainly 
provide you the information if you’d like it. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Matt, is the sanitary sewer force main between 118th and 104th going to be abandoned in place, 
the line that brought sewage from Bristol? 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Yes, along Highway 50 on the south side? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Yeah. 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Yeah, that’s going to be abandoned in place. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Matt, this $87,000 is reimbursable from the state for work that’s along Highway 50? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


The construction will be.  The design work will be the Village, and then we’ll hand it over, and 
whatever items are compensable, compensable items meaning like if the DOT project has a 
conflict with our water main and we have to adjust it one way or the other, higher or lower, that 
kind of stuff will be funded by the state during construction. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


And the new water lines and such along H that will be on our sewer -- 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Yeah, that will be us because it’s not really in conflict with the roadway, but we’ll want to get it 
out of the roadway construction area just so we don’t have to rip it up in the future. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I’d move approval of the $87,000 to RA Smith. 
 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
15 


Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH RA 
SMITH, INC. FOR $87,000 RELATING TO STH 50 CORRIDOR UTILITY RELOCATIONS 
AND EXTENSIONS; SECOND BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 C. Consider Ordinance #18-45 to Amend Chapter 214 of the Municipal Code relating 


to Dog Licensing Fee. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Mr. President and Village Board, as far as the budget process I had a decision packet to increase 
the dog license fee to bring in an additional $3,000.  Our original revenue in our base budget is 
around $7,000.  This increase is recommending a $5 increase for both spaded dogs and non-
spaded dogs and neutered dogs.  So we’re looking at going from $15 to $20 per year for not 
spaded, and then $10 to $15 per year for the spaded dogs.  So this will bring in an additional 
$3,000.  And each year the Humane Society increases our fee, and we haven’t increased our dog 
license in a number of years.  And also we’re charged based on the number of dogs captured by 
the vendor we use to pick up animals that are found roaming the Village.  I’m asking for approval 
of Ordinance #18-45 to increase our fees by five bucks. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


So moved. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
16 


 
Motion and a second.  Any further discussion.  Under the penalty if an owner fails to obtain a 
license $5?  Is that just added to the cost of the license when he has to get it? 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Yeah.  So if they don’t get it by March 31st then they’ll get a $5 additional fee when they come 
in.  If the dog’s like a puppy that’s five months or younger. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


And if they still refuse to get a license? 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


I don’t know.  I mean if the dog gets picked up they have to get a license and they have to pay the 
five bucks. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Before the dog is released? 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Yeah. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  So carries. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-45 TO AMEND CHAPTER 214 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO DOG LICENSING FEE; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
17 


 D. Consider Resolution #18-45 authorizing the placing of utilities and special charges 
on the tax roll. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Mr. President and Village Board, I’m asking for authorization to stick $333,500.20 onto the tax 
roll.  This is made up of delinquent invoices of a little over $11,000, delinquent Pleasant Prairie 
utilities of $288,000 and delinquent Kenosha Water Utility bill for Village residents of a little 
over $12,000.  Then we have special assessments of a little over $21,000 for a total of 
$333,500.20 to be placed on the tax roll. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Move approval of 18-45. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Kathy, we collect most of those by the end of the year, right, for the most part?  People take those 
and put them on their  -- at tax time they use it as a deduction because it’s attached to the special 
assessment and everything else? 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


I believe they do.  I mean some people do this year after year after year and they just pay on their 
tax bill.  A number of people pay when we first send the notices out to them telling them that it’s 
going to be on the tax bill because we add a ten percent penalty on to roll it to the tax roll.  The 
majority of these are collected during the tax roll or the tax collection process. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We had a motion and a second.  No further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
18 


John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  So carries. 
 
KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-45 AUTHORIZING THE 
PLACING OF UTILITIES AND SPECIAL CHARGES ON THE TAX ROLL; 
SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 
 E. Consider and approve the Water Service Agreement between the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie and Village of Bristol. 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, what I think I’ll do with this topic is I’m going to 
provide you with a brief overview of the agreement in context with other agreements, give you a 
couple highlights of the agreement.  And in the end we are recommending a conditioned approval 
of this agreement so we’ll talk a little bit about those conditions as well. 


 
This is an agreement between Pleasant Prairie and the Village of Bristol wherein Bristol would 
purchase and the Village would sell municipal water to accommodate development of 
approximately 535 acres of land identified as Bristol Utility District #5.  And that’s kind of 
shown on the map up above.  The 535 acres is just west of call it Prairie Highlands Corporate 
Park along Highway Q and also Highway U over there.  My understanding is Bristol is actually 
planning on developing the first section which call it the northwest corner of Highway Q and U 
where they’re looking at having their first development. 


 
The agreement is an amendment to the 1997 cooperative agreement between Bristol and Pleasant 
Prairie which was entered into to settle boundary and annexation litigation at that time.  The 1997 
cooperative agreement contained potential growth areas for Pleasant Prairie and service areas 
within Bristol.  The 535 acres that was just mentioned is equivalent to the town service area 
boundary in the 1997 agreement.  So this topic was discussed in the 1997 agreement, but it was 
for sanitary sewer and not water. 


 
Provisions to provide sanitary sewer service by Pleasant Prairie to Bristol within the town service 
area boundary were addressed in the 1997 cooperative agreement.  There was no agreed upon 
provisions for municipal water to service in the 1997 agreement.  However, the agreement 
allowed for possible provisions for permanent water service by Pleasant Prairie by future 
amendment. 


 
In 2004 Bristol completed a water system feasibility study to evaluate water service to their 
Utility District Number 5.  The study evaluated water sources from new wells, connection of 
water purchase from the City of Kenosha and connection and water purchase from Pleasant 
Prairie.  In 2016 Bristol approached Pleasant Prairie regarding the ability and feasibility of 
Pleasant Prairie servicing Bristol with municipal water.  The Village subsequently evaluated our 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
19 


water system and incorporated the Bristol service demand in our overall master water planning 
and determined that Pleasant Prairie can provide Bristol service demand and fire flow demand at 
the point of delivery. 


 
With the ability to service Bristol an agreement was drafted to provide the terms and conditions 
of Pleasant Prairie’s water service and Bristol’s water purchase from Pleasant Prairie.  That 
agreement is before us tonight.  Highlights of the agreement, the agreement is for the service area, 
again, for the 535 acres.  Bristol will purchase water exclusively from Pleasant Prairie for this 535 
acres and will not use alternate water supply sources. 


 
The agreement determines the point of delivery which is shown on the map if you can see the 
next slide.  The point of delivery is kind of within the middle of the Prairie Highlands Corporate 
Park just north of call it the waterway that kind of splits the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park in 
half.  And that’s where we’ll be providing the water to Bristol as well as sanitary sewer service 
for them.  The Village is committing to providing a water supply rate up to 500 gallons per 
minute with a fire flow demand of 3,500 gallons per minute for three hours at the point of 
delivery. 


 
Bristol is responsible for the design, permitting and construction and ownership and operation of 
the water system within their jurisdiction located after the master meter facility.  It will have both 
a water master meter and sanitary sewer master meter at that kind of right before the connection 
point with Bristol.  Pleasant Prairie along with Kenosha Water Utility will perform system level 
reviews of all proposed water main extensions within Bristol.  This agreement provides that the 
Village can review each and every planned extension that they have, and with our agreement with 
the City of Kenosha the City gets to review any extensions because ultimately they’re providing 
the water. 


 
Water rates, Bristol will be a wholesale customer of Pleasant Prairie, and customers of Bristol are 
retail customers of Bristol Water Utility.  Water rates will be established by the Public Service 
Commission.  A water rate study is being completed so the Public Service Commission can 
establish the initial rates.  Since that has not been completed at this time, we haven’t got rates 
from the Public Service Commission, until such time that a cost of service basis for water rates 
are established by the Public Service Commission, the initialed scheduled water rates under this 
agreement are established at the current rates authorized by the Public Service Commission for 
sale of wholesale water from the Kenosha Water Utility to Bristol Water Utility.  That being said 
we are expecting to have the rates established by the PSC prior to Bristol actually taking water.  
So they won’t be taking water for I’m guessing a year at least. 


 
Provisions are set forth for potential future requests from Bristol for increase in water supply rates 
and increased service areas.  So those provisions are in the agreement, and they kind outline a 
series of steps and procedures for such a request.  And, finally, the last point we would like to 
make really deals with the conditions of approval which is with respect to the 68 acre parcel that 
the Village owns within the Village of Bristol.  This parcel was purchased as part of the Abbott 
land purchase for the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park.  The Village is looking at selling this 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
20 


parcel.  This parcel is within the Bristol’s jurisdiction for zoning, water and sewer service and site 
planning and stormwater management.  The water service agreement specifically addresses the 68 
acre parcel and provides a condition of approval in with this agreement that this agreement will 
not become effective unless certain conditions are met.   


 
It is recommended the Village Board approve this agreement with conditions of approval subject 
to Section 21 of the agreement.  And I will kind of go over that section specifically.  This is a 
condition of approval that deals with the 68 acres of land, and I’ll just read you this section.  Each 
party is aware that a parcel or parcels of land of approximately 68 acres located in Bristol and 
more particularly shown on Exhibit D which is above and incorporated herein is presently owned 
by the Village.  Each party is aware that the land is under contract to a prospective purchaser.  
The parties agree that part of the consideration for this agreement is that water service will be 
available to the land.  Bristol parties agree in covenant that they will provide water and sewer 
service to the land subject to the usual and customary hookup fees and objective requirements. 


 
All parties agree that this agreement will not become effective and the parties shall have no 
obligation hereunder until such conditions subsequent have been met.  These are the conditions 
that have to be done.  Bristol has first to approve any required change to Bristol’s master land use 
plan to designate the land to allow use as a business park.  Number two, approve the rezoning of 
the land to a business park.  And, three, approve of a site plan which includes stormwater plan 
and landscape plan for the land and other approval to permit the land to be used for warehousing 
and buildings on the land totaling not less than 1.1 million square feet in area. 


 
The adoption of a resolution by Bristol approving items one, two and three that were just 
mentioned above shall be deemed to be proof of satisfaction or waiver of this condition 
subsequent.  With that I will answer any questions that you may have.  Again, we are 
recommending that this be approved, but it be approved conditioned on Bristol satisfying these 
conditions for the 68 acres, parcels that are above. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


The 538 acres that’s being identified as a service area is that subject to expansion at some point? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


It could always be expanded.  Right now that is the area that’s kind of limited because it’s a sewer 
service area, but those can be amended as time goes by.  There are certain things that would have 
to be met.  One is that if they ask for an expansion there are a series of steps whether the Village 
has capacity to service it.  We always have the right to object to it if we can’t service additional 
capacity.  Or the way this agreement is made up is if there is a cost to the Village for upgrading 
our system that either we pay for that cost and put it in the rates, or we say, no, we don’t want to 
borrow for those costs, you’ll have to pay for those costs up front to upgrade the system.  So 
there’s always the potential for expansion.  The sewer agreement from 1997 has established some 
limitations on sanitary sewer, so between the two, engineering could probably make a lot of stuff 
work, but they would have to probably do some upgrades on our system to make that work. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
21 


Michael Serpe: 
 


At their expense. 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Yes. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


One thing to add to that also that would need to be taken into consideration, and this will be on 
Bristol, would be to make sure that their water diversion permits, they’re able or capable of 
diverting more water into the basin.  The only thing that I would add or note is that the reason for 
our ability to sell the Bristol 68 at the price tag that we’ve negotiated was really conditional upon 
water and sewer being available.  And that really did benefit us in making that site more 
marketable.  So one thing that we wanted to do was make sure that we protected that property, 
that it was capable of being developable.  And Bristol has come to the table to satisfy those 
concerns.  And so they’re in the process.  I believe that they’ll be bringing this agreement forward 
to their Board in the first meting in December and likewise also be evaluating their land use plan 
and making those modifications as requested. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I’d move approval of the agreement subject to a successful meeting with Bristol on the rates and 
everything that’s associated with what Matt was saying. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I second. 
 


John Steinbrink: 
 


There’s a motion and a second.  Further discussion? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


And just to clarify that the condition that we’re asking specifically the land use and the zoning 
being addressed. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


The items under paragraph 21? 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
22 


Nathan Thiel: 
 


Twenty one, correct. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


No further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE WATER SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND VILLAGE OF BRISTOL; SECONDED BY 
POLLOCOFF; MOITION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 F. Consider the request of Fountain Ridge LLC to release Draw No. 10 of the Letter of 


Credit for the Fountain Ridge development. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this evening I bring before you the draw request 
number 10 from the letter of credit for the Fountain Ridge Subdivision generally located in the 
corner of Bain Station Road and County Trunk Highway H.  The public improvements have been 
in the ground over a year and the warranty period has expired on them.  So the net reimbursement 
of the $89,240.23 is just that ten percent retainage that we held on those public improvements.  
The balance of the security we’ll be holding on that letter of credit $32,051.76 just to balance up 
some minor sidewalk and landscape and concrete approaches that yet has to be done on some of 
the buildings that are being constructed as we speak.  So I do recommend a net reimbursement of 
the $89,240.23 to the Fountain Ridge, LLC.  I can answer any questions you may have. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Move approval. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 
 


 
23 


 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
KECKLER MOVED TO APPROVE THE REQUEST OF FOUNTAIN RIDGE LLC TO 
RELEASE DRAW NO. 10 OF THE LETTER OF CREDIT FOR THE FOUNTAIN RIDGE 
DEVELOPMENT; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 G. Consider a disallowance of claim involving Ms. Frost sustaining bodily injuries and 


damages as a result of an auto accident on January 29, 2017. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


John, after reading the letter from our insurance I move to deny the claim. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  So carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE DISALLOWANCE OF CLAIM INVOLVING MS. FROST 
SUSTAINING BODILY INJURIES AND DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF AN AUTO ACCIDENT 
ON JANUARY 29, 2017; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
November 19, 2018 
 


 
24 


8. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I just want to say it was nice seeing that we were able to have a representative from our North 
Carolina branch office here with us tonight.  This proves we do things the same way we used to 
do them. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


And we promised Tom Shircel in enough time to go watch the LA Rams. 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move to adjourn. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:07 P.M. 
 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 
December 3, 2018 


6:00 p.m. 
 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, December 3, 2018.  
Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, 
Mike Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator, 
Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; 
Dave Smetana, Chief of Police; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; 
John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources Director; Craig Anderson, 
Recreation Director and Jane C. Snell, Village Clerk. One citizen attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING - OCTOBER 1, 2018; MINUTES OF 


REGULAR MEETINGS - OCTOBER 1, 2018, OCTOBER 15, 2018, NOVEMBER 5, 2018 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Move approval. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE BOARD 
SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON OCTOBER 1, 2018 AND REGULAR MEETINGS 
HELD ON OCOTBER 1, 2018, OCTOBER 15, 2018 AND NOVEMBER 5, 2018 AS 
PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN FORM; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
2 


 
5. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, we had one signup this evening, Ken Harju. 
 
Ken Harju: 
 


Hello, everybody.  My name is Ken Harju actually like fine, how are you.  I live in Pleasant 
Prairie. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Just give us your name and address for the record. 
 
Ken Harju: 
 


9249 64th Court, Unit 162, Pleasant Prairie. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you. 
 
Ken Harju: 
 


I’m a little nervous tonight, but I live in Pleasant Prairie.  We bought about three years ago.  And 
at the time as you probably all know it’s about 60 percent developed.  And we got wind that Bear 
Development has bought a lot of the other property there, and they’re planning a bunch of -- a 
development, and I have a quick [inaudible] developed as we bought our condo.  And they were 
pretty well -- it was zoned for other condos and single family homes.  Well, Bear Development 
now owns the property, and they’re proposing 140 apartments as well as 38 single family homes.   


 
And if you look at your map those are the yellow buildings.  The bottom part of your map the 
light gray buildings are established buildings, they’re already there.  The top of your map is a 
circle.  It’s four 20-unit apartment buildings.  If you keep going around the circle there’s another 
three yellow buildings.  That’s another 20 apartment buildings.  I live in a eight unit.  On that map 
a 20-unit building is smaller than my eight unit building.  So this might be a little deceptive.  So 
I’m just saying I’m sure this is the place for this development.  It’s 178 more units, there’s 150 
there now.  That’s 328 all supported by one road, Creekside Circle.   


 
Now, given the fact that every town needs to develop, I understand that, and if these units were 
going to be higher end, hey, you know we all own there.  But this 6th of December Bear 
Development has incorporated Creekside Commons, LLC, and is going before the Wisconsin 
Housing Authority.  I’m reading out a legal notice from the Kenosha News of 11-16.  And it 
states that they’re going to go for low and moderate housing and asking for a $25 million grant 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
3 


towards this project.  Every city needs mixed housing, I understand that.  But I’m not sure this is 
the place for low and moderate housing.  And I just come to the Board to point this out to you.  
So I appreciate your time. 


 
We moved to the area from Gurnee three years ago.  We love it here.  My son is a plant manager 
at Rehrig Pacific that makes all the garbage containers that we use.  My daughter who lives in 
Pleasant Prairie, just bought a house in Village Green, my daughter is now a 9-1-1 dispatcher for 
Kenosha County.  So this is our home now, and I just don’t know that this is the right 
development for this particular area.  I thank you for your time. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you.  That was it?  Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none 
I’ll close citizens’ comments. 


 
6. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
 A. Community Collaboration 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Thank you, Mr. President and Board members.  I do have one item tonight.  In your packet 
tonight there’s a four page item called Creating Community Collaborative Involvement.  And I 
just wanted to give an introduction to this.  This is sort of an introductory piece.  And it’s an 
engagement that the Village administration is really excited about.  So wanted to sort of present 
this to you tonight.  This is a gentleman who runs this company called Community Collaboration.  
And he was at the League of Wisconsin Municipality’s meeting in Wisconsin Dells back in 
October.  And Nathan, our administrator, had the opportunity to meet him and go to his session at 
the conference. 


 
And what this gentleman does is he uses sort of a new way of engaging the community to get 
involved in certain projects.  So Nathan, like I said, talked with this gentleman, and we’ve talked 
with him over the phone since.  And we’re interested in engaging this gentleman and entering 
into a contract with him which you’ll see on a later Board meeting date to help us with the 
Village Green Center which will occur around here and across the street as you know which has 
been on sort of the back burner for the past 20 or 30 years to develop that sort of downtown for 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 


 
So this gentleman would help us and help the community obviously in getting this process 
underway once again.  And he uses this unique process where he really digs down deep sort of 
from the ground up community engagement process to get the community involved, its citizens, 
its stakeholders and so and so forth.  So instead of earlier processes and past processes that the 
Village has used whereby typically the Village or a consultant will come in with a plan, we’ll 
invite the community, people will show up obviously and show them the plan, and people give 
their input.  The consultant goes back, makes a few tweaks and says, okay, here’s the plan.  So 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
4 


some people might perceive that has writing on the wall already, and it’s just a basic process to 
go through just to check a box.  Yes, we did some community engagement. 


 
Well, this gentleman, this Todd Streeter is his name who runs this company, he gets the 
community engaged, like I said, from the ground up.  So he’ll have an initial kickoff meeting.  He 
invites anyone who wants to come to the meeting, everyone is invited.  And what that does is it 
gets the community, the citizens, involved from the very beginning.  And then he lets the citizens 
run with it.  In other words they’re going to be doing the planning.  The citizens would run the 
meetings, the staff takes a step back and is not really involved at all.  Mr. Streeter would send out 
invitations, he’d make public notices, put things in the media regarding these meetings.   


 
So it’s really a grass roots involvement to get the community involved.  And what that does is by 
getting the community involved they take ownership of it, and they become really interested in 
the process.  They run with it.  The process takes about six to eight months.  They would meet 
like every two weeks, these focus groups.  So once you get this kickoff meeting then you divide it 
down to focus groups who would sort of concentrate on certain aspects of the plan like 
transportation, parks and so on and so forth.  So you’d have these certain focus groups who would 
then delve into and look into their specific project area.  And at the end they’d bring all this 
together. 


 
So Nathan and I really excited about it as well as Jean Werbie-Harris, and we think this guy could 
do some great wonders and get this downtown going again by getting this grass roots community 
involvement.  So I just wanted to explain the process to you.  Like I said you’d probably have 
hopefully a contract with this gentleman coming up in probably the next meeting to engage this 
Todd Streeter to help us along with this Village Green Center.  If there’s any questions I’ll be 
happy to answer them. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Do you know what he charges for his work? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Yeah, he mentioned, we asked them that the other day, he said anywhere from about $18,000 to 
$22,000. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


What kind of time line? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


He said anywhere between six to eight months from kickoff to completion.  And he said you’d 
find out really how much talent.  We know there’s some very smart people in the community.  
You really find out through this process how much talent there is in the community.  They’re 
willing to take this process, run with it.  They can perhaps create maps and create charts so they 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
5 


really take a hands on approach and really get involved in this process.  So it really becomes not 
only the community’s plan but their plan as well.  That’s all I have. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


There’s no guidance from staff? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Don’t get me wrong there will be some guidance undoubtedly.  But the idea is to really have the 
citizens and the focus groups take it on themselves.  That’s really the main impetus to the whole 
project.  But, Mr. President, there would be obviously some guidance, yes.  That’s all I have. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Any other questions for Tom?  Thank you, Tom. 
 
7. OLD BUSINESS - TABLED ITEM 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


I need a motion to remove it from the table. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


So moved. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second to remove from the table.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO HEAR TABLED ITEM CONSIDER AND ACCEPT THE SUBURBAN 
MUTUAL ASSISTANCE REPONSE TEAM AGREEMENT; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
6 


 
 A. Consider and accept the Suburban Mutual Assistance Response Teams Agreement. 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 


Good evening, Mr. President, and members of the Board.  The item before you tonight is the 
Suburban Mutual Aid Response Team Memo of Understanding.  This is a project that’s been 
almost two years in the works.  The area of Kenosha County was approached by the governing 
board of SMART over two years ago, just about two years ago and with their desire for Kenosha 
County law enforcement agencies to join their organization. 


 
The organization of SMART consists now of agencies from Kenosha County, Racine County, 
Walworth County, Milwaukee County, Jefferson County and Waukesha County.  The idea behind 
those agencies joining is that it provides immediate law enforcement resources and equipment to 
the scene of any law enforcement emergency.  It provides the automatic and systematic response 
of those resources.  It provides an MOU which you have in front of you tonight for your 
consideration.  So the legal and other responsibilities are outlined and codified.  And it provides 
broad coverage for those law enforcement as well as fostering a good law enforcement 
cooperative spirit between the agencies. 


 
The idea behind this is that each agency that joins agrees in spirit when there is a SMART call up, 
and that is designated by the agency, by the belonging agency so that the agency that belongs to 
SMART and then the other agencies that are contributing.  So there are 70 other -- you could 
have a possibility of having 70 officers from those agencies onsite.  There’s 70 different law 
enforcement agencies involved in this process.  That would be able to help you during a natural 
disaster, transportation accidents, large fires, things of that nature.  It could also help you during 
some pre-planned events as long as those events are approved by the Board for that type of 
response. 


 
The typical response goes out like this, the West Allis Police Department their communication 
section handles the communication.  Our law enforcement agency would receive a teletype 
requesting one of our officers and a [inaudible] type of equipment to respond to a site.  We would 
then designate which officer and which equipment they’re taking with them.  They would 
respond to that site along with numerous other agencies.   


 
There’s a number of levels.  Now, to give you an example a level one response for us, and it’s a 
little tough to see up there, but a level one response from us would get us our area agencies.  So 
we could get up to five departments here very quickly to help us out.  So that could be for a crime 
that could be for a natural disaster, which could be for any type of response we’re looking for.  If 
we decide to go to a level two, level three, you see the number of those squads increases by five 
for each of those levels of response.  So when it’s all said and done if you went through all those 
levels of response you could have as many as 70 officers here willing to help and able to help for 
any type of situation. Some of the larger events that this has been used on is the Sikh Temple 
shooting in Oak Creek.  Their agencies in Milwaukee County have been in the forefront of 
organizing this.  So they would place that call out, those officers would respond and be able to 
stay onsite for a certain amount of time.  







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
7 


 
The idea behind SMART, the MOU you have in front of you tonight, has been vetted by the 
Village’s legal counsel and Don Mayew.  Don had some questions about it, that’s why we paused 
at the last Village Board meeting, had it brought back so the insurance liability carriers could 
actually take a look at it as well.  They’ve approved it.  It’s got broad support.  The agreement 
itself that’s in front of you was drafted by Eric Larson and Remzy Bitar who are attorneys who 
represent the League of Municipalities.  So they’ve got that broad view as well as what’s going to 
affect their member agencies.  And I can answer any questions for you. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I have one.  Chief, if we have a call up and another agency responds and one of their officers 
becomes disabled as a result of the action with our Village, who’s responsible for that disability? 


 
Chief Smetana: 
 


That could be on our agency.  So there’s a -- the agreement is covered by mutual aid as 
mentioned in state law.  With that you’ll see in the agreement that the chief law enforcement in 
each of the jurisdictions has the ability to waive certain costs.  With that type of cost it would be 
the Village Board deciding whether to waive or deciding whether to go after the agency, the 
requesting agency for those costs. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


I have a question regarding Section 9, the termination.  Obviously this is expected that everybody 
will participate and be able to support each other.  But I’d imagine that in rare circumstances 
there may be times when any one entity’s department is exhausted as the call may come out and 
unfortunately not being able to support them.  And I know that there’s variability with that card.  
In the section where it talks about the chiefs and sheriffs may adopt procedures for terminating 
agencies, this is kind of a wait and see if that arises and what that looks like? 


 
Chief Smetana: 
 


There’s another section in this that if the agency being requested to help has no resources to send 
we all understand that.  So while it’s an optional response, the overwhelming push behind it is 
that you will send at least one officer to respond to that. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Sure, but at least with the understanding that there unfortunately may be a circumstance where 
everybody is tied up. 


 
Chief Smetana: 
 


Correct, right. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
8 


Kris Keckler: 
 


Okay, thank you. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Chief, over the past several years are there some incidences here where we could have used this?  
And if we didn’t have this how would we respond? 


 
Chief Smetana: 
 


We are fortunate enough to have several large agencies right at our borders.  The incident that 
comes to mind is probably about a month ago with a shooting situation we had where we needed 
a vast amount of help.  So we had Kenosha PD and Kenosha Sheriffs Department who were 
willing to help us out with some resources until we could get that situation contained.  We 
handled the complete investigation of it.  We needed those resources to set up a perimeter on 
some locations to make sure nobody was in and out, some traffic control which is really what this 
would be as well.   


 
So you’d assign those resources that are coming in to areas that you can’t necessarily man by a 
barricade, you need an officer at that location.  So you would assign those resources coming in.  
We take a responsibility on with this when we agree with this that we won’t man staging.  So 
we’ll have one of the supervisors involved and responsible for the staging of incoming resources.  
So we’ll know exactly where to put them, exactly what they’re going to be doing.  If we have to 
we’ll supplant them with one of our personnel as well so we’ve always got that contact between 
us. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


So if this had been in place for that incident or something similar how would it have gone? 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 


I can think of some natural disasters we’ve had down here as well where our resources have been 
tasked.  It was before my time but when the tornado came through, whether it’s flooding, whether 
it’s those types of natural disaster incidents.  I can think if you do have some sort of a -- in the 
political seasons where you’ve got a large group, say you’ve got a presidential visit, you’ve got 
something else you can get that permission from the Board to also utilize it for that.  What they 
try to stay from is you’ve got a Fourth of July parade, you’re not going to be using this for that.  
So it’s really a last ditch effort where the resources of the requesting agency have been tapped. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Any other questions for the Chief? 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
9 


Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I move approval of the SMART agreement. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second of the agreement.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries.  Thank you, Chief. 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 


Thank you. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO ACCEPT AND APPROVED THE SUBURBAN MUTUAL 
ASSISTANCE RESPONSE TEAM AGREEMENT; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider Award of Contract to Purchase a Rescue/Pumper Fire Engine. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, for your consideration this evening is we put an RFP 
out for the purchase of a rescue/pumper, fire apparatus that the budget for that was approved.  We 
put the request for proposal out to three organizations, Pierce Manufacturing, E1 and Ferrara.  
Slide please.  Bid results were as follows.  Pierce came at $776,699, E1 with $864,696, and 
Ferrara did not bid at all.  So we’re looking to recommend Pierce Manufacturing for the above-
mentioned price of $776,699 for the rescue/pumper.  I can answer any questions that you’d like. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Questions for the Chief? 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
10 


Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Chief, the 5613 now as the vehicle comes out of service? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Yes, that’s the 1999 Pierce Zero.  The other consideration, and we’ll talk about it shortly, the 
1990 you have basically the tank needs to be replaced to which we’ve gotten quotes is upwards of 
$30,000.  So we don’t feel it makes the best financial sense to replace that tank.  We also feel that 
with the engine and the pump of some of the monies that we have spent on it at the beginning of 
the year that engine would make a good surplus sale and still be useful if someone would decide 
to use it for a pump. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


This is our reserve engine? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


I’m sorry? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Is 13 a reserve engine? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Yes. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


How do these bid prices fit with what you were anticipating? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Put it this one, the E1 was extremely higher than what we anticipated, and quite honestly we were 
a little disappointed with the E1 bid price.  If you recall the aerial platform is an E1.  So Pierce 
did not bid for the aerial.  They did bid for the rescue/pumper.  Pierce demonstrated significantly 
more detail in their bid documents.  They offered different options that we didn’t think of quite 
honestly that in some cases had cost reductions.  And so they were much more detailed than E1 
was.  And Ferrara, a fire manufacturer down out of Louisiana did not bid at all. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Chief if this is a reserve unit, if you had to make repairs to this particular unit, $30,000 for a tank, 
what’s the cost of a new pump? 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
11 


 
Chief Roepke: 
 


I’d hazard a guess as far as the -- are you talking about the 1990? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Yeah. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


The pump in the 13 from what I understand it works.  The fact that it’s a 1990 that’s really the 
concern. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Twenty four thousand miles on a diesel it’s really nothing. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


That’s the oldest of the engines is the 1990. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I know we’re going to take that ‘90 out of service.  That goes without saying.  The other item that 
was in the budget for our rescue department was an outgrowth of how the department needs to 
grow from a staffing standpoint.  We need two things, we need capital and we need staffing 
additions.  And part of that addition is doing parts of the growth of the Village.  That’s also part 
of the same labor problems that everybody else is having is we don’t have paid on call firefighters 
at the rate we used to [inaudible] and the same thing with part time. 


 
And in order to come up with a comprehensive solution to that problem the Board had funded a 
staffing study to be done by a professional consultant to help us come up with how many people 
do we need for what we [inaudible] now based on our growth path and how that’s occurring, what 
do we need to be able to handle for new growth coming forward, and do that all in light of levy 
limits and all that stuff that’s going on. 


 
I tend to think that we recommend that we re-shift the priorities here, get the staffing study 
underway, get that thing well done.  I think we all want a well done study that everybody has a 
piece of, get that staffing study done and have it take a look at everything.  I don’t know that it’s 
going to tell us don’t get a rescue/pumper.  I mean I’m not sure that’s going to be the direction of 
that.  But I do think that staffing study is going to give us some lead on when the next station 
opens up and what we’re going to need to put in that station.  So, again, I don’t want you to think 
I’m not supporting getting a rescue/pumper, I think we need to get that, but I think we need to 
resolve and get a handle on what we’re going to need for staffing. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
12 


Chief Roepke: 
 


We definitely need the study without a doubt. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


To me the personnel part of this is more important in a priority sense than the engine.  And I’d 
recommend removing it from the agenda for two reasons.  One is I’d like to be able to give the 
department an opportunity to sit down with another vendor or give Pierce the opportunity to -- not 
Pierce, but E1 the opportunity to come up and sharpen their pen.  We’ve only got one bonafide 
offer here.  And if we can get another offer I think that’s good for everybody, it gives us some 
time to get that done.  I don’t want to table it and having it still be out there.  I should give the 
departments some latitude in dealing again.  And I think the other thing we could do is we just 
outright deny.  The RP when I looked at the RP submitted it reserved that right for the Village 
Board to deny any and all proposals.  It could be a denial.  Dealing with this guys it could be 
cleaner than just removing it from the table and have that sit idle. 


 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Right, the idea is whatever is in the best interest of the Village. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


And I’d be inclined to support this.  I know this was mentioned as a backup, but this in no way 
puts the public safety at risk if we were to deny this. 


 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Correct. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Okay, just so it’s absolutely clear. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


So with that to the Board I’d like to make a motion to deny the bid that was presented as 
recommend by the Fire and Rescue Department for the rescue/pumper bid from Pierce 
Manufacturing.  And I want to have the budget for the Fire and Rescue Department to move 
forthwith to get that staffing study under way, get that done.  And as we start getting it done -- it’s 
going to be a delivery ramp up to get this thing done, we can put this thing out to bid again.  And 
I’d recommend you put it out to bid. 


 
Chief Roepke: 
 


They’re not going away.   







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
13 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I don’t have any issues with the truck at all, but I think the Board has concerns to have our hands 
around what the staffing requirement is going to be for the department. 
 


Michael Serpe: 
 


What you said makes sense, Mike. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


That was a motion, Mike? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


That was a motion. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries.  Thank you, Chief. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO DENY THE AWARD OF CONTRACT TO PURCHASE A 
RESCUE/PUMPER FIRE ENGINE; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 B. Consider Resolution #18-47 for the disposal of surplus vehicles. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


As we previously discussed a little bit regarding the 1990 Pierce Arrow, we’re looking to take 
that out of the fleet and put that into the surplus.  Right now we can probably get some decent 
money for it while it’s in somewhat good condition.  So we’re also looking to get rid of the 2008 
Medtec ambulance which we will be replacing with the Horton that we just received and to do the 
same. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
14 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Is 1990 the one that the new Pierce was going to replace? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Yes. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


So we need to not dispose of it yet? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Well, it’s still a reserve engine so we have other engines to utilize.  This is the oldest of five 
engines. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


There’s another engine behind the front lines. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


I’m sorry? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


You have another engine behind your front line engine to take care of. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Correct. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


This wouldn’t be a [inaudible], right? 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


So to Trustee Keckler’s previous comment it’s not going to impact -- 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Safety. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
15 


Chief Roepke: 
 


--the availability. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I’d recommend disposal of both vehicles, the pumper tanker and the rescue squad. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 


Thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you, Chief. 
 
POLLOCOFF APPROVED RESOLUTION #18-47 FOR THE DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS 
VEHICLES; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 C. Consider the request for a new liquor license agent for Kwik Trip Store #230 


located at 10451 72nd Avenue. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President and Village Board of Trustees, Kwik Trip has submitted a request to change the 
agent that holds a Class A fermented malt beverage and Class A intoxicating liquor license, cider 
only.  And that’s for the Kwik Trip which is located at 10451 72nd Avenue.  The previous agent 
is no longer employed at that establishment.  The corporation is requesting a Kelly M. Acker to 
be appointed at the successor agent.  All requirements have been satisfied.  Chief Smetana has 
completed and approved the police check with respect to Ms. Acker, and I am recommending 
approval of Kelly M. Acker as successor agent for the Kwik Trip #230. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
16 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move approval. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE NEW LIQUOR LICENSE AGENT, KELLY M. ACKER, FOR 
KWIK TRIP STORE #230 LOCATED AT 10451 72ND AVENUE; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
9. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I just have one.  Item 11 is a public workshop sidewalks.  Is that going to be heard tonight? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Yes. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


What is that?  After we adjourn? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Yes. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Where? 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
17 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We delayed this from the last meeting.  Right here, right now. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Really, I’m impressed.  Let’s hop to it.  I move to adjourn. 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Can I make a quick comment?  Just to follow up on a question, Mr. President you had regarding 
that community collaboration.  You asked me the time frame.  Maybe I didn’t answer that fully.  I 
said six to eight months which is correct, but we’re looking to perhaps start that as early as this 
coming January.  So if we start that in January it would be six to eight months starting in January. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Citizens’ comment I have two.  First off to thank Virgil Gentz, I hear he’s retiring after 40 years.  
Virgil is actually a product of the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  He was born and raised here, and 
he actually worked on my farm.  We repaired all the damages and he moved on to bigger and 
better things.  Congratulations to Virgil for 40 years.  He’s done a great job out there and a big 
part of Kenosha County.  The other item is I see we have young people out in the audience.  
Maybe you have a spokesman you can send up to the microphone and tell us who you are and 
why you’re here.  I love a volunteer.  And give us your name and address for the record. 


 
Troy Limbaugh: 
 


My name is Troy Limbaugh.  I live down here at 6027 107th Street.  We’re here from Troop 505 
Boy Scouts just watching and listening for a mayor badge [inaudible] the community.  That’s 
about it. 
 


John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you, and thank your troop for being here tonight.  Anything else under Village board 
Comments? 


 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move to adjourn. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 3, 2018 
 


 
18 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED. 


 
11. PUBLIC WORKSHOP - SIDEWALKS 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 
December 17, 2018 


6:00 p.m. 
 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, December 17, 
2018.  Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris 
Keckler, Mike Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village 
Administrator, Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community 
Development Director; Kathy Goessl, Finance Director; Dave Smetana, Chief of Police; Craig Roepke, 
Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; Sandro Perez, Inspection Superintendent; John 
Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Dan Honore', IT Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources 
Director; and Jane C. Snell, Village Clerk.  Three citizens attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Anyone wishing to speak during a public hearing or provide information under citizens’ 
comments must first register at the podium located at the microphone prior to the start of the 
Board meeting.  The time limit to speak is five minutes.  If more than five citizens registered to 
speak the time limit will be three minutes.  You may only speak one time and thank you.  And we 
had a signup sheet? 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, we do.  We have three individuals signed up.  The first one is Renee Proctor. 
 
Renee Proctor: 
 


Good evening.  My name is Renee Proctor, 10691 32nd Avenue, Pleasant Prairie.  In addition to 
my public comments of last week I would like to add a couple things regarding lots 15, 16 and 17 
of Countryside Estates.  Up front and foremost it cannot be stressed enough that the owners of lot 
17 hired an assured wetland delineator already approved by the State of Wisconsin.  To the best 
of my knowledge the only one of the three lots that utilized a Wisconsin assured delineator from 
the Wisconsin DNR list.  I continue to say that we support them in moving forward on the sale of 
their lot.   


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
2 


The Village staff report last week states that lot 15 was delineated by the Wisconsin DNR.  If I 
read the September 17th letter correctly from the DNR, the last paragraph says if wetlands are 
located on your property, we recommend that a wetland delineation be conducted on your 
property by a qualified wetland delineator.  In August of this year the owner of lot 15 which I 
could find no survey on file with Kenosha County for this lot shared with us that he had the 
gentleman from Illinois who did the delineation on lot 16 do his lot as well to determine if there 
were wetlands.  He mentioned the soil did not indicate wetlands so he could unclassify his 
wetland area. 


 
Lot 16 was purchased by means of a trustee’s deed this past spring after sitting unsold for years.  
Lot 16 had a large portion of the lot cut away in August once the new delineation markers for that 
lot were placed.  What was wetlands or could have been used to repeat the process or continue the 
line of delineation or answer disputes had been cut away.  Wetland, nonwetland, non-state 
regulated wetland, demarcation, delineation, determination are all terms being used in the 
supporting documentation to move this forward.  I argue to say that they do not all mean the same 
thing. 


 
If it is determined that there is a benefit to interrupting the current wetland line between three lots 
it undermines the integrity of what lot 17 set out to do which was to determine the actual 
delineated wetland line with respects to all of us adjacent to the wetlands or a part of the 
wetlands.  Define things as we may it will not change the major concern raised that I feel goes 
hand in hand with all of this.   


 
The natural occurring stormwater not only from our subdivision but from the surrounding area is 
currently using these wetlands as a portion of the stormwater drainage, its nature.  If we take 
away a portion of that drainage and then add more displaced water from a new home or two 
where is the water going?  What is happening not only above ground but to the water below?  We 
do not have a good understanding of the ground water, the water table, the saturation and the soils 
in the area.  I am asking for the Board to table this resolution and let’s start a productive 
conversation that brings resolve for everyone. 


 
A final note, in the resolution it mentions September 7th posting in the Kenosha News regarding 
this hearing.  Notices were sent to the property owners within 300 feet.  Our notice is dated 
November 9th.  Also attached is the map that’s the plat survey for that subdivision giving you, 
you know, I guess the area that we’re addressing or looking at.  That wetland mark as told at the 
Planning Commission was redelineated back a little further approximately two years later.  I 
don’t have the exact date, and I also don’t have a copy of that map.  It’s not on file with Kenosha 
County.  And I just recently requested all of the wetland file from the Village and received that as 
well just this past week.  Thank you. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you. 
 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
3 


Jane Snell: 
 


The next person is Scott Proctor. 
 
Scott Proctor: 
 


Thank you.  I am Scott Proctor, 10691 32nd Avenue, Pleasant Prairie.  Last Friday an elevation 
study was presented to Countryside Estates HOA Board of which I am a member, and the handful 
of Countryside Estates properties currently along the bike trail.  Assuring that the above ground 
water storm water runoff water levels would not go any higher than we are currently 
experiencing.  Any excess water will overflow the bike trail to the east.  If you look at the first 
attachment it’s a picture of such an occurrence.  This was back in July of 2017.  You can see that 
it does overflow.  This is looking north behind our house, and you can see that that overflow goes 
quite a ways down to the north.   


 
So if the Kenosha County Bike Trail is a part of the overall design who maintains the bike trail 
and its drainage and its cost?  The 16 years that we have lived here the bike trail has had some 
wonderful upgrades, but could this be adding to the barrier of drainage?  In addition, we learned 
that the Countryside Estates, a plat of 21 lots, that our detention pond serves as the water runoff 
for the neighborhood to the west of us as well.  If you look at the second attachment in red is what 
I call Countryside Estates.  That’s our association.  And then in black is that neighborhood to the 
west.  So it’s news to me is that their water runoff is coming down into our retention pond as 
well. 


 
So has there been consideration to extend the survey to include both north and south of the 
affected areas of the water scope and understanding?  Considering this and as we see more and 
more development, maybe a broader elevation study or a current snapshot should be looked at to 
get an even clearer picture of where the water’s coming from, its flow patterns and where it needs 
to be going or redirected to and who is responsible for each of those pieces both long and short 
term.  Thank you. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


And one final person that signed up is Gary Jelinek. 
 
Gary Jelinek: 
 


Hello.  My name is Gary Jelinek, 8719 Cooper Road, and my wife Karen.  And also pertaining to 
8647 Cooper Road which belonged to my mother-in-law.  She’s deceased, but my wife and her 
sisters own that property also.  It deals with the traffic going to Whittier when they pick up their 
kids.  They’re all parking alongside of the road there.  They drop off at the side of the road.  
There’s no shoulder there hardly.  I had my yard landscaped so I could go right up to the road and 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
4 


mow all the way up there.  Can’t do that anymore because they’re packing the ground down and 
they’re pushing the shoulder away, etc.  Now, if you’ve got an SUV you can still do that, park, 
you can drop your wheels off and still park on the side there yet.  But if you’ve got a regular 
standard car it’s packed down so much you’re going to hang your car up.   


 
They can’t park over far enough so they’re blocking half of the lane so it becomes a safety hazard 
going through there.  Two cars cannot pass through there for one.  And the most important part 
that I’ve seen on there approximately a foot of the concrete or the blacktop rather is starting to 
break up.  And the ground is frozen now, but as this thaws out you’re going to break up and 
you’re going to lose that part of the room.  It’s groomed real nice along there now, but you’re 
going to ruin your road because all this traffic is dropping on and off the shoulder.  They’re 
breaking up the road. 


 
And further down closer to Whittier there’s no ditch but there’s a lot of ruts along there already 
from traffic doing the same thing.  I don’t know why they don’t park in the Whittier like they 
used to, that part along the west side of the road there when they pick up their kids.  Maybe it’s a 
conflict with the buses or something.  But the only think I can think of is they’ll have to figure 
something out with the schedule with the buses if they want to change that because you’re going 
to end up ruining the road along there. 


 
Another thing is in front of Mary Packard’s house that my wife owns there, there’s a small drain 
to the north side of the property which I have never seen serviced.  I don’t know where it goes.  
It’s been there for better than 40 years that I know of.  It’s a piece of PVC, and then there’s a big 
drain with a metal grate over it which is directly in front of the culvert that goes under the road.  
Generally the Village services a lot of that stuff in the spring, but I’ve never seen anybody give it 
any attention or anything.  So the main thing I was concerned with is they’re breaking the road up 
and they’re packing the side of the road down where the cars are dropping off the road.  Thank 
you. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you.  We’ll have somebody look at that.  Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ 
comments?  Hearing none I’ll close citizen’s comments. 


 
5. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider and approve Village Green Center Redevelopment Proposal Agreement 


between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Community Collaboration. 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Thank you, Mr. President and Trustees.  As you recall during the last Village Board meeting, 
December 3rd, during the administrator’s report I gave a brief outline of this new Community 
Collaboration process that we’re going to be using for the new Village Green.  It’s going to 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
5 


reboot the Village Green Center which as you know has been on and off the back burner for quite 
a few years now.  So we’re looking to reboot this process and get that Village downtown going 
once again. 


 
Tonight on the agenda as you said the Board is going to look at an agreement between the Village 
of Pleasant Prairie and BayPointe Enterprises which is doing business as Community 
Collaboration, and the consultant’s name is Todd Streeter, to convene a community engagement 
process for the Village Green Center Development.  I put a few slides together here to help detail 
that process more. 


 
As you know, the Village recently closed on the purchase of 72 acres from a private owner in 
land in proximity to Springbrook Road in between here, the Village Hall, and around the post 
office area consisting of five parcels for $37 million.  And as you know previous efforts to 
develop the Village Green land were stalled due to poor market conditions during the recession 
and private developer ownership. 


 
So what is this collaboration process?  Number one, it’s a community engagement process to 
establish fresh ideas to incorporate into the Village Green Center Development plan.  Number 
two, it’s a process to create an enduring Village Green Center drawing visitors and residents from 
all generations, ethnicities and ages both night and day, seven days a week to the Village Green 
Center.  Number three, it’s a process structured to bring vested stakeholders, valued 
organizations, residents and concerned civic leaders to create a common vision, identify 
opportunities and develop project recommendations for their eventual implementation through 
long-term collective collaboration. 


 
As you know, along with this whole process there will be the development of some committees.  
And the Village Green Center Redevelopment Committee will consist of any and all residents 
interested, business owners, organizational leaders, Village staff and others seeking to participate 
and work in a consensus building atmosphere to create comprehensive redevelopment concepts, 
plans and recommendations.  The primary committee and subcommittees will identify fresh, 
forward thinking, progressive ideas, concepts and opportunities addressing current and emerging 
needs within the Village Green Center. 


 
So some potential subcommittees when we convene this process will touch bases on civic 
activities and amenities, smart community, housing options, commercial zones, sustainable 
development for land and structures, parks, trails, open spaces and recreation, esthetics, branding 
and themes, vehicle and personal modal infrastructure and marketing and promotion. 


 
Some community engagement project goals and tasks, it’s a hand-on environment that they’ll be 
working in.  It’s autonomous.  The community will identify fresh, forward thinking, progressive 
ideas, concepts and opportunities addressing current and emerging needs.  And the committee 
will be contacting and engaging themselves with third parties for research assessment and 
eventual committee recommendations.  So these committees and subcommittees will be working 
autonomously, and they’ll be actually doing a lot a lot of research when it comes to the 
recommendations for the Village Green Center. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
6 


Some primary outcomes and responsibilities, like I said they’ll be conducting research, the 
committee will, prepare maps, drawings and images, develop vision and guiding principle 
statements, host a community open house to showcase their collective concepts, present final 
recommendations to the Village Board and community at large, attend regularly scheduled large 
committee meetings and subcommittee work groups meetings, actively participate and contribute 
to these committees and its activities, complete work assignments in between regular meetings, 
be present at scheduled project events. 


 
So the committee overview, so the Village is looking along with Todd Streeter, the consultant, to 
hold a kickoff meeting which is set for January 17th of 2019 next year.  That overview, that 
kickoff will consist of two large group meetings per -- well, the whole process will consist of that 
kick off meeting initially, and then there will be two large group meetings per month with those 
subcommittees at a location away from Village Hall.  And those locations are yet to be 
determined.  But that kick off meeting will be at the RecPlex, we’ve determined that, in the 
Lakeview Room. 


 
Meetings will generally begin with project committee instructions, perhaps guest speakers, 
presentations, subcommittee chair report updates and committee breakouts.  Subcommittees are 
encourage to meet in between scheduled large group meetings to advance their ongoing research, 
concept development and outcome preparation.  As far as the duration of this whole entire 
process Community Collaboration Todd Streeter said it’s going to take about eight to nine months 
to complete the process. 


 
So before you tonight, again, is the contract between the Village and Community Collaboration.  
And the price of thee contract is $26,000.  And this includes project planning to date, kickoff 
planning and meeting, 13 regularly scheduled committee meetings per the strategic plan, two 
extra contingency meetings and final project wrap up activities.  So as I said so before the Board 
tonight is the contract to enter into this agreement with Community Collaboration to convene the 
Village Green Center project for a cost of $26,000.  If you have any questions I’ll be happy to 
answer them. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Any questions for Tom? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Tom, since the Village announced the purchase of the property there’s been an awful lot of good 
interest in what we’re trying to do.  And I have not heard one negative comment from any citizen, 
matter of fact just the opposite, just nothing but positive, and I can’t wait to see it take off.  I think 
we’re on a right course with this, and I applaud Nathan and you for looking at this.  I’d move 
approval of the contract. 


 
 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
7 


Kris Keckler: 
 


I’ll second that but I had a followup question.  At the previous slide I think it is, the travel and 
other project related expense is not included in the budget piece.  Would those project related 
ones be some type of data gathering, analysis, potential surveys, mailers, things of that nature? 


 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Exactly. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Any ballpark figures related to that? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


No ballpark that I know of, no.  The gentleman does live just over the St. Croix River in 
Minnesota so he’s got about a five hour trip to come here every time.  So that will be expenses 
incurred by the Village as well. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


So he’s looking to attend the two meetings a month or is somebody else? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Oh, yes, he’ll be at those meetings, yeah.  In fact, he sort of takes the bull by the horns in this 
whole process.  He’s leading the whole process. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


One thing to note, Kris, on that question a lot of the marketing and so forth will really be 
contingent upon our demands rather than his demands.  So, for instance, he’s going to be utilizing 
as much as possible social media and other rights.  If there were a desire for us to advertise on the 
radio or to advertise by other means then clearly that would be at our discretion.  We’ve talked to 
him about ways to control costs as far as the travel and time and expense.  And so we’ll be 
cognizant of that, too, as well. 


 
Tom Shircel: 
 


As you know in the last Village Newsletter we had a blurb about this in the newsletter, and we’ve 
already had some emails come through from persons like Mike said, Trustee Serpe said who are 
very interested in this process.  After this meeting tonight we’ll have a press release go out.  And 
also Emily Kolosso doing the communications for the Village she’s going to set up a website link 
on our website through this whole process as well.  So it’s an all encompassing thing that we’re 
putting together here. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
8 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


And I guess my other question it’s easy to put a dollar amount to travel expenses as well as some 
of these other potentially object based ones, but the expectation then for existing Village staff to 
participate and assist in some fashion becomes their hours potentially?  Do you have any idea of 
the impact of that? 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


So that’s really one of the positive things about this process.  And in talking with New Richmond 
who was a pretty strong referral was that he’s going to be taking on the agenda preparation.  He’s 
going to be taking on the collaboration with these committees.  And so at least from my 
understanding and from the understanding that I got from New Richmond from a staffing 
standpoint it’s a very hands off approach.  And that’s intention because they want this process to 
be perceived as a community engaged piece where it’s not necessarily dictated by staff.   


 
So to be honest I think that this is going to be a very interesting experience from a staffing 
standpoint because we’ve typically been much more heavily involved and integrated.  So 
personally I’m excited.  At the same time I’m also interested to see how the outcome and result 
will come forth.  But I was very much encouraged by New Richmond’s experience.  One other 
point to bring out is they said the New Richmond Administrator it was like the first two months 
we were starting to get a little nervous.  And then all of a sudden there was like that breakthrough 
meeting and we wouldn’t go back.  This was an experience that truly they became engaged and 
were excited about as a community. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


And I have heard nothing but positive things as well and fully hope that the community does step 
up and take on a larger participating role. 


Nathan Thiel: 
 


And I don’t mean to paint rainbows and spew out butterflies and all that, but I’m confident that 
this is going to work. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


I’ll just add if we could get an estimate of what the travel expenses would be, five hours and he’s 
coming down and the meetings are going to be a night which means he’s going to be staying 
over, what lodging costs and everything else he would incur on that. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


We can put that together.  Some of our staff were also looking at talking with partnering with 
hotels and things of that nature to see if there would be some willingness to participate in that as 
well.  One other thing, just a point of clarification, on the PowerPoint slide it said $37 million was 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
9 


the purchase price, it’s actually $3.7 million, just a point of clarification.  I case anybody else was 
shocked I was shocked there for a second. 


 
Tom Shircel: 
 


That’s a decimal error, right? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Yeah, a decimal error. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


As Trustee Serpe said everybody I’ve talked with over the past couple weeks there’s just a lot of 
interest.  So I’m looking forward to seeing this get up and get going and watch the level of 
engagement happen. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE VILLAGE GREEN CENTER REDEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND COMMUNITY 
COLLABORATION; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 B. Presentation of RecPlex Financial Review and 2019 Budget. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Yes, I’m here to present the RecPlex financial and also the 2019 budget that we’re 
recommending.  This is very similar to other budgets that have been presented over the last 
couple month.  This shows the operating revenue for the RecPlex.  I gave the 2017 actuals as a 
comparison.  And then in the middle is 2018, our budget and our estimate at the end of the year 
and what we’re proposing for 2019. 


 
Memberships include all types of memberships, annual, monthly, day passes, etc.  With the 
competition in the Kenosha area increasing we were not able to increase membership revenue in 
2018 as budgeted.  You can see we budgeted 4.8, almost 4.9, and we’re ending at 4.4.  For 2019 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
10 


we’re looking to increase revenue from 2018 estimate to 2019 proposed.  But actually that’s a 
decrease compared to the previous year budget but an increase compared to what we’re 
estimating at the end of the year.  The RecPlex will monitor and adjust membership revenue and 
track higher like we are projecting. 


 
Program division includes all our program areas within the RecPlex.  Our greatest program area is 
youth, including day camps, after school and preschool, budgeted just over $2 million for 2019, 
up from $1.9 in 2018.  Our other two top revenue program areas exceeding $1 million each are 
our ice programming and our TR programming.  Rental includes rental of outdoor and indoor 
spaces and also birthday parties and field trips totaling just over $1 million of gross revenue for 
that area. 


 
Advertising and sponsorships we have grown this area from 2018 from $117,000 to $194,000 in 
2018.  We want to continue to grow in 2019 to $240,000 or an addition $10,000 over what we’re 
estimating we’re going to end the year.  Our marketing department is in charge of this revenue 
growth area.  Operating divisions include all our operating divisions mainly responsible to 
support our memberships and our program divisions.  The revenue that’s brought in here is only 
from guest services and kids court which bring in some revenue of that $37,000 for 2019. 


 
So overall the RecPlex total revenue projected for this year is $11.8 million, and we’re looking at 
going up about $1 million to $12.8 million for 2019, just a slight increase over what we originally 
budgeted for last year.  This is monitored monthly by the RecPlex and also by Laura and my 
department who meets with their departments on a regular basis to make sure they’re meeting 
their budgets and adjusting budgets accordingly to make sure that we end the year with a positive 
cash flow.  These are RecPlex operating revenues in a graphic format where you can see our 
program divisions is our biggest revenue source followed by memberships.  And then we have the 
other smaller revenue sources off to the right hand side.  All of our revenue areas are increasing. 


 
Now we switch to the opposite side, operating expenses for the RecPlex.  This is broken into our 
major categories.  Our first major categories are operating division which includes administration, 
our aquatics, fitness, guest services, kids court and marketing.  These operating divisions support 
memberships and assist the program divisions.  Their expenses are budgeted for just over $3 
million for 2019.  Facilities, the largest dollar operating division is facilities which I have 
separated from the other operating divisions for a total of $2.7 million for 2019.  This is 
maintenance and janitorial employees account for almost half of this budget at $1.3.  Other large 
expenses in this budget includes our electric at a little over $700,000, contracted building 
maintenance $157,000, and janitorial supplies at $115,000. 


 
Our program division expenses total $4.6 million compared to the revenue on the previous slide 
of $6.7 million for a net revenue gain of $2.1 million to provide money to help support the 
operating divisions.  Rental expense totals a little over $105,000 producing revenue of just over 
$1 million.  So very little expense for the rental division generating $1 million in revenue.  
Depreciation is a noncash expense to recognize our building and equipment assets that we had 
purchased in the past over their useful life, and that has totaled a little over $1.2 million.  Total 
expenses are being budgeted at $11.7 million, up another million from our 2018 estimate, but 
only up slightly from our budget from last year of a little less than $300,000. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
11 


 
Again, in a graphic format you can see that program divisions are, again, the highest expense 
category like they were the highest revenue category.  And you can see the operating divisions 
and the facility divisions are large expense areas which help support our program divisions and 
our memberships.  And all the divisions their expenses are going up.  Well, depreciation we have 
budgeted at staying even. 


 
This actually summarizes -- we’re most concern like we are in the sewer and water and other 
utilities is cash flow.  We want to make sure to have a positive cash flow or maintain our cash.  
So this slide converts our net operating gain that we had on the previous slide to how much of a 
change in cash that reflects because not everything is reflected in operating.  There’s other things 
that are happening.  So first line is coming over from the previous slide it’s our revenues which is 
the first slide minus our expenses which calculates to a little over $1.1 million for 2019.  We have 
a transfer in from the Pleasant Prairie Water Utility from cell tower leases which is capped at 
$119,370 which is transferred to the RecPlex. 


 
Nonoperating loss includes debt service payments of $762,000 for 2019 offset by amortization of 
bond premium which is a noncash of $249,000, bond interest subsidy of $61,000 and interest 
income of $30,000 for a net loss of $22,000 cash flow-wise.  So our net overall gain is still at 
$104,000.  Our cash flow adjustments we add back in depreciation, this is all accounting stuff, but 
there’s a noncash of $1.3 million minus actually our principal payment of $1.8 million, capital 
purchases of $155,000.  And then we have a decision packet in that cash flow of $40,000 and 
other adjustments of $32,000 for a total adjustment change of a minus $737,000.  So it brings our 
cash down to a positive $66,000 at the end of the year for 2019 proposed. 


 
You can look over the last few years, 2019 is actuals where we end the year with $342,000 
positive cash flow, and then 2018 we’re estimating $281,000 positive cash flow.  We budgeted 
here at $66,000, and I said in the past it is monitored by both the Rec management and our 
finance department every month to make sure that we’re tracking on the right thing or making 
adjustments to track on the right path. 


 
There’s a couple decision packets.  A group of them fall into personnel changes.  These personnel 
changes which are very small as you can see, about $11,000, are being asked for in rentals, guest 
services and fitness divisions only totaling $11,000.  A bigger one is our fitness studio update.  
Our fitness studio is home to 80 to 100 classes per week.  The studio has not been updated in over 
a decade, and much of the equipment in the studio is run down and broken.  So we are looking at 
purchasing new mats, steps, bands and dumbbells.  In addition we would purchase additional 
mind and body equipment and establishing a fresh, new marketing campaign to help boost 
participation in our fitness studios. 


 
These fitness studios most of them are included in the membership for free.  And then there’s an 
upgrade that they can make that can get them into mainly the personal trainer led classes and the 
yoga studio classes and also the aquatics classes.  But there’s a whole group of classes included 
with the membership. 
So these are our 2019 capital requests that have been made.  Our first request is a new website.  
They want to create a new friendlier website for our staff to communicate all facility happenings 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
12 


to our current and future customers.  We will be using the same vendor as the Village did for their 
Village website, so this $10,000 has been negotiated and secured for the RecPlex website to be 
changed or modified to reflect the same image as the Village. 


 
Facility clocks with speakers, patrons continue to ask for clocks in certain areas of the facility.  In 
2004 clocks were installed but they have since died away.  This clock system would be easily 
maintained with all clocks on one system.  Also with a new emergency action plan to continue to 
create ways to communicate with our customers both during emergency and non-emergency 
situations.  Facility preventative maintenance and replacement software, software is needed to aid 
in the documenting of preventative maintenance and to develop a facility replacement schedule 
for all facility mechanicals. 


 
Rooftop units, after replacing four rooftop units on the original building we still have 14 units that 
could eventually fail.  This is in there in case they fail.  And then repair original roof.  We want to 
repair the original roof to extend its useful life.  And the repairs are being spread over three years.  
Window perforations is a branding message that we want to put over the top of the windows in 
RecPlex and IcePlex saying thank you for coming, RecPlex logo, stuff like that up there.  And it 
will help to block the sun during the daytime hours because right now it’s interfering with the 
guest services desk and their line of sight, and also on the ice side, too. 


 
Then we have replacement basketball hoops and rims which the current rim system is not made 
anymore, and we have to cannibalize ones that are not being used often.  So we need to reinvest 
in the field house for expanded rentals and [inaudible] so new basketball hoops and rims.  And 
then additional bleachers for $10,000.  The facility it gets busy, and it’s hard to move bleachers 
from one location to the next, and sometimes there’s not enough bleachers to accommodate the 
rentals that we do have and the activities that we have going on.  So we have a total of $155,200.  
Some of the stuff will be expensed.  We’ve listed it all as separate decisions to be made for a total 
of $155,200. 


 
So this is more to do with we’re looking at a borrowing next year.  And the next slide we’ll talk 
about the actual debt of the RecPlex.  But these are projects that we have done during 2018 or 
2017 at the end of the year and then 2019 what we’re planning to finish up.  We’re looking at 
borrowing a little over $3.2 million.  We did all these projects by using cash reserves right now.  
Our RecPlex debt is out ten years, and in 2019 we can borrow and push the debt, the principal 
payment out to 2029, therefore, be able to accommodate these capital projects that are very 
definitely needed. 


 
The first thing we looked at is glass windows for the pool.  The original windows needed to be 
replaced due to UV exposure.  Over the years this exposure has reduced the insulation between 
the double panes.  And if not replaced the energy efficiency would be reduced therefore straining 
pool systems.  So this project has already been done in 2018.  The Siemens fire panels, currently 
the facility has three fire panels.  The original ones from 2000 when the facility was built will be 
outdated in 2018.  Due to the communication issues between all the panels all the panels will 
need to be replaced.  This request is to replace these panels which we started in 2018 and we’ll 
finish in 2019. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
13 


Field house curtains and striping, the curtains are fairly torn and will continue to become worse as 
time passes.  This fix will help extend the longevity of the curtains, and that one is also started 
and will be finished in 2019.  Air handling units was actually an issue we had back in 2017.  This 
$428,000 was spent in the fourth quarter of 2017 to replace the air handlers or the chillers, and 
then finished up in 2018.  The dehumidification units with the pool packs which are currently 
being worked on right now is replacing the air quality in the pool.  It was very bad because we 
couldn’t in the wintertime actually release the bad air into outside if it was 40 degrees.  If it was 
under 40 degrees we couldn’t do that.  So now they’re replacing this and it should finish up this 
year. 


 
Bathroom expansions which are also completed.  With this expansion additional washroom 
facilities of eight men and eight women were added to the east side of the field house to support 
field house usage.  A precast for additional expansion was also included in the bathroom 
expansion.  So in the future we’re looking at three to four or five years out depending on our 
financial situation to do that expansion on that side of the building with the bathrooms.  That was 
started, and we just have a little bit of retainage and stuff to finish in 2019. 


 
Turnstiles we’re going to replace all three areas of the turnstiles with new units and technology.  
Currently the turnstiles are going down which makes it unsafe and unsecure with who is entering 
the facility and leads to a lot of manual work at the guest services desk to track attendance and 
statistics.  Current turnstiles are original to the building.  They’re not met to meet the current and 
future needs of the facility.  So we’re looking at replacing those in 2019.   


 
New locker rooms for the men, replace the existing metal lockers in the men’s locker room with 
rust resistant plastic lockers.  And then we have the boilers for $151,890 which was completed 
this year.  And then we also are looking at painting the exterior of both the RecPlex and IcePlex 
for $60,000 in 2019.  So over the years here we can reimburse ourselves for 18 months back.  
This is 2017 in the fourth quarter, we’re going to borrow by April of next year for $3.2 million. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


A question on the air handlers that were put in last year along with the pool packs we put in this 
year, is there any operational savings with the new units that we achieve? 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


The pool packs are just being put in right now so we couldn’t realize any -- mainly it’s air quality 
issues.  Tom Patrizzi is in the audience.  He can come up and answer.  Those actual air handlers 
broke down.  So he can answer the question of what kind of efficiencies we have by replacing 
those.  We can either have him come up now or wait until the end. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Tom, you want to come up now and answer a couple questions quick? 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
14 


Tom Patrizzi: 
 


Tom Patrizzi, 9900 Terwall Terrace, RecPlex.  Mike, we just went online this morning with the 
pool packs, actually Saturday the last unit kicked on, so we were hoping to see all kinds of 
savings a year from now and everything. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


So design anticipated savings. 
 
Tom Patrizzi: 
 


Yes. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


What about the chiller? 
 
Tom Patrizzi: 
 


The chillers because we would have seen savings of the electrical, but being the pool packs went 
down mid summer we had to put the temporary chiller outside. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


We can’t measure. 
 
Tom Patrizzi: 
 


The pool packs we can measure.  So we’re going to need to get some history going again before 
we can put our finger on it.  But both units should be running way more efficient than we were 
before as well as the aqua arena.  That’s been running fantastic, so the electricity was showing a 
decline.  We’re hoping it continues to show that. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Just one question, Tom.  We’re replacing steel lockers with plastic?  Are they sturdy then?  I’m 
assuming they are. 


 
Tom Patrizzi: 
 


The Board bought those back in 2010 with the aqua arena, and they’re holding up fantastic.  It’s 
the way to go.  Can you believe that plastic’s more expensive than steel?  It’s like who would 
have ever thought that, but they’re quite more expensive than the steel ones. 


 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
15 


John Steinbrink: 
 


Any questions for Tom while he’s up here? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


You’re doing a good job. 
 
Tom Patrizzi: 
 


Thank you very much. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


So these are our principal and interest payments over the next ten years with the RecPlex.  The 
blue is the current debt service that we have outstanding.  And then the orange color is the new 
debt that we’re recommending to fund those projects that were on the previous slide.  And in the 
beginning we’ll pay interest only for the first couple years.  And then as our current debt drops 
down a little bit we’ll do some principal also.  But the majority of the principal is being paid off 
in 2029.  So we don’t need to refinance.  We can issue ten years of debt for this right here.  We 
couldn’t borrow in ‘18 because ‘18 would have dumped us into 2028, and we can’t go 11 years 
with GO debt, you have to do a ten year note.  So we had enough cash reserves which I’ll show 
you on the next slide to be able to do that and bring us into ‘19 to borrow to finish it up. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Was that payment in 2029 was that set aside, or it’s budgeted to have $2 million ready in ten 
years? 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


We already pay $2.5 million every year for debt right now.  You can see it’s a little bit over $2.5.  
So back here that’s just actually we’re going down below $2.5.  We have some leeway here to be 
able to be able to maybe borrow for an expansion like in the middle here to push it out and 
[inaudible].  So the RecPlex is able to handle about $2.5, $2.6 million in debt currently on their 
current revenue/expense cash flow situation.  They’ve been handling this level of debt since they 
opened pretty much. 


 
So where does our RecPlex cash balance stand now?  We had a lot of stuff going on with the 
lawsuit in the last couple years and all that’s over with and behind us right now.  The final roof 
repairs are being done right now.  Right now we’re looking at -- well, actual cash ended 2017 at a 
little over $2 million.  We’re estimating to end the year -- for 2018 we’re actually going to end it 
a little bit lower because we’re using all that money for that stuff we’re borrowing for.  But if you 
adjust for that we would end the year at $2.3 million if we would borrow right away at year end.  
And then a proposed budget is maintaining our budget actually increasing it slightly in case at 
$2.3 million, almost $2.4 million based on our activity proposed to be done this next year. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
16 


 
You can see there’s base activities that happen that bring it about $2.5 million.  We have debt 
service, principal and interest of a little over $2.4, almost $2.5, estimate $2.4.  And then we got 
$2.2, so we were actually going down before we borrowed.  And then we got to the borrowing 
and using capital projects to finish up that three year plan and our $155,000.  So we’re 
maintaining.  We’ve come out the last five, six years with everything going on at pretty good cash 
reserves to help us go into the future.  If there are any questions?  We’re not asking for a 
resolution to be passed or anything.  We’re just presenting the RecPlex in how it’s standing and 
what’s happening with it.  It’s a standalone entity that basically doesn’t use any tax dollars. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I have a comment, John.  Little thing bother me sometimes, but a few months ago -- we all get the 
municipality publication.  A few months ago the municipality did a survey of park and recreation 
facilities throughout the state.  And I was really amazed that Pleasant Prairie and the RecPlex 
wasn’t even mentioned.  Here’s a 308,000 square foot building, two NHL hockey rinks, Olympic 
size pool, a fitness to die for and not one penny of taxpayer money funding it, and we didn’t get a 
recognition.  That bothered me when I saw that.  Here we go over and above and it’s all 
membership driven and not a mention.  And I was going to call them and I said heck with it, save 
my breath. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Were the other ones tax -- 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I’m sure.  I don’t know of anybody that runs a facility like we do that doesn’t involve -- 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Right, that may be the differential. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I make a motion to receive and file. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and second to receive and file.  Those in favor? 
 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
17 


Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  So carries.  Thank you, Kathy. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO RECEIVE AND FILE THE RECPLEX FINANCIAL REVIEW AND 
2019 BUDGET; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 


#18-46 and Ordinance #18-47 for Zoning Map and Text Amendments related to 
property located at 12500 Aurora Drive. 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this is to consider the approval of the Zoning Map and 
Text Amendments, and this is for John Huggett with The Boldt Company on behalf of Aurora 
Health Care for the property located at 12500 Aurora Drive.  And this is for the new Aurora 
Health Center-Pleasant Prairie Ambulatory Care Center and Medical Office Building.  This 
project is under construction as you know.  This evening is the last step in the process wherein we 
are seeking to rezone the property to place a Planned Unit Development Overlay District on the 
property as well as specific PUD District regulations.  As you know, the property is located at the 
northwest corner of 104th Street and 120th Avenue. 


 
As you know, the master conceptual plan for this project was conditionally approved by the 
Board on April 2, 2018.  And they are looking to build a 100,000 square foot ambulatory care 
center and a 100,000 square foot professional office building.  As part of this project it is 
proposed to be a $130 million development.  And the building is situated in such a way to 
accommodate future expansion as healthcare needs of the community evolve.  The planning and 
design of the proposed facility would preserve the woodlands on the site at the south side of the 
site and the wetlands and woodlands at the northwest corner of the site. 


 
Again, the facility is intended to meet growing healthcare needs of the area residents as well as 
surrounding communities and ensuring access to high quality, cost effect health care in a 
convenient location.  It’s estimated that the facility will provide for 260 full-time and 28 part-time 
employees working two shifts or 140 new jobs at the Pleasant Prairie location.  There’s over 737 
parking spaces in the parking lot.  It’s estimated that it will be likely just automobile traffic of just 
over 2,500 per day and an average of four daily truck trips per day. 


 
Access to the site and to the development will be an internal roadway system.  It connects from 
the boulevard at 120th Avenue, and then there’s an east/west roadway which is Aurora Drive and 
then over to 128th Avenue which is the north/south road.  The Aurora Drive through the center of 
the property is a private road.  The public roads are the north/south avenues. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
18 


The preliminary site and operational plans had been approved by the Plan Commission on July 9, 
2018.  At that time additional work had commenced that included the civil work as well as the 
underground utility footing and foundations [inaudible] for that work to commence in the project.  
So right around July of 2018 the project was really underway with respect to building 
construction. 


 
The site and operational plans were also approved for Stage 3 by the Village Plan Commission.  
And this allowed for the building shell, the exterior walls and roof to actually start to come out of 
the ground which is actually what you are starting to see today.  That was approved by the Plan 
Commission October 22, 2018.  These are some of the artist renderings that you have seen in the 
past.  They have now since really refined a lot of these elevations and drawings which we have 
information for to share with you.  As well as we’ve refined the details of the landscaping plans 
and parking and other elements of the site.   


 
And what they’ve now presented to the Village Plan Commission and to the Village Board as part 
of the rezoning on the property are the final site and operational plans Stage 4.  It’s the final set of 
plans that includes all the site plans, the building plans, the interior building plans as well, the 
final landscaping plans, the digital security imaging system, exterior lighting, exterior 
landscaping and native prairie areas, all of the final details with respect to the site development. 


 
So as you can see some of the unique elements that they’ve added to this site is an external 
walking path system on the south side and on the north side and quite a bit more additional 
landscaping as requested by the Plan Commission along the south side in the corners.  It’s a little 
hard to see at this scale, but we have a considerable amount of detail that’s been provided to us as 
part of the plan.  They’ve also provided some more of the details with respect to what the inside 
of the facility is proposed to look like.  They wanted to incorporate quite a bit of a prairie look 
and feel because they’re in Pleasant Prairie.   
One of the text amendments is to allow for 25 percent of the open space of the area excluding 
wetlands and woodlands to be allowed to be planted and maintained as prairie grasses and plants 
rather than a manicured lawn.  Our modification to the ordinance then would allow, again, not 
just turf but actually prairie seeding in designated areas as shown on the screen.  You can see the 
light yellow areas.  Those are the areas where, again, the walking trails are.  There would be these 
prairie grasses and seeding.  They have put a very detailed management plan together as to how 
this is going to be implemented over the next three to five years on the site. 


 
Some other modifications to the zoning text include for the primary monument signs on the site to 
have not two but three primary monument signs and [inaudible] higher in height on the site.  They 
do have the nice base and have a similar architecture feel that the building does.  And then these 
monument signs will be completed landscaped around them.  In addition, as you can see on the 
small dot with respect to the site plan there’s going to be some additional secondary monument 
signs of different sizes as well as directional signs of different sizes as well. 


 
And then one final element with respect to the signage is they have requested that the sign size to 
be increased from 600 to 800 square feet of total aggregate commercial advertising signs, 
basically the wall signs.  And they have a 200,000 square foot building.  But, again, we’ve got the 
Aurora Health Center name on it, and then the Aurora Children’s Health and Aurora Sports 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
19 


Health.  So as a result we wanted to make sure that the signs and their sizes were appropriate for 
the building mass that was being created. 


 
So before you you have Ordinances #18-46 and 18-47, and these have to do with Aurora 
Healthcare Center.  Again, the PUD zoning designation that will be placed on the property in 
addition to the M-5 and the C-1.  And then there will be a PUD specific text ordinance that you 
have in your packets as well that is written to accommodate these modifications to the zoning 
ordinance that, again, address the percentage of open space that’s being maintained as prairie 
grasses and manicured lawn, the monument signs as well as the additional square footage for the 
commercial advertising signs. 


 
This is a matter that was before the Plan Commission at their last meeting.  A public hearing was 
held at that time.  There were a number of other comments and conditions just like with other 
projects of the Village, and we’ve been working very closely with them.  But this is the last piece 
that they needed to complete the project from start to finish. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


And you want separate action on each ordinance, correct? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Yes. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Just before you start, now in the beginning wasn’t this going to be called Advocate Aurora or 
Aurora Advocate? 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It was, and I guess I’d have to address that to Brian Esswein because as soon as I saw the name it 
says Aurora Health Center. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


When you walk in there now it says we are whatever. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


I know.  And I guess from their perspective I don’t know that that has been completely finalized.  
I don’t know if they can respond to that, but I don’t know if that decision has been completely 
finalized.  So I’ve seen applications come in that are Advocate Aurora and some that are just 
Aurora Health Center.  So I’m not sure what their final conclusion is. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
20 


 
When they come with the name they want then they’re going to be able to just take this and not 
have to come back and do now we are somebody else. 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Right, they’ll have to be accommodated by the area.  I wasn’t sure because I knew they had 
another meeting tonight.  But this is the square footage that they get.  So if they do decide to go 
with Advocate Aurora for this facility then the signs will have to come down a little bit in size, or 
it might not say Health Center it might just say Advocate Aurora.  But this gives them the 
parameters of how much square footage that they can have in the sign. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


I like the prairie seeding versus the manicured lawn.  Is that something that’s different than other 
large spaces we have around here? 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Yes, it is.  So typically we require there to be manicured or turf lawn through all of the corporate 
parks.  There have been a few requests for some slight modifications.  Uline, for example, has a 
few designated areas that they have prairie grasses and prairie seedings as well.  And I think we 
have a couple of others but it’s more landscaping.  They have a large site, 64 acres, and they just 
wanted to be able to accommodate and promote this more of a healing and attractive 
environment. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


It was very detailed?  The plan they have to make that happen was it a very detailed plan that they 
have? 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It is a very detailed plan.  I know that the ACC has met with them and has made it very clear that 
this plan does need to be followed, it needs to be implemented.  And if for some reason that it 
doesn’t come to be exactly the way that they have presented it then the whole area would have to 
revert back to a turf lawn.  So I know that they seem very motivated to promote these prairie 
grasses in certain areas. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


I move approval of Ordinance 18-46 to amend the official zoning map. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Second. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
21 


 
 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adoption of 18-46.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move approval of 18-47. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adoption of 18-47.  Any further discussion on this item?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 
KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #18-46 FOR A ZONING MAP 
AMENDMENT RELATED TO PROPERTY LOCATED AT 12500 AURORA DRIVE; 
SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #18-47 FOR TEXT AMENDMENT RELATED 
TO PROPERTY LOCATED AT 12500 AURORA DRIVE; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 
Would you like D and E taken together, Jean? 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
22 


 
 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Yes, please. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


With separate action.  Motion to take D and E together. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


So moved. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 


POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS 6D. AND 6E. TOGETHER; 
SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 


#18-48 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to Countryside Estates Subdivision 
as it relates to Lots 15, 16 and 17. 


 
 E. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 


#18-49 for Zoning Map Amendments as it relates to Countryside Estates 
Subdivision Lots 15, 16 and 17. 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, as indicated these items are related, will be discussed t 
the same time, however separate actions will be required.  The petitioners are requesting approval 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
23 


of the amendments to the Village’s Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Map to reflect the field 
delineated wetlands on their properties known as lots 15, 16 and 17 in the Countryside Estates 
Subdivision.  This subdivision as you can see is generally located east of 32nd Avenue, west of 
the Kenosha County Bike Trail at about 106th Place.  This is located just north of the Foxmoor 
Estates Subdivision. 


 
Lot 15 on August 2, 2018, the Wisconsin DNR conducted a wetland delineation and found no 
wetlands as indicated in their Wisconsin DNR letter dated September 17, 2018 provided to the 
Village.  So there’s no plat of survey showing lot 15 as they’ve identified that there were no 
wetlands on that property any longer.  Lot 16 on April 21, 2018, DK Environment Services, Inc., 
completed a wetland delineation on the property that was approved by the Wisconsin DNR as 
indicated in their DNR letter dated July 6, 2018.  The location of the wetlands as shown on the 
attached survey are located in the rear of the property.  Lot 17 on August 30th and September 7, 
2018, Alice Thompson of Thompson and Associates Wetland Services, a Wisconsin DNR 
assured biologist, completed a wetland delineation.  The location of wetlands as shown on the 
attached survey are located also on the rear of the property. 


 
As a result of these delineations the Village’s 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9 is proposed to be 
amended to place the field delineated wetlands on lots 16 and 17 into the Park, Recreational and 
Other Open Space Lands with a Wetland Land Use designation and to place the nonwetland areas 
on lots 15, 16 and 17 within the Low Medium Density Residential Land Use designation.  In 
addition, Appendix 10-3 of the 2035 Comprehensive Plan is being updated to include all these 
amendments.  The Land Use Plan Map and the Zoning Map are required to be consistent.  
Therefore, the field delineated wetlands on Lots 16 and 17 are proposed to be placed into the C-1, 
Lowland Resources Conservancy District, and nonwetland areas on the referenced lots are 
proposed to be placed into the R-4, Urban Single Family Residential District as part of the overall 
district that represented this subdivision when it was platted. 


 
During the public hearing held by the Plan Commission on December 10, 2018, an adjacent 
property owner objected to the change of the wetland designations on the properties.  She also 
expressed her concerns regarding the stormwater drainage concerns that currently exist in the area 
and that they may worsen with the building of new homes on these three vacant lots.  Based on 
the discussion at that meeting and the fact that there could be high ground water table in this area, 
there could be a lack of maintenance of the dry detention basin in the subdivision.  There may be 
issues with downstream culverts. 


 
I have Matt here from engineering, and he and the Village Administrator and I think Aaron from 
my staff met with property owners to discuss this matter last week.  The amendments to the Land 
Use Plan Map and the Zoning Map are based on new wetland delineations that were performed 
by authorized biologists.  These are a separate issue to the stormwater issues, and we recommend 
that they be handled as such.  There’s two separate issues.  And we rely on the DNR and all the 
assured biologists in order to do these designations.  The Village does not do the designations. 


 
Current wetland delineation process and requirements pursuant to the Village Zoning Ordinance 
upon completion of a wetland delineation completed by a property owner by either the Wisconsin 
DNR, a DNR assured wetland delineator, a non-assured wetland delineator with written 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
24 


concurrence or approval from the DNR or a biologist from the Southeastern Wisconsin Regional 
Planning Commission, the owner shall submit the required applications that includes a wetland 
report, approval letters, plats of survey to amend and correct the land use plan map and the zoning 
map to match the findings of the wetland delineations which we have done many, many times 
before this Board. 


 
The Wisconsin DNR has determined that delineations are valid for five years.  Therefore, prior to 
any development where wetland may be located on the property, the Village requires that a valid 
new wetland delineation be provided.  Wetland delineations over the years, this subdivision and 
lots within this subdivision have had multiple wetland delineations over the years.  In 1992 the 
developer, the original developer, had a delineation completed by SEWRPC for the proposed 
subdivision which is represented on the final plat for the subdivision approved in 1995.  Wetland 
were located at that time on lots 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19. 


 
In 1997 the developer requested SEWRPC to complete a redelineation on lots 16, 17, 18 and 19.  
Note the wetland surveys were approved by SEWRPC in 2001.  The result of this wetland 
redelineation was that the wetlands had gotten smaller, no wetlands were found on lot 18.  These 
delineations reflect the current zoning designation on the map which is the C-1 designation.  
Since these revised delineations, homes were built on lots 18 and 19.  As noted above, lots 15, 16 
and 17 all had new delineations completed in 2018 by various wetland delineators.  Again, this is 
required since the last wetland delineations were more than five years ago.  This needed to be 
completed again before any new homes could be build on any of these properties. 


 
I wanted to talk a little bit about building permit requirements.  After the completion of the 
wetland delineation by a qualified wetland delineator, the planning can begin for the property 
owner or builder for the development of the site.  There are setback requirements that need to be 
met to property lines and a 25 foot building setback that’s required from the delineated wetlands.  
In addition to meeting these setback requirements, a grading and drainage plan is required to be 
submitted and reviewed and approved by the Village Engineer.  In general, the plans are reviewed 
to ensure that the grading plan does not cause water issues for the property owner or the adjacent 
properties.  Permits are not issued for the construction to commence until the grading and 
drainage plans have been approved. 


 
The builder for lot 17 has submitted and is working with the Village Engineer to prepare a 
grading and drainage plan.  This currently has no bearing on the outcome of the land use plan or 
the zoning map amendments since the wetland delineators have verified the location of the 
wetlands pursuant to the Wisconsin DNR requirements, and the map amendments being 
considered tonight correct the maps to reflect these findings.  The Village recommends that the 
builder/property owner verify soil suitability for building and determine the depth to groundwater 
to ensure that they are able to build a full basement if that’s what they’re requesting on each lot.  
In addition, the Village Engineer this past week has met with property owners and other 
interested parties to discuss the stormwater requirements for the lots prior to any permits being 
issued. 


 
With respect to ongoing stormwater issues, the Village Engineer and -- the Village Administrator 
and the Engineer were and they did coordinate a meeting with homeowners association 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
25 


representatives to further discuss this subdivision and the stormwater related issues.  And with 
that I guess I’m going to turn it over to Matt and maybe we can through some of these additional 
slides. 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Thank you, Jean.  What I’d like to do is just give you kind of an overview of the drainage of 
Countryside Estates and Foxmoor Estates.  So the areas that we’re talking about really includes 
two subdivisions.  One is Countryside Estates and the other is Foxmoor Estates.  They kind of 
abut one another.  In this slide that you’ll see what those dark black lines are are the drainage 
areas.  You’ll see two green areas outlined in blue on the east side of the slide.  Those are dry 
retention basins.  So retention basins for both these subdivisions are dry meaning they just have 
grass bottoms versus a wet water bottom. 


 
The areas going to those ponds, so if we start on the south we have Foxmoor Estates.  You look at 
the black line on the bottom, and about half way in between the two areas you see another black 
line going back through the subdivision.  That area of Foxmoor Estates drains to the Foxmoor 
Estates detention facility.  That’s about 43 acres that drains to the detention facility.  Countryside 
Estates to the north that drainage basin area drains to the Countryside Estates detention basin 
which is just north of the Foxmoor Estates.  It is also a dry pond through there.  So those two 
ponds then discharge to the bike trail area just on the west side of the bike trail.  And then there’s 
a culvert that crosses the bike trail, and then there’s a natural drainageway east of the bike trail 
area. 
When these subdivisions were developed there’s a couple things I guess I’d like to point out just 
for informational purposes.  One is the way stormwater is designed is I’d classify it in two ways.  
There’s minor systems and there’s major systems.  Minor systems being the storm sewers, catch 
basins, that type of thing, those are designed to handle a certain level storm even.  Once we go 
above and beyond that storm event then we start seeing overland flow areas.  Those are called 
kind of like major drainage areas.   


 
So when you have a significant storm even you’re going to see water running down the streets.  
You could see potentially water going in between homes.  And what that is is we want to make 
sure that in major events the overland flow route going down roads, in between houses or whatnot 
safely gets from high ground to low ground.  So we want to make sure that houses are above the 
road.  Things that block drainage are such that they aren’t affecting structures, that type of thing. 


 
In this slide you’ll see on the west side is kind of the high ground.  On the east side it’s the low 
ground.  So the orange there is the storm sewer systems.  Those storm sewer systems handle a 
certain amount of drainage.  Then after that drainage will start going down the streets.  And those 
detention basins then are placed on the low spot or kind of the low area of the subdivision to 
capture that drainage at that low end before it gets released onto the next property down the 
stream. 


 
Before these subdivisions were developed, take the Countryside Estates area, those areas kind of 
drain naturally to a wetland area which is kind of north of Countryside Estates, another green area 
there on that map.  That’s a wetland area.  It’s been there since before the subdivision was built.  







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
26 


When Countryside Estates developed they had a conceptual plan.  They kind of approached the 
DNR to utilize that wetland area as a detention facility, a stormwater management facility.  The 
DNR back in 1992 they have been consistent.  They don’t like detention facilities to be placed in 
wetlands.  So the developer was kind of forced to place a retention basin to the south of the 
wetland, hence all the stormwater from the storm sewers that they placed in goes to that retention 
basin and actually got kind of cut off from that wetland. 


 
The developer also in order to avoid that wetland kind of built around it.  So the cul-de-sac and 
the houses on the west side of that wetland are all built up, and the wetland was left kind of alone.  
So you couldn’t fill it or anything, so basically if you looked at it it’s kind of a bowl around that 
wetland because they couldn’t enter it and fill it in or anything. 


 
So at the last Plan Commission meeting there’s some pictures shown as far as water levels 
reaching that bike trail area.  And what happens is that bike trail area on the east side it was an old 
railroad track.  And that railroad track was sort of level, and if you look at any railroad track 
they’ve kind of built themselves up so it’s kind of like a long embankment or dam or whatever 
you want to call it, but that’s how it was built.  And then there’s periodic culverts that allow 
drainage to go from one side of the tracks to the other side of the tracks. 


 
So when the pictures were shown there’s water reaching the bike trail my first thing was to go 
back and take a look at it and take a look at what those bike trail elevations are.  So, for instance, 
you can throw enough water at that bike trail area you’re going to receive some ponding on the 
west side because it’s just naturally going to happen through there.  Before we go to the bike trail 
here, I also wanted to give a closeup of these detention areas.  So you have the Countryside 
detention basin, the Foxmoor detention basins, this a little bit more clearly shows the orange lines 
coming from those that discharge towards that bike path.  And then there’s another orange line 
which represents the culvert that goes from the west side to the east side of the bike path. 
The wetland area is kind of if you notice that green line through there that was the original 
wetland delineation that I kind of marked out there.  On this map as far as 1992 when the 
subdivision was being developed that’s what the wetland looked like out there in 1992.  And the 
developer then built around that area.  When lot 19 got developed, that was back around early 
2000 to 2001, that wetland delineation got redelineated and the wetland got smaller on that lot.  
So it went from the green line basically to the yellow line allowing that house to be placed where 
it is. 


 
Then as Jean was saying those wetland delineations have to be redone every five years because 
wetlands change.  In this case to me it makes a little sense that the wetland is shrinking because 
the hydrolics to that wetland changed when the subdivision got built.  All that drainage that used 
to go to that wetland is diverted down to those retention areas.  The red line there on lots 17 and 
16 is kind of the new delineation that’s done on those lots in 2018 just recently.  And those have 
shrunk from the green line.  And you can’t really see it on this slide from this distance, but I just 
put in a dashed line from there across lot 19.  It’s kind of interpolated.  It wasn’t delineated out 
there as part of the thing.  But there’s kind of an assumption that it would have still shrunk on lot 
19 although the delineator probably didn’t go and delineate lot 19. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
27 


So the way that bike trail area looks back there, once those ponds discharge to that bike trail area, 
that bike trail area is kind of a low spot.  So it’s a low area.  There’s kind of a shallow ditch on 
that side.  And then it goes up into kind of that outlot.  That wetland area is kind of a low area as 
well back there.  If you want to switch slides now.  So what this slide represents is kind of when I 
was talking about those major storms if you throw enough water at that bike trail area it’s going 
to build up to a level so it overtops that bike trail.  That area in blue represents the elevation.  
Once that bike trail is overtopped that’s the area or close to it anyway where the water would 
pond if you throw enough water at it. 


 
The pictures that were shown were taken in July last year.  July last year, around July 10th in that 
area, we received about seven inches of rain on those days.  It was a significant flooding event.  I 
heard about it from my assistant because I was on vacation, and he thought I left him to handle a 
lot of complaints that week.  So basically I think those pictures show that it can get to that level.  
But at that level then it overtops the bike trail and continues east.  Going to the next slide, this one 
just shows it without the topo lines.  Continue on. 


 
What I did then is I kind of took a look at both Countryside Estates and Foxmoor Estates because 
they were done in the early 1990s.  There’s some calculations in the file, but it’s not like a 
stormwater management plan that you’d see today with a narrative explaining exactly the lines of 
thoughts that the engineers had.  So I modeled those areas or remodeled them.  So I took those 
drainage areas that I showed you, I took the pond that are out there, I put it in a computer program 
if you will and started looking at what I would expect to see for ponding out there. 


 
This is blue area is what I would expect at the same level storm that our storm sewers are 
designed for.  So when our storm sewers are at capacity you’re going to get some level of 
ponding back there.  It’s really just natural ponding from kind of the headwater from that culvert 
that goes underneath the railroad tracks.  The red line being the maximum, again, the maximum 
level that you’d see the water at when it overtops the bike trail. 


 
And then from there so really the level of ponding if you will can go from zero all the way to that 
red line depending on the level of storm or the amount of rainfall you get and also from the 
condition of that cross-culvert.  That cross-culvert is a three foot diameter steel pipe.  It’s an 
original pipe from when the railroad was there.  Going out there the pipe itself is in very good 
condition.  But also the other things that can dictate how much ponding that you get through there 
is both sides of the culvert, both the upstream side and downstream side, what’s there?  Is there 
something that’s blocking stuff?  Is the culvert being used at its maximum capacity?  


 
What we found is, if you want to switch to the next slide, what we found is two things.  One is on 
the east side, the downstream side of the culvert, along the right of way line of that bike trail, old 
right of way for the railroad track, there is a wire fence.  It probably marked the right of way line 
of the railroad tracks.  That wire fence actually crosses the creek, and it in some areas you don’t 
even see it because it’s laying flat, it’s knocked over.  Across the creek it’s kind of like at maybe 
a 30 degree angle.  It goes up.  It’s catching debris.  So you can go out there and it’s got leaves 
and stuff on it and everything like that.   


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
28 


So there’s some obstruction on the downstream side of the culvert. With that we are going to 
contact Kenosha County and see if we can get that fence removed and that kind of blockage gone.  
On the upstream side of the culvert there’s a couple things that potentially could cause ponding 
more than you would see just from a natural storm event.  And there’s kind of yard debris, yard 
waste being placed back there that potentially can clog that culvert. 


 
You can go to the next slide.  So this is a picture that was taken last Tuesday when I went out 
there to just take a look at the situation.  The culvert, that’s the culvert that you can see crossing 
the bike trail, so that’s the upstream side going downstream.  Right there it’s about half clogged 
with debris on the front end in there.   If you look on the right side those are yard waste, tree 
clippings and everything else that’s piled there.  What happens if you throw stuff back there when 
it ponds it can collect that stuff and bring it down and actually clog that culvert.  Next slide.  That 
right there that’s kind of the old, I don’t know, I saw that pile back in 2016 as well.  That’s a 
place where somebody is dumping yard waste there.  That’s not too far from the culvert itself.  It 
is within an area that could get ponded and then stuff dragged to that culvert.   


 
So in the end when I looked at this drainage situation that wetland is going to be ponded to some 
extent.  It shouldn’t be ponded for very long.  It’s going to drain away through that culvert.  But it 
looks natural.  It’s not affecting anybody’s structure.  I don’t see that it’s getting high enough that 
it’s going to enter anybody’s basement.  When lots 16, 17 and 18 develop they obviously need to 
build their house higher than that area that potentially could be inundated or ponded for a little 
while, and make sure that those major storms can still go over the bike trail area if we get 
something that is over capacity of the cross-culvert. 


 
So that’s kind of the stuff that I saw out there as far as issues, problems.  I don’t know if I saw 
anything that was severe or anything like that.  The pictures that I saw, again, in times where we 
get either heavy rain events or less than heavy rain events and the culvert is clogged you’re going 
to get water backup like that for short periods of time. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


And it should be noted that this was the fifth wettest year in history for our area.  Probably since 
these subdivisions have been built the other two wettest yeas occurred, and we’re only like an 
inch and a half away from making this the third wettest year.  As you said these things are 
modeled after certain size events.  Anything beyond that overflows that capacity.  And we had 
multiple events as you said this year.  We’ve had multiple events over the last couple years, seven 
inch events, six inch events, five inch events in a short period of time.  And no system is designed 
to handle that.  And with the complication of the culverts and the debris and everything else that 
is a restrictions and we’re seeing these problems.  And I guess the Proctors probably see them 
because they live right there, too.   


 
But this is not only to this area.  This is Village wide, county wide people have seen these same 
issues because of these heavy rains.  So if we could control weather we could control better for 
flooding and ponding but we can’t do that.  You did a great job of identifying everything and 
especially if you notify the county that may solve some of the other problems there, especially 
maintenance on those culverts.  Mike? 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
29 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


If somebody could find in the Village records, I know that I went through probably 20 some years 
ago the property owners there the same issue of flooding.  It was just water backing up, and it was 
causing the wetlands to grow in that area.  And they came and gave the Village pictures that were 
taking in the ‘30s of the North Shore train stopping along the track in that area.  And there were 
no trees, and that land was all cropped in corn.  And the guy who brought me the pictures said at 
that time North Shore which was a byproduct of We Energies came out on a regular basis and 
cleaned out the cross-culverts to keep that land clear.  And his farmer was somehow connected 
with the farmer who farmed that land.  And when they didn’t do that then water started backing 
up. 


 
And as the train went away and it became just a vacant path then ultimately a recreation path, I 
think along the line maintenance either no one caught up with it, no one was taking care of it, and 
it doesn’t get as much maintenance as it did when there was a train on it.  But that was the 
beginning of the problems there because that was pretty well -- I mean it could flood when we 
had a flood, that was the topography of it, but it was maintained in a better manner.  And I think 
ahead if we could talk to Kenosha County and make sure that ends up on a regular maintenance 
cycle they could take a look at it.  We had kind of the same problem over at St. Joe’s on the same 
stretch of land where you have a low area by St. Joe’s Nursing Home and that area, we have an 
access to that one. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


President Steinbrink, if I can just add one thing.  Matt and I had an opportunity to meet with the 
HOA, and this was a discussion also as far as proper maintenance of their current retention pond 
as well as encouraging the homeowners in the area to make sure that they’re not dumping yard 
waste and debris, as well as even looking to have their own contractors every once in a while 
verify and check that that culvert isn’t being blocked.  And I think the HOA was receptive to that.  
I think they’re going to be approaching Foxmoor as well. 


 
The only thing I would add and just as a reminder is that Matt did a very good job explaining that 
when this development took place the wetland was a certain size, but it was receiving all of that 
water in the neighborhood.  As soon as DNR said we cannot use that as your stormwater retention 
it required the Village to mandate them to put in another stormwater facility.  And that basically 
routed all that stormwater to that alternative facility.   


 
It isn’t a surprise to staff that the wetland delineation  has shrunk because that area, they 
hydrology just is not receiving the water, the moisture that it once was.  That’s really the issue 
that’s before you this evening.  One thing that will occur is that by the delineation changing it will 
allow or permits the new property owners to modify elevation and things of that nature and 
protect their home from future stormwater.  But the thing that I think all of us can go away from 
tonight, and I think that Matt did a good job of explaining, is that it’s not going to change the 
elevation or the stormwater levels on the neighboring properties.  That really the maximum level, 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
30 


the dam effect if you will, is that bike path.  And at any given time that’s the maximum height 
that you would see water pool in that area. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


So what we’re saying is what we’re looking at tonight is not going to change anything out there.  
It’s just recording what’s been surveyed out and then adjusting our zoning to match that. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


That field to the east I’m guessing that’s lower than the ponding area or where the culvert is if it 
overtops the bike path?  The field to the east is -- 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Yes, the field to the east is lower so it actually continues on downhill to the east.  Once drainage 
crosses the bike path it heads east. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Are you looking for a motion? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Jean, are you done with your presentation?  Yes, we are. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Mr. President, I’d move that Ordinance 18-48 be adopted as presented. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adoption of 18-48.  Any further discussion?  Roll call vote has been 
requested. 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mike Serpe? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Aye. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
31 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Aye.  Motion carries. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move approval of 18-49. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for Ordinance 18-49.  Any further discussion on this item?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-48 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT TO 
COUNTRYSIDE ESTATES SUBDIVISION AS IT RELATES TO LOTS 15, 16 AND 17; 
SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; ROLL CALL VOTE – SERPE – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; 
POLLOCOFF – YES; KECKLER – YES; STEINBRINK – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION AND 
ADOPTED ORDINANCE #18-49 FOR ZONING MAP AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
32 


COUNTRYSIDE ESTATES SUBDIVISION LOTS 15, 16 AND 17; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 F. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Resolution 


#18-49 authorizing the submission of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation 
Facilities for Economic Assistance (TEA) Grant Application for public 
improvements in 104th Street (HWY 165) and Old Green Bay Road associated with 
the Main Street Market Project. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Village President and Village Board, before you is Resolution 18-49.  This actually comes as a 
recommendation from staff as we have reviewed and visited with the Main Street Market.  They 
have presented us numbers from Froedtert the ability to produce or guarantee 60 jobs that allows 
us to approach the Wisconsin Department of Transportation for a TEA grant.  We have -- 
basically the grant allows for $5,000 per job created in order to do transportation improvements 
and modifications.  So up to $300,000 would be the grant that DOT would be willing to support.  
And that requires a local match.  The Village currently has some transportation funds set aside.  
Specifically the Village Park improvement had about $187,000 set aside for this intersection.  As 
well as there’s some additional funds that have come from the Village Green Heights 
development for improvements along 165. 


 
In the end there will be some participation also from the developer, too, on their end.  And so our 
ability to fund that $300,000 is currently present and available.  Wanting to proceed with this 
application before the end of the year we’re bringing this resolution before the Board.  We will 
plan on bringing an amendment to the Main Street Market developer’s agreement in order to 
provide some additional assurances.  But that will be forthcoming.  But in order to get this 
application in before the end of the year we’re presenting this resolution to you tonight.   


 
For the purposes of the record or the minutes I’ll read the resolution.  The Village of Pleasant 
Prairie Board of Trustees Resolution # 18-49, resolution authorizing the submission of a 
Wisconsin Department of Transportation Facilities for Economic Assistance TEA grant 
application.  Whereas, the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Froedtert South have mutually agreed to 
develop a site and business to construct its Medical Office Building; and whereas, the agreement 
between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and the Froedtert South provides for 
construction/reconstruction of a public roadway redesign and reconstruction project to make the 
project feasible; and 


 
Whereas, given all the financial demand on the Village of Pleasant Prairie related to this project 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie is in need of assistance to make the transportation improvements.  
Without the grant assistance, the Village of Pleasant Prairie cannot reasonably afford to construct 
the required improvements; and whereas, the State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation’s 
Facilities Transportation Economic Assistance TEA program provides financial assistance to 
municipalities to develop transportation facilities required to enable industrial development to 
occur. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
33 


Now therefore be it resolved that the Village of Pleasant Prairie hereby authorizes the submission 
of an application to the Department of Transportation TEA program and authority is granted to 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie Administrator to take the necessary steps to prepare and file the 
appropriate application for funds under this program in accordance with this Resolution and that 
they are hereby authorized to sign all necessary documents on behalf of the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie. 


 
And be it further resolved the Village of Pleasant Prairie does hereby commit to fund at least 50 
percent of the cost of the public road improvements from the Village of Pleasant Prairie and/or 
other sources; and be it further resolved that the Village of Pleasant Prairie will have 
jurisdictional responsibility for the transportation improvements; and be it further resolved that 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie will sign a Jobs Guarantee with the Wisconsin Department of 
Transportation; and be it further resolved that the Village of Pleasant Prairie will administer and 
oversee the development of the transportation improvements; and be it further resolved that the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie will comply with all applicable Federal, State, and Local regulations. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Do we know when this is going to take place? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


The project itself, Main Street Market, they’re planning on doing the improvements I believe in 
2019 so this next year.  So the intent is to submit for this grant application and have these funds 
directed towards that project.  So for the benefit basically it’s Old Green Bay Road at the 
intersection of 165 all the way up to where Main Street will be.  I would note, too, that this 
project will be more significant than the $600,000 in total.  But basically Bear Development will 
be sectioning off a section of that project to equate to the $600,000.  Jean, would you add any 
other -- any other questions? 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


How would this be affected if the 60 jobs, if that final number is different, it’s lower or higher? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


That is a good question.  That’s where we will be basically needing to amend the developer’s 
agreement to make sure that that guarantee -- they know that they’re going to provide the 60 jobs.  
So if there’s less than 60 jobs then DOT will not be required to provide the full $300,000.  And 
then that cost would be on the developer and the Village. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


So the Village would not -- if we had to pay back some of that money it would be funded by the 
developer who guaranteed the 60? 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
34 


 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


That would be the intent of the developer’s agreement, the amendment to the developer’s 
agreement. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


If it came in at 70? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


We can’t ask for more.  Basically we’re saying this is what -- I mean we can always try but that’s 
not how it works.  Basically we’re capping it at the 60. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I recommend that we approve Resolution 18-49, State of Wisconsin for the TEA grant. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


WE have a motion and a second for adoption of Resolution 18-49.  Further discussion? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


This is where I asked if you had anything to add, but you’re shaking your head. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
35 


POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
AND APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-49 AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF THE 
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES FOR ECONOMIC 
ASSISTANCE (TEA) GRANT APPLICATION FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS IN 104TH 
STREET (HWY 165) AND OLD GREEN BAY ROAD ASSOCIATED WITH THE MAIN 
STREET MARKET PROJECT; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 G. Consider Resolution #18-48 to accept Addendum No. 1 to the Current Design 


Standards and Construction Specifications (2018) Edition and Incorporation of 
Amendments into the 2019 Edition. 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


Thank you, Mr. President, and members of the Board.  Every year we kind of re-adopt the spec 
instruction manual to have a new edition.  So this time is the 2019 edition.  And we try to save a 
lot of the amendments to one time during the year so we’re not making multiple changes during 
the year.  All these changes that we have before you are relatively minor, and I don’t want to 
spend a whole lot of time on it.  I know you guys are highly interested in the manual.  But what I 
will do is just give you a brief overview. 


 
For water main Section 2.3 we added a paragraph really to not allow four inch or ten inch valves 
which our standards are usually six inch or twelve inch or eight inch.  So that was changed.  We 
updated required record drawing information.  It’s really relatively minor, but we had some 
changes there.  In the record drawing and public improvements and private residential 
improvements we updated required GIS information, and most of those changes are naming 
conventions in order to get information from a plan set into GIS a little bit more easily. 


 
On our sanitary sewer construction specifications we just added a section for allowable pipe 
manufacturers.  We revised the maximum allowable adjusting rings on manholes, and that’s the 
same from sanitary and storm.  We added some additional requirements or clarifications on 
manhole chimney construction.  And we basically added a paragraph to disallow or not allow dog 
house manholes for sanitary sewer. 


 
For storm sewer, again, we changed the adjusting ring heights.  And then we did the same thing 
with the chimney seals to be consistent in all [inaudible].  We revised allowable catch basin frame 
covers, revised requirements for joint ties, and making sure that section grades were required on 
all end sections 15 inches in diameter or larger. 


 
For water mains we just revised the water main materials to match the new AWWA standards.  
We also added in their hydrant markers would be on all hydrants or new hydrants.  Added some 
clarification on materials and increased the number of safe water samples needed prior to placing 
the water main in service.  It current is one, and the standard will be two safe samples. 


 
For our roadway and sidewalk we just clarified the weight of a truck required for the proof rolling 
and revised curb and gutter joint and tie bar requirements, again, same as the other items.  Tracer 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
36 


wire which is the wire that you place on sanitary sewer or water mains in order for it to be located 
we replaced that section.  We replaced the entire section only because it was easier to do so.  But 
we added more clarifications on how to do tracer wire.  And then manhole and valve adjustments, 
again, those are just reflective of allowable ring heights and chimney construction modifications. 


 
Street trees a minor modification there.  We just added a requirement to keep them out of vision 
triangles.  We noticed a lot of plans are coming in and they showed them in the vision triangle so 
added a note not to do it.  And then all the details were just revised to match a lot of those 
changes.  So what is before you is just an addendum to make those changes, and then we would 
include those changes into the new 2019 construction specification manual. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I have an enormous amount of trust in what Matt has to say.  I think he’s proved himself over 
time how reliable and good he is.  I’d move approval. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Is there a specific type of dog house manhole we won’t -- 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


[Inaudible] bad enough it’s in the dog house [inaudible] allowing it. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
37 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-48 TO ACCEPT ADDENDUM NO. 1 TO 
THE CURRENT DESIGN STANDARDS AND CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS (2018) 
EDITION AND INCORPORATION OF AMENDMENTS INTO THE 2019 EDITION; 
SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 H. Consider Memorandum of Understanding between Village of Pleasant Prairie and 


The Addison of Pleasant Prairie for new polling location for Wards 13 and 14. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, can we take H and I together? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We sure can. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


And then actions separate. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


So moved. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS 6H. AND 6I. 


TOGETHER; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
38 


 
 I. Consider and approve Ordinance #18-50 to amend Chapter 98 of the Municipal 


Code relating to changes to Polling Places in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President and Trustees, before you tonight is a memorandum of understanding between the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie and The Addison of Pleasant Prairie.  The Village Administrator and I 
agreed that for non-public polling locations it would be beneficial to have a document outlining 
the expectations of a polling place.  This agreement sets forth those expectations.   


 
In particular, The Addison of Pleasant Prairie will become a public property on Election Day.  
The use of their facility, the community room, the parking lot, polling hours, access to the facility 
for setup and tear down of election community, election inspectors access to the facility prior to 
the opening of the polls and after the polls close, janitorial compensation, liability insurance, an 
option to terminate the agreement as well with a 120 day notice.  And that any material construed 
as electioneering and/or voter intimidation would be removed or shield at the facility.  And I 
further state that I’m confident of its ADA compliance facility, and it will accommodate the 1,700 
voters that will move into that location for Wards 13 and 14.  There is off street parking as well as 
on street parking, and there’s easy access to the community room.  There’s ample space for our 
equipment and tables for Election Day. 


 
Both The Addison and the Village’s attorneys have reviewed this agreement.  And I am 
recommending the approval of the memorandum of understanding with The Addison of Pleasant 
Prairie and look forward to a successful partnership with them for years to come.  


 
And with that, moving on to the Ordinance 18-50, obviously after the November 6th election it 
was apparent that a new polling location would be needed for Wards 12, 13 and 14 that was 
previously located at St. Anne’s Catholic Church.   


 
I am recommending to the Board tonight that Chapter 98 of the Municipal Code be modified as 
follows: That Ward 12 be moved to Caterpillar College Preschool located at 8411 Old Green Bay 
Road.  Caterpillar College Preschool is currently a polling location for the Village for Wards 6 
and 7.  So it will become Wards 6, 7 and 12.  Wards 13 and 14 will move to The Addison of 
Pleasant Prairie at 9651 Prairie Ridge Boulevard.  Both polling locations will continue to be 
located in the State Senate District 21, State Assembly District 16, County Supervisor District 17 
and Kenosha Unified School District. 


 
Please note that in January of 2019 the affected voters of these wards will receive the following 
notifications: a postcard mailing from the Village Clerk’s office and Village Newsletter;  there 
will be a change to the myvotewisconsin website as well as the Village’s website; there will be 
social media blasts sent out; Channel 25 and Kenosha News. 


 
So based on the foregoing I am requesting approval of Ordinance 18-50 establishing Caterpillar 
Preschool as Wards 6, 7 and 12, and The Addison of Pleasant Prairie as Wards 13 and 14 with an 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
39 


effective date of January 1, 2019, and all other polling locations will remain the same.  And I’m 
just looking for a motion on both of those items. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


What about liability for these facilities? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


We currently do that right now.  For the liability we give them our liability coverage.  And so 
during that particular day any injuries or anything related to our polling location being there, we 
provide them with coverage. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


It was unfortunate what happened with the negative publicity in the last election.  But what 
wasn’t said was the great job that you and your staff did on bringing that election to conclusion 
with virtually no hiccups, no road bumps.  Good job. 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


Thank you. 
 


Michael Serpe: 
 


And I’d move approval of the memorandum of understanding. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I second it. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Move approval of Ordinance 18-50. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 


40 


Dave Klimisch: 


Second. 


John Steinbrink: 


Motion and a second on 18-50.  Any discussion? 


Dave Klimisch: 


I’d like to follow up on what Mike was saying that I applaud you and your team to canvass the 
area businesses that have facilities that met our standards.  In a short time there was a lot to do.  I 
think we had 75, 78 percent turnout in the last election which could have overwhelmed a lesser 
community.  And you guys handled it in stride.  And to be able to find a facility that keeps Wards 
12, 13 and 14 in the same general area while still acknowledging the flow of the traffic impacts 
that could be an impact to those businesses I like the way the wards are moving around and I 
thank you for the time  that you put into it. 


John Steinbrink: 


Any other further discussion?  Those in favor? 


Voices: 


Aye. 


John Steinbrink: 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


John Steinbrink: 


Once again thank you.  Unfortunately the state and other people keep burdening you with more 
things that you don’t get paid for and all your helpers don’t really get paid for the extra work 
there.  It makes life difficult and don’t really listen to the common sense suggestions the clerks 
around the state give to these folks.  If they did that life would be a lot better and simpler and 
elections would go smoothly.  Thank you again for your work. 


SERPE MOVED TO ACCEPT AND APPROVE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND THE ADDISON OF PLEASANT 
PRAIRIE FOR NEW POLLING LOCATION FOR WARDS 13 AND 14; SECONDED BY 
POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
41 


KECKLER MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-50 TO AMEND CHAPTER 98 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO CHANGES TO POLLING PLACES IN THE VILLAGE OF 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 J. Consider and approve the 2019 Mobile Home License renewals. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President and Trustees, before you tonight are the 2019 mobile home renewal licenses for 
four mobile home parks in the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  It’s the City View Mobile Home Park 
at 4303 75th Street, Westwood Estates Mobile Home Park at 7801 88th Avenue, Timber Ridge 
Mobile Home Park at 1817 104th Street, and Scotty’s Mobile Home Park located at 5310 75th 
Street. 


 
According to Community Development staff there are several zoning violations that affect City 
View Mobile Home Park and Westwood Estates Mobile Home Park.  I’ve provided the Board 
with copies of those particular violations.  The deadline for complying with those deadlines was 
today, December 17th.  And at this point I’m not sure if they’ve been resolved or not. 


 
But moving forward with our renewal here, the building and inspecting department had 
completed their inspections and there were no violations there.  There are no delinquent taxes, 
fees, utilities or invoices.  And background checks have been completed by our police 
department, and no Municipal Court forfeitures exist.  All license fees have been paid. 


 
I recommend renewal of the mobile home park licenses for Timber Ridge Mobile Home Park and 
Scotty’s Mobile Home Park for the period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019 subject 
to the provisions of Chapter 221 of the Municipal Code.  I further recommend renewal of the 
mobile home park licenses for City View Mobile Home Park and Westwood Estate Mobile Home 
Park contingent upon resolution of the zoning violations as stated in the attached Community 
Development license renewal inspections and subject to the provisions of Chapter 221 of the 
Municipal Code. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


I move approval as outlined.  I do have one question about the fees that may be applicable, 
citations of $691 per citation per date may be issued. 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


I would have to defer that to Jean. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Whenever there’s an outstanding zoning violation after several months of noncompliance, if after 
we’ve given them a number of extensions we can go out and we can issue a citation to them for 
the noncompliance. 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
42 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


I just didn’t know if that was kicking in right now.  
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


No, no, we’ll give them this week. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


I second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
KECKLER MOVED TO APPROVE THE 2019 MOBILE HOME LICENSE RENEWALS OF 
TIMBER RIDGE MOBILE HOME PARK AND SCOTTY’S MOBILE HOME PARK FOR THE 
PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2019 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2019 SUBJECT TO THE 
PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 221 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE AND TO CITY VIEW MOBILE 
HOME PARK AND WESTWOOD ESTATE MOBILE HOME PARK CONTINGENT UPON 
RESOLUTION OF THE ZONING VIOLATIONS AS PRESENTED IN WRITTEN FORM FOR 
THE PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2019 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2019 SUBJECT TO THE 
PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 221 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
7. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I can’t remember their name, the couple that came and commented about Cooper Road.  I’ve 
noticed that -- and I don’t know why it’s happening where sometimes traffic is waiting on Cooper 
Road, they’re parking on this rural profile.  And the Village went to great expense when we did 
Cooper Road and 85th Street to provide a four lane curbed access all from 85th Street down to 
almost 85th Place for them to stack traffic.  And for them to stack traffic in the area that we didn’t 
make the improvement on, leave it unimproved, I don’t know what drives that. 


 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
43 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It’s driven by the need to get to that south parking lot for the younger students.  And they don’t 
want them to be lining up along the west side because it would block the parents going into the 
northern driveway.  So for those that are picking up from the preschool and from the earlier kids 
that are only there for portions of the day they wait on the road there.  When they open the gates 
then they can go into that southern entrance.  So there would have to be a conversation with the 
new principal. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


It’s the principal that’s -- 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


I mean it was causing a problem because they were queuing and they were stacking up, and they 
weren’t allowing for parents to come into that northern entrance, and that’s where the buses come 
in. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Is there adequate signage there? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


No, there’s no signage.  And really the drop on Cooper Road on the east side is pretty significant. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It is. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I mean it really isn’t -- people who live there won’t park there.  I don’t know if putting them there 
is safe at all.  I don’t know if that adds to the problem or makes it worse.  Maybe they’d want to 
help us widen the profile to the road farther south if they want to use it. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Trustee Pollocoff, I did note that staff will review and we’ll go back and revisit.  I can reach out 
to the principal. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


And in concern to the drain the man discussed on the Packard property that went nowhere, there 
used to be years ago a piece of pipe that ran along the property line next to the field there to the 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
44 


next property.  And my assumption was it was used to carry water away from the front of the 
property to the rear.  And I think somebody finally buried it if I remember right along that line so 
it disappeared.  But I have no idea where it goes. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I think that was blocked [inaudible], one of those tiles to nowhere. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Anything else? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Merry Christmas to everybody. 
 
8. ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO §19.85(1)(E) WIS. STATS, TO 


DISCUSS, DELIBERATE OR NEGOTIATE THE PURCHASE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY, 
INVEST OF PUBLIC FUNDS, OR CONDUCT OTHER SPECIFIED PUBLIC BUSINESS, 
WHENEVER COMPETITIVE OR BARGAINING REASONS REQUIRE A CLOSED 
SESSION. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


So moved. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion carries.  We will return to open session for the purpose of adjournment only.  No other 
business will be conducted. 


 
KECKLER MOVED TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION; SECONDED BY 


KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 







Village Board Minutes 
December 17, 2018 
 


 
45 


9. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 
 
SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE MEETING; 
SECONDED BY KECKER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETNG ADJOURNED AT 8:20 
P.M. 
 







1 


 


Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-01) to amend a 


portion of the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan, for the request of Nancy Washburn, agent 


on behalf of Harpe Development LLC, owner of the properties at the southeast corner of Old 


Green Bay Road and 104th Street (STH 165) for the proposed development of 6-3 unit 


condominium buildings and 14-2 unit condominium buildings to be known as Green Bay 


Trail Condominiums.     


Recommendation: On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing 


and approved Plan Commission Resolution #19-02 and recommended that the 


Village Board approve the Neighborhood Plan as presented in the January 21, 2019 


Village Staff Report. 


 


Consider approval of a Conceptual Plan for the request of Nancy Washburn, agent on 


behalf of Harpe Development LLC, owner of the properties at the southeast corner of Old 


Green Bay Road and 104th Street (STH 165) for the proposed development of 6-3 unit 


condominium buildings and 14-2 unit condominium buildings to be known as Green Bay 


Trail Condominiums.  


Recommendation:  On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing 


and recommended that the Village Board conditionally approve the Conceptual Plan 


subject to the comments and conditions of the January 21, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


 







2 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF JANUARY 21, 2019 


Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-01) to amend a 


portion of the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan, for the request of Nancy Washburn, agent 


on behalf of Harpe Development LLC, owner of the properties at the southeast corner of Old 


Green Bay Road and 104th Street (STH 165) for the proposed development of 6-3 unit 


condominium buildings and 14-2 unit condominium buildings to be known as Green Bay 


Trail Condominiums.  


Consider approval of a Conceptual Plan for the request of Nancy Washburn, agent on 


behalf of Harpe Development LLC, owner of the properties at the southeast corner of Old 


Green Bay Road and 104th Street (STH 165) for the proposed development of 6-3 unit 


condominium buildings and 14-2 unit condominium buildings to be known as Green Bay 


Trail Condominiums.  


THESE ITEMS ARE RELATED AND WILL BE DISCUSSED AT THE SAME TIME; 


HOWEVER SEPARATE ACTIONS WILL BE REQUIRED. 


 


Background:  On June 18, 2007, the Village Board approved the Final Condominium Plat, 


Development Agreement and related Exhibits for the Vintage Parc Condominium 


development which included 3-6 unit and 12-4-unit condominium buildings (66 units) at the 


southeast corner of Old Green Bay Road and 104th Street (STH 165).  Infrastructure 


construction began and some public improvements were installed including the mass 


grading and installation of the retention basin, underground utilities, utilities and binder 


course of the roadway including curb and gutter.  However, due to the downturn in the 


economy all of the required public improvements were not completed and no condominium 


buildings were built.  The existing Development Agreement remains in effect. 


In November 2018 the Village Board approved an Assignment of the existing 2007 


Development Agreement to Harpe Development LLC, the developer.  Harpe Development, 


LLC has agreed to assume all obligations of under the Development Agreement, including 


being financially responsible for the completion of the Required Public/Private Improvements 


in the Development.  Harpe Development, LLC has provided the Village with the required 


financial security (Letter of Credit), based on a 2018 Village Engineer’s cost estimate 


identifying the currently known outstanding construction-related costs for the Development.  


Additional financial security will be required to be secured by a Supplemental Letter of 


Credit based upon the new final engineering plans for the new development.  It is intended 


that a new Development Agreement will be entered into with the developer based on the 


new development plans and costs. 


Conceptual Plan:  At this time, the petitioner, Harpe Development, LLC (also referred to as 


the developer) is requesting approval of a Conceptual Plan for the re-development of this 


property.  The existing Vintage Parc Final Plat is proposed to be vacated along with some 


easements and the property is proposed to be re-developed with 6-3 unit and 14-2 unit 


condominium buildings (46 units) to be known as Green Bay Trail Condominiums.  The 


development proposes to utilize as much of the existing infrastructure that was installed as 


possible; however, the stormwater pond is being reshaped and some utilities would need to 


be relocated to allow for the new development layout. 


The 2 unit buildings will be ranch-style condominiums with a 2-car attached garage and a 


full basement.  Each building will have a 2 bedroom with a 2 bath unit that is 1,626 square 


feet and a 3 bedroom with a 2 bath unit that is 1,691 square feet.   


The 3 unit buildings will be two stories.  Two of the unit’s will be ranch style with a 3-car 


attached garage, full basements with 2 bedrooms and 2 baths.  One unit will be 1,617 







3 


 


square feet and the other will be 1,629 square feet.  The upper unit will have 2,276 square 


feet of living space on the 2nd floor with an entry foyer with extra storage space on the 1st 


floor that is 244 square feet.  This upper unit will have a 2 car attached garage (extra 


deep), 3 bedrooms, 2 bathrooms, an office, and a covered deck  


The developer anticipates starting construction this spring 2019 and projects that the 


development will be completed within 2 to 3 years.  In addition, the Developer has 


submitted draft Deed Restrictions, Covenants and Easements, along with conceptual 


elevations and floor plans for the proposed condominium buildings.   


Comprehensive Plan Compliance and Density:  The proposed development is consistent 


with the Village’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan, however, the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan 


is being amended to reflect the new layout and the reduced number of units (reduction from 


66 units to 46 units). 


Zoning:   The property is currently zoned R-10 (PUD), Multi-family Residential District with 


the Planned Unit Development Overlay District.   At the same time that the Final 


Condominium Plat is considered, a new PUD Ordinance will be created for this development 


(while the Vintage Parc PUD Ordinance will be repealed).   


Developing this site with a PUD Overlay will allow for a modification of a few of the Village 


Zoning Ordinance requirements provided there is a defined benefit to the community. The 


PUD will allow for more than one (1) building per property and slightly reduced street 


setbacks: 


 60 feet from STH 165  


 50 feet from Old Green Bay Road 


 25 feet from 105th Street and 65th Avenue (provided that from the edge of the 


garage to the sidewalk there is a minimum of 20 feet to allow a car to be 


parked in the driveway without encroaching into the sidewalk) 


 20 feet from the back of curb to the private drive cul-de-sac for units 13-17 


There shall be a minimum separation distance between buildings (including decks and 


porches) a minimum of 20 feet.   These reductions would be supported by staff in the PUD 


Ordinance provided that all units have individual entries with no common hallways, exterior 


materials are maintenance free and include increase elements of natural stone or brick 


materials.  Other community benefits include increased landscaping, and improved quality 


of architectural materials standards.  


The Village staff will begin preparing a detailed PUD Ordinance for review by the Developer 


when the Preliminary Plat is submitted.  The required public hearing for the PUD Ordinance 


will be held at the same time as the Village Plan Commission and Village Board considers 


the Final Condominium Plat and related documents.   


Municipal Improvements:  Municipal sanitary sewer and water shall be provided to 


service all of the condominium units within this development.   Sanitary sewer and water 


were installed by the previous developer; however, due to the reconfiguration of the 


buildings, some sewer/water mains and laterals will be relocated/extended.  


The storm water retention basin facility and storm sewers for this development has already 


been constructed/installed.  However, the basin and the storm sewers are proposed to be 


reconfigured slightly to accommodate the new buildings layout.   


Sidewalks are now required in all developments and will be required in this development 


pursuant to the engineers comments.  The Public roadways will be constructed pursuant to 


the Village specifications as noted in Chapter 405 of the municipal code, with some slight 


adjustment since a portion of the improvements are installed. 







4 


 


Platting and Certified Survey Map:   In addition to the required Preliminary and Final 


Condominium Plat, a Certified Survey Map (CSM) will be required to be approved to 


dedicate any new easements and to set forth additional restrictive covenants language.  As 


part of the Final Condominium Plat and CSM approval, the developer shall execute the 


Development Agreement, provide all Exhibits and provide a supplemental Letter of Credit as 


financial security to the Village as a guarantee for the installation, inspection and warranty 


of the remaining public improvements.   There is an existing Letter of Credit that was 


provided to the Village in December 2018 in the amount of $229,900.00.  Required 


modifications/additions to the Engineering Plans will require an addition or supplemental 


Letter of Credit as financial security to finish the remaining improvements for the project.  


In addition, the existing vacation documents for the existing Vintage Parc Condominium Plat 


and any existing easements that are no longer needed shall be submitted, approved, 


executed prior to recording the new Plat, CSM and other associated documents. 


Transportation Improvement Fees for the future widening/reconstruction of the Old 


Green Bay Road and STH 165 intersection in the amount of $187,453.11 have already been 


deposited with the Village.  These intersection improvements are anticipated to being in the 


late spring/summer of 2019 as part of the Main Street Market development. 


On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing and approved Plan 


Commission Resolution #19-02 and recommended that the Village Board approve 


the Neighborhood Plan as presented. 


Plan Commission recommends conditional approval of the Conceptual Plan subject 


to the above comments and the following conditions: 


1. The Conceptual Plan approval shall be valid for a period of one (1) year.  


Prior to the expiration of the Conceptual Plan, the Preliminary Condominium 


Plat, which satisfies the conditions of the Conceptual Plan approval shall be 


submitted and considered by the Village Plan Commission and Village Board.   


2. The following comments shall be addressed and included with the 


Preliminary Condominium Plat submittal: 


a. On the cover sheet use the current Government Contact list.  See attached. 


b. See attached comments from the Village Engineer dated January 9, 2019.   


c. All utility connections shall be located outside the driveway.  (Further discussion 


may be warranted.) 


d. See attached comments from the Village Fire Department dated December 13, 


2018. 


e. On Sheet C1.0 label the setback dashed lines along the perimeter of the site.  


These are not labeled.  


f. On Sheet C1.0 label the distance between the centerline of the driveway to the 


centerline of the adjacent public streets. 


g. Building 7 shall be adjusted and per parallel to the 65th Avenue when extended 


without the temporary cul-du-sac.  The setbacks should be measured to the 


right-of-way line not the back of the curb.  Verify that the distance between the 


back of the curb of the temporary cul-de-dac and the face of the garage is 20 


feet minimum to ensure a car can park in the driveway. 







5 


 


h. Adjust the driveways for units 15 and 16 so that they do not overlap. There 


shall be green space between the driveways.  The minimum setback that the 


Village will support for building 15 to the north property line is 60 feet.   


i. Where will snow be stored for the private cul-de-sac? 


j. Further discussion is warranted related to the placement of the required public 


sidewalks and street trees to determine if they be constructed/installed in the 


right-of-way or if additional easements will be required.  In addition, to verify if 


any existing street lights need to be relocated.  All building setbacks to the 


public/private streets will need to be evaluated to ensure that there is at least 


20 feet from the back edge of the sidewalk to the garage to allow a car to be 


parked in the driveway and not encroach into the sidewalk area. 


k. The following comments relate to the required Landscaping Plan: 


i. The Landscaping Plan shall utilize the grading plan as its base map. 


ii. The Landscaping Plan shall show all easements to verify that there are 


no conflicts. 


iii. The Landscape Plan shall include detailed plantings adjacent to the 


buildings, within the common space areas and around the stormwater 


pond.    


iv. The Landscape Plan shall provide foundation plantings around all of the 


units.  


v. The Landscape Plan shall clearly provide for and show the public street 


trees within the public right-of-ways or if they need to be located 


outside of the public right-of-ways then an easement will be required 


to be dedicated on the CSM and shown on the Plat.  The exact size of 


the any additional easements will need to be reviewed when revised 


engineering and landscape plans are provided. 


vi. The Landscape Plan shall indicate the species, location and both the 


planting and mature size of each particular type of tree/shrub. 


vii. The Landscape Plan (as a community benefit) shall provide a 


significantly greater amount and sizing of trees, bushes, and other 


plantings and of larger size along the properties outer boundaries.  


Further discussion is warranted regarding berms and other landscape 


elements which shall be included. 


viii. Show the location of the required development entry sign (two will be 


allowed at each street entrance).  The sign setback is 15 feet from the 


right-of-way and shall provide landscaping at the base of the sign. 


ix. Identify the common mailbox locations and mailbox details within the 


development and whether they will be landscaped. 


l. See attached comments related to the building elevations. 


m. See attached changes/corrections/discussion items comments related to the 


draft of the Bylaw and Declaration. 


n. The exact location and size of Utility Easements shall be verified with We 


Energies prior to Final Condominium Plat consideration.  Dedication and 


Easement Provisions and Restrictive Covenants Language as prepared by the 


Village shall be included on the CSM for these Easements.   







6 


 


o. All Utility, Storm Water, Retention Basin, Vision Triangle, Signage, Landscaping 


and other required Easements shall be shown on the Preliminary and Final 


Plats, Engineering Plans and Landscaping Plans. Dedication and Easement 


Provisions and Restrictive Covenant Language as prepared by the Village shall 


be included on the CSM for all of these Easements and the Dedicated Public 


Streets and any other easements yet to be defined.  This language shall also be 


included in the Declaration of Condominium.   


p. Further discussion is required related to the timing of the installation of the 


sidewalk within the development. 


3. Upon approval of the Conceptual Plan the following applications/documents 


shall be submitted (A pdf of all documents shall also be submitted): 


a. Preliminary Plat Application, and application fee. 


b. Full size copies of the Preliminary Plat-see application for number. 


c. 3 sets of Preliminary Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications. 


d. 3 sets of Landscape Plans (see comments above regarding plan 


requirements). 


e. 3 sets of building plans and elevations. 


f. Material/color sample board for the buildings.   


g. Ownership operational documents for Harpe Development LLC. 


h. Revised draft of Declarations. 


i. Articles of Incorporation for the Condominium Association. 


j. Revised draft of By-Laws. 


k. Draft of the Association budget for common area maintenance, insurance and 


other responsibility items. 


l. WE Energies application for Natural Gas/Electric for New Development for the 


Village to forward to We Energies with a PDF of the Engineering Plans.  


m. PDF colored rendering of the Preliminary Condominium Plat, Landscape Plans, 


Building Elevations and any other renderings to explain the project. 


n. Draft Certified Survey Map. 


o. List and drawing that clearly shows all of the easements that need to be 


vacated.  Is the Developer or the Village’s Attorney (at the Developer’s 


expense drafting the vacation documents? 


4. The Preliminary Condominium Plat shall only be valid for two (2) years from the 


Village Board’s conditional approval, during which all conditions must be satisfied and 


the Final Condominium Plat and Certified Survey Map shall be submitted.  If the 


property is not final platted within the two (2) years of the Village Board's approval, 


the Village shall require that the Plat be resubmitted for a new Preliminary 


Condominium Plat approval along with the appropriate filing fees. 


5. Upon approval of the Preliminary Condominium Plat the following 


documents shall be submitted for Final approval.  


a. Final Condominium Plat and all required documents noted in the application. 


b. Engineering Plans, Landscape Plans, Building Plans and any other documents 


required for the Development Agreement. 


c. Certified Survey Map application and related application fee. 


d. Zoning Text Applications and related fee. 


e. Vacation documents for the Final Condominium Plat and any existing 


easements. 







7 


 


6. Upon Village approval of the Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications, the 


Developer shall submit two (2) copies of the final Village approved plans and 


specifications so that the Village can request approval from the Kenosha Water Utility 


(KWU).   


7. Upon written utility plan approval from the KWU, the Developer shall obtain written 


approval from the WI DNR.   


8. The Village Public Work’s Department will prepare a cost estimate to be included in 


the developer’s Letter of Credit for the inspection, field staking and contract 


administration of the required public improvements.   


9. Upon Village approval of the Final Engineering Plans and Specifications, Landscaping 


Plan and Street Lighting Plan (if applicable) the following shall be submitted to the 


Village for staff review so that the Development Agreement and the recordable 


Memorandum can be finalized prior to Village Board consideration (all documents 


shall also be submitted as a pdf): 


a. A copy of the public sanitary sewer and water approval letters from the 


Kenosha Water Utility, WI DNR, and SEWRPC. 


b. A copy of all of the signed contracts, certificates of insurance, and performance 


and payment bonds.  The contracts shall have the Developer’s name as 


shown on the title of the property.  The certificates of insurance shall also 


list the Village of Pleasant Prairie as an insured party. 


c. A Policy of Title Commitment equal to the cost of public improvements. 


d. A copy of the signed public street tree/landscaping contract, five (5) paper 


copies of the Public Street Tree/Landscaping Plan and certificate of insurance 


(listing the Village as an insured party). 


e. Five (5) paper copies of the private Landscaping Plan. 


f. A copy of the signed We Energies contract and five (5) paper copies of the 


Street Lighting Plan including a copy of the We Energies electrical distribution 


system plan, if applicable. 


g. Erosion Control Permit application, plans and related fee including the required 


Street Sweeping Cash Deposit. 


h. Work in the Right-of-Way application, plans and related fee. 


i. Five (5) paper copies of the Final Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications.   


j. Five (5) paper copies of the Landscaping Plan. 


k. A “draft” supplemental LOC shall be provided to the Village for staff review.  


(See comment below related to the LOC.)   


10. At least two weeks prior to Village Board consideration of the Final Plat, Development 


Agreement and related documents the following shall be finalized and submitted: 


a. The Original Final Condominium Plat, 5 full-size copies and the State DOA 


approval letter.   


b. Final Memorandum of Development Agreement (to be drafted by the Village 


and reviewed by the Developer). 


c. Final Development Agreement (to be drafted by the Village and reviewed by the 


Developer). 







8 


 


d. Recorded Articles of Incorporation for the Condominium Association. 


e. Final Declaration. 


f. Final Condominium Association By-Laws. 


g. Title Report Commitment, updated the day before closing and again within 7 


days after closing and recording of the documents. 


h. Verification of taxes and outstanding special assessments being paid.  Any 


outstanding taxes, special assessments or invoices shall be paid prior to 


recording the Final Condominium Plat and Memorandum of Development 


Agreement. 


11. A one year minimum Irrevocable Letter of Credit (LOC) to the Village, in the amount 


of 115% of the total cost of public related improvements, including street trees, 


street lights, street signs, field staking, inspections and construction related services 


(including sanitary sewer, and storm sewer cleaning and televising), shall be 


submitted to the Village.  The Itemized Cost Breakdown Exhibit will be prepared by 


the Village staff to determine the amount of the Letter of Credit and the cash 


payments. IMPORTANT:  A draft supplemental Letter of Credit equal to the cost 


breakdown analysis (need to verify proper format and dollar amount of Letter of 


Credit prior submitting the Original Letter of Credit.  The Cash payments and the 


“Final” LOC shall be provided prior to the Village at the closing.   


12. If any of the condominium units are proposed to be used as a model or marketing 


office, a Conditional Use Permit application will be required to be submitted for 


consideration by the Village Plan Commission.  


13. The Final Engineering Plans and Final Condominium Plat shall be submitted to the 


Village in electronic format which satisfies the following acceptance criteria.  If you 


have any questions contact Matt Fineour, Village Engineer at (262) 925-6778. 


14. Upon Village Board approval of the Final Plat and within seven (7) days of said 


approval the Village will host a closing to have the Plat(s) and all of the Development 


Agreement documents signed.  The Developer shall be responsible for recording all 


required documents at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office and provide 


proof of recording to the Village within 72 hours of closing with the Village.   


15. Following the closing, the Developer’s engineer shall conduct a pre-construction 


meeting at the Village Hall with all of the contractors, utilities and Village on-site 


inspectors (meeting is required prior to public improvement field work commencing).  


Contact Jean Werbie-Harris to coordinate the pre-con meeting. 


16. This development shall be in compliance with the Village Land Division and 


Development Control Ordinance, the Village Municipal and Zoning Codes, the Village 


Construction Site Maintenance and Erosion Control Ordinance and the State of 


Wisconsin Statutes. 


17. All Village fees incurred by the Village Community Development Department, Village 


Engineering Department and/or expert legal assistant required by the Village 


throughout the development process will be billed directly to the Developer.  Such 


fees shall be paid in a timely manner.  Any conflicts between the Village Design 


Standards and Construction Specifications, Land Division and Development Control 


Ordinance will required compliance with the Village Design Standards and 


Construction Specifications. 


18. Impact fees are due at the time building permits are issued.  Currently, these fees 


are $1,490 per condominium unit.   







9 


 


19. All public and private improvements shall be completed, inspected, and Village 


approved including having sanitary sewer and storm sewer televised, water sampled 


with safe samples, roadways completed, electric and gas utilities installed, signage 


installed and as-built utility and grading plans submitted prior to the issuance of any 


building permits in accordance with the Development Agreement on file with the 


Village.  


DEV1812-003 
CODE1812-003 







ORD. # 19-01 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN  


2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 390 OF THE  


VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE 


 


BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, Kenosha 
County, Wisconsin, that Neighborhood Plan 14 of Appendix 9-3 the Lakewood Neighborhood 
of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan is hereby amended for 
a portion of Neighborhood generally located at the southeast corner of STH 165 (104th 
Street) and Old Green Bay Road for the Green Bay Trail Condominium development of 46 
units (formerly known as a Vintage Parc Condominium (66 units) located within U.S. Public 
Land Survey Section 27, Township 1 North, Range 22 East in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 
Kenosha County, Wisconsin and further identified as 92-4-122-272-0601 thru 92-4-122-
272-0666) and to update said Appendix as shown in the Exhibit A. 


The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record this Amendment 
to the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to update Appendix A 
in Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said Amendment. 
 


Adopted this 21st day of January, 2019. 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 


 
  
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 


  
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 


 
Posted:    
 
Ord #19-01 


 







Exhibit A 


Neighborhood Plan 14 of Appendix 9-3 


Lakewood Neighborhood 


 


A Neighborhood Plan for Lakewood Neighborhood was prepared and adopted by the Plan Commission 
on September 12, 2005 by Resolution #05-13 and the Village Board adopted a resolution of support 
for this Plan on September 19, 2005 by Resolution #05-52.  The Plan Commission and the Village 
Board approved the Plan except for the multi-family area located east of Old Green Bay Road between 
104th and 107th Streets and recommended staff re-evaluate this area.  The area was re-evaluated and 
this generally located at the southeast corner of STH 165 and Old Green Bay Road was approved by 
the Plan Commission on March 27, 2006 by Resolution #06-07 and the Village Board adopted a 
Resolution of support for this amendment on April 3, 2006 by Resolution #06-17.  This area at the 
southeast corner of STH 165 and Old Green Bay Road is being amended to reflect a new residential 
condominium development plan and a reduction of 20 units as approved by Plan Commission on 
January 14, 2009 by Resolution #19-02 and the Village Board adopted Ord. #19-01 on January 21, 
2019. 


The Lakewood Neighborhood is bounded by STH 31 (Green Bay Road on the west), STH 165 on the 
north and Springbrook Road (CTH ML) on the southeast.  The Lakewood Neighborhood Plan includes:  


COMMERCIAL AREAS:  Approximately 26.9 acres of land within the Neighborhood is identified as 
commercial—this Community Commercial area is located south of STH 165 between Old Green 
Bay Road and STH 31.  The Plan indicates that the only proposed commercial access to the area 
would be from STH 31 across from 108th Street, there would be no access on STH 165 and there 
would be two access points from Old Green Bay Road—one at 107th Street and one a 
approximately 105th Street.  Access to STH 31 requires approval from the Wisconsin Department 
of Transportation and would require approval of a Traffic Impact Study (TIA).  See additional 
comments below in the section entitled, “Access to Arterial Roads”.  In addition, this area includes 
a number of existing homes which would need to be acquired prior to commercial development of 
this area. 


RESIDENTIAL AREA:  Approximately 570.6 acres of land (excluding existing and future rights-
of-way, commercial, wetlands and floodplain) within the Neighborhood are proposed to be 
developed as Residential.  There are 297 existing single family lots within the Neighborhood and 
these existing residential developments in the Neighborhood include:  Springbrook Meadows; 
residential development along STH 165, Springbrook Road, 116th Street and Old Green Bay Road; 
residential development on 61st Avenue north of 116th Street and residential development on 
107th, 109th and 110th east of Old Green Bay Road.  The Neighborhood Plan proposes an additional 
299 single family units and 68 multi-family units.  The additional multi-family units includes 17-4 
unit condominium buildings proposed to be located south of STH 165 east of Old Green Bay Road. 


In accordance with the Village 2010 Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Neighborhood recommends that the Neighborhood be developed within the Lower-Medium 
Residential land use category with the average lot area per dwelling unit falling within the range 
of 12,000 square feet to 18,999 square feet per dwelling unit.  This allows for areas of the 
neighborhood to have larger lots while some areas have smaller lots.  The net density of the 
neighborhood as shown on Plan is 37,438 square feet per dwelling unit (570.6 net residential 
acres multiplied by 43,560 square feet in an area divided by 664 dwelling units). This density is in 
compliance with the Village Comprehensive Plan. 


The changes in the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan pursuant to Plan Commission Resolution 06-07 
and Village Board Resolution 06-17 generally affect the condominium unit and single family lot 
configuration south of STH 165 and east of Old Green Bay Road as specifically described below. 


 The location of the proposed 65th Avenue (running north and south from STH 165 and to 
107th Street) has shifted slightly east as it connects to 107th Street as a result of 
adjustments made to the condominium area at the corner and to accommodate setbacks 







to current property lines. 


 Minor reconfiguration of the single family lots as a result of 65th Avenue being altered was 
made.  


 The reconfiguration of the condominium area has changed slightly from 68 units to 76 
units.  The previous plan indicated 17-4 unit buildings.  The new plan proposes 3-6 unit 
buildings, 14-4 unit buildings and 1-2 unit building.  The six unit buildings are located 
adjacent to future commercial to the west and northwest; and 8-unit condominium 
buildings west of 65th Avenue and north of STH 165 (pursuant to the 2006 amendment). 


 The reconfiguration of the condominium area pursuant to the 2019 amendment would 
reduce the number of units in this area from 76 units to 56 units.  The new plan proposes 
6-3 unit and 14-2 unit condominium buildings (46 units) on the property at the corner and 
the 10 proposed condominium units to the east of the Green Bay Trail condominium 
development will remain unchanged. 


URBAN RESERVE AREA:  Most of the undeveloped areas located within this Neighborhood are 
located within an Urban Reserve Area, as defined by the 2010 Village Comprehensive Plan, 
indicates that the properties are not likely to be developed until after 2010 because of the lack of 
the availability of urban services.  All new developments will require urban services, including but 
not limited to municipal sanitary sewer, municipal water, urban roadways with curb and gutter 
and storm sewers.  If the property owners wish to develop their land within the reserve area prior 
to 2010, then the 2010 Comprehensive Plan shall be amended to remove the reserve designation 
and urban service would need to be brought to the area.  


OPEN SPACE:  This Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 52 acres or 6% of the lands 
within the neighborhood to remain as open space.  This open space includes approximately 11.4 
acres of floodplain and 40 acres of wetlands.  (This open space does not include additional open 
space for retention facilities as required for any development.)  


 FLOODPLAIN AREAS:  The Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 11.4 acres of land 
within the 100-year floodplain generally located at 61st Avenue and Springbrook Road 
north of 116th Street.  Prior to consideration of any proposed Conceptual Plans, floodplains 
within the neighborhood area shall be field verified in accordance with the Village 
floodplain maps and ordinance regulations.  Development in the floodplain is restricted to 
open spaces that do not interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any development that 
constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain storage volumes may create 
upstream and/or downstream flooding problems or reduce the capacity of the floodplain to 
store water.  In some instances property can be removed from the floodplain provided 
proper approval is obtained from the Village and several other agencies including the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from the floodplain through the 
placement of fill must be contiguous to (next to) land lying outside the floodplain.  In 
addition, the volume of floodplain removal must be created in the vicinity of the filled area 
on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the floodplain must be filled to an 
elevation at least two (2) feet above the elevation of the 100-year regional flood elevation.  


 WETLAND AREAS:  The Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 40 acres of land 
within wetlands.   Prior to consideration of any proposed Conceptual Plans, wetlands shall 
be field verified by a certified biologist in accordance with the Village wetland regulations.  
Some of the wetlands within the undeveloped area have been field verified.  Upon field 
verification of wetlands the plan may need to be altered in order to preserve the wetlands. 


RETENTION AREAS:  The Neighborhood Plan indicates areas within existing retention facilities 
and proposed areas for future storm water management facilities.  At the time that any 
Conceptual Plans are to be considered for any portion of the Neighborhood, the developer’s 
engineer will be required to evaluate the development site, based on actual field conditions and 
shall present a storm water management facility plan which meets the Village requirements.  







ACCESS TO ARTERIAL ROADS:  The Department of Transportation (WisDOT) is preparing a 
Corridor Study of STH 165 from STH 31 to STH 32.  This study upon its completion will indicate 
the amount of right-of-way needed for future expansion and the restricted roadway access to STH 
165.  The access shown to STH 165 is based on the best available information known at this time. 
 Prior to any development adjacent to STH 165, the WisDOT may require a TIA to be completed 
and the Village may require the developer to provide funds to the Village for the future 
improvements to STH 165.  The Neighborhood Plan indicates a new roadway at 65th Avenue, 60th 
Avenue and 57th Avenue with 59th Avenue terminating in a cul-de-sac.  Four (4) new street access 
points to Springbrook Road, two new access points to 116th Street and two new access points to 
Old Green Bay Road as shown  At the time that any portion of the Neighborhood is proposed to be 
developed, proper access will be required to adequately service the proposed development.  In 
addition, the long-range transportation plan indicates that STH 165, Springbrook Road (CTH ML), 
Old Green Bay Road and 116th Street should be improved or widened when traffic counts/new 
developments warrant such improvements. 


POPULATION PROJECTIONS FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The vacant portion of this 
neighborhood will not develop until the current property owners wish to develop their land; which 
makes neighborhood planning essential for the orderly growth of the community and establishes a 
framework as to how development should occur and, if and when it occurs.  The neighborhood 
plan is a guide for property owners and developers—therefore the population will increase on an 
incremental basis as the neighborhood develops over time.  Based on the 2000 Census 
information for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, the average number of persons per household is 
2.73 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 23% of the population.  


Current population within the neighborhood: 


 297 dwelling units--assumes that each existing lot has an occupied dwelling unit 


 811 persons (which includes 186 school age children) 


Projected populations within the neighborhood based on the total number of households 
proposed for this neighborhood when fully developed: 


 664 dwelling units 


 1,813 persons (which includes 417 school age children) 


The Village provides copies of proposed developments to the Kenosha Unified School District to 
assist in their planning.  A KUSD Master Plan is being prepared by KUSD staff to be completed this 
spring, which is to address growth in the District.  Pursuant to the information provided by the 
Kenosha Unified School District for Pleasant Prairie (.42 x number of dwelling units), a total of 279 
public school age children are likely to come from this Neighborhood. 


The changes in the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan pursuant to Plan Commission Resolution 06-07 and 
Village Board Resolution 06-17 provide for a slight increase in the residential units within the entire 
Lakewood Neighborhood from 664 dwelling units to 672 units, thus adjusting the net density from 
37,438 square feet per dwelling unit to 36,987 square feet per dwelling unit (570.6 net residential 
acres multiplied by 43,560 square feet in an area divided by 672 dwelling units). This density is in 
compliance with the Village Comprehensive Plan which provides that the overall net density for the 
Lakewood Neighborhood be developed within the Low Residential land use category with the average 
lot area per dwelling unit shall be 19,000 square feet or more per dwelling unit.  Based on the 2000 
Census information for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, the average number of persons per household is 
2.73 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 23% of the population.  
Therefore, this amendment would provide for a slight increase in the projected population and the 
number of school age children at full building out for the entire Lakewood Neighborhood.   


 672 dwelling units (an increase from 664 dwelling units) 
 1,835 persons including 422 school age children (an increase from 1,813 persons 


including 417 school age children) 







Pursuant to the information provided by the Kenosha Unified School District for Pleasant 
Prairie (.42 x number of dwelling units), the total number of public school age children that 
are likely to come from this entire neighborhood would increase from 279 public school age 
children to 282 public school age children. 


The changes in the Lakewood Neighborhood Plan pursuant to Plan Commission Resolution #19-02 
and Ord. #19-01 provide for a slight decrease in the residential units within the entire Lakewood 
Neighborhood from 672 dwelling units to 652 units, thus adjusting the net density from 36,987 
square feet per dwelling unit to 38,122 square feet per dwelling unit (570.6 net residential acres 
multiplied by 43,560 square feet in an area divided by 652 dwelling units). This density is in 
compliance with the Village Comprehensive Plan which provides that the overall net density for the 
Lakewood Neighborhood be developed within the Low Residential land use category with the average 
lot area per dwelling unit shall be 19,000 square feet or more per dwelling unit.   


This amendment would provide decreases in the projected population and the number of school age 
children at full build out for the entire Lakewood Neighborhood.   


 652 dwelling units (a decrease from 672 dwelling units) 
 1,748 persons including 488 school age children (274 public school age) 


[Note:  Based on the 2010 Census information for the Village of Pleasant Prairie the average number 
of persons per household is 2.68 (a decrease from 2.73 in 2000) and the average number of person 
per rental housing is 2.34 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 27.9% of 
the population (an increase from 23% in 2000).  Pursuant to the information provided by the Kenosha 
Unified School District for Pleasant Prairie the number of students that will attend public school is 
42% of the number of dwelling units.]  







Neighborhood Plan Map 14 
Lakewood Neighborhood 


Adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #05-13 and Village Board Resolution #05-52 


 
 
 







Neighborhood Plan Map 14 
Lakewood Neighborhood 


Amendment adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #06-07 and Village Board  
Resolution #60-17 







Neighborhood Plan Map 14 
Lakewood Neighborhood 


Amendment adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #19-02 on January 14, 2019 and by the 
Village Board on January 21, 2019 as Ord. # 19-01. 


 







  
 


9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 


 


Office of the Village Engineer 
Matthew J. Fineour, P.E.     MEMORANDUM 


 
TO:  Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner / Zoning Administrator 


 
FROM:  Matthew Fineour, P.E.,Village Engineer 
 
  SUBJ:  Green Bay Trail Condominiums – Conceptual Plan 
    
 DATE:  January 9, 2019 
 


 
Peggy, 
 
The Engineering Department has reviewed the concept plans for the above referenced project.  Based on 
our review, we have the following comments listed below and as noted on the attached plan mark- up 
sheets.  Refer to both this memo and the plan mark-up sheets for all engineering comments.  This review is 
cursory based on the conceptual information provided.  Additional comments will be provided as the plans 
are refined and detailed plans are submitted. 
 
See comments on attached mark-up plan sheets.   


 
1. Only plan sheets with comments are included. 


 
2. Comments that apply to multiple locations are not repeated for every occurrence 


 
Site Plan 
 


1. Eliminate the curves in the sidewalk at the private drive (cul-de-sac) crossing. 
 


2. Show the potential future road extensions for 65th Avenue and 105th Street at the temporary cul-de-
sacs. 
 


3. A street section plan shall be developed addressing the locations of existing utilities and placement 
of new sidewalks, street trees, water service valves, and any other new utility service within the 
right-of-way.  Additional right-of-way and/or easements shall be provided as may be applicable to 
accommodate all the improvement locations. 
 


4. The private cul-de-sac will need to be owned and maintained by the condominium association, 
including snow plowing.    
 


5. Pavement Legend: The existing asphalt binder on the public roadways will need to be removed and 
replaced prior to the final asphalt surface. 
 


6. The following comments pertain the proposed sidewalks: 
 


a. Extend sidewalk along Old Green Bay Road from 105th Street to STH 165.  The design of this 
segment will need to be coordinated with the Bear Reality, the Developer of Main Street 
Market, and the planned Old Green Bay Road / STH 165 roadway improvements. 


 
b. Extend the sidewalks on both sides of 65th Avenue to STH 165.  Also, extend the sidewalks 


south to the temporary cul-de-sac. 







P a g e  | 2 
Memo – Green Bay Trails Condominiums 
January 9, 2019 
 


9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 


 


 
c. Either extend an internal private sidewalk along STH 165 or the Developer shall be contribute 


the cost for a future sidewalk within the STH 165 right-of-way, as estimated by the Village. 
 
Overall Grading  


 
7. No comments based on the conceptual information provided.  A detailed review will be completed 


when civil engineering plans are submitted. 
 


8. Pond storage information will need to be provided for the proposed reconfiguration. 
 
Overall Utility Plan 
 


9. List the size(s) of the existing sewer and water laterals.  
 


10. Existing and proposed sump pump lateral information shall be provided.  Sump laterals shall be 
provided for each building. 
   


11. The following questions and comments pertain to planned utility configuration, customer, and 
ownership responsibilities for the sewer and water laterals.  The Village Water Utility must be able 
to valve off each lateral separately so as to not affect service to another independent customer.   


 
a. The duplexes shall be serviced with a lateral / meter to each unit.  Where possible, the 


existing lateral can be branched with individual service valves for each unit.  A detail of the 
service modification package shall be provided for review. 


 
b. It is our understanding that each unit within the 3-family will be individually owned.  Each 


unit will require a separate lateral, service valve, and meter.  Further information regarding 
how the existing lateral will be utilized / branched and or new laterals shall be provided for 
review. 
 


c. Identify who is responsible for the maintenance of the sewer, water, and sump laterals 
outside and within the buildings and specifically clarify in the Condominium Declarations.  
The current document seems to exempt service laterals from as a Common Element.  


 
12. Plan and profile sheets will need to be provided for the proposed public sanitary sewer and water 


main extensions.  Applicable approvals from Kenosha Water Utility and WDNR will need to be 
obtained after Village approval of the plans. 


 
Public Roadway, Sanitary Sewer, Water, and Storm Sewer 
 


1. The subdivision roadways and public infrastructure were never completed or accepted by the 
Village.  The roadway section as original designed is 5-inches of asphalt (3.5” binder course; 1.5” 
surface course) on 12-inch aggregate base.  The roadways are currently built to binder course. This 
section does not meet the Village’s current standards, which includes 7-inches of concrete with a 
1.75” asphalt surface course.   The development may proceed with the original section design, 
however, the existing binder will need to be removed and replaced prior to final paving of the 
surface course.  
 


2. The existing binder shall be used for a construction surface until the condominums are completed 
and the roadway is ready for final paving.  Developer shall submit information about the order of 
building construction for further review of final paving timing. 
 


3. The condition of the existing roadway, water, sanitary, and storm sewer infrastructure within the 
development must be reviewed by the Public Works Department to determine if any repairs or 







P a g e  | 3 
Memo – Green Bay Trails Condominiums 
January 9, 2019 
 


9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 


 


deficiencies will need be completed. This will include televising the sanitary sewer and storm 
sewers and a field review.  The Developer shall pay the costs of the televising and inspections 
along with completing any repairs or deficiencies. 


 
4. Any existing utility laterals (sanitary, water, storm) not utilized are required to be abandoned and 


plugged at the main. 
 


5. Street trees shall be located within the public right-of-way meeting Village spacing and species 
standards.  Per previous comment, a street section shall be provided regarding placement of trees 
and other infrastructure in the right-of-way. 
 


6. The pond is required to have an aerator or fountain installed. 
 


7. All existing fire hydrants shall be field modified to provide a storz pumper nozzle. 
 
Other / Miscellaneous 


 
8. Development improvements shall meet design and construction standards set forth in Chapter 405 


of the Village Ordinance.  Chapter 405 – Design Standards and Construction Specification can be 
obtained on the Village website, under the engineering department page. 


 
9. Upon approval of the conceptual plan, detailed civil improvement plans will need to be submitted for 


review including: 
 


a. Grading and erosion control plans. 
b. Site utility plans including modifications and additional improvements. 
c. Roadway improvement plans. 
d. Landscape and street tree plans. 
e. Project construction and specification manual for all the public improvements. 


 
10. The civil plans and project manual shall detail the completion of the roadway construction.  This 


includes items such as binder removal, manhole and valve adjustments, storm inlet adjustments, 
etc. 


 
The conceptual plans have been reviewed for conformance with generally accepted engineering practices 
and Village policies.  Although the data has been reviewed, the design engineer is responsible for the 
thoroughness and accuracy of plans and supplemental data and for their compliance with all state and local 
codes, ordinances, and procedures.  Modifications to the plans, etc. may be required should errors or 
changed conditions be found at a future date and as additional information is provided. 
 
*** 


 







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C0.0


TITLE SHEET


SHEET INDEX
C0.0 TITLE SHEET


SITE CIVIL


C1.0 OVERALL PAVEMENT ID AND DIMENSION PLAN


C2.0 OVERALL GRADING  PLAN


C3.0 OVERALL UTILITY PLAN


CUSTOM DUPLEX BUILDING


1 OF 4 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


2 OF 4 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


3 OF 4 BUILDING FOUNDATION PLAN


4 OF 4 BUILDING FIRST FLOOR PLAN


3-FAMILY CONDO BUILDING


1 OF 5 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


2 OF 5 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


3 OF 5 BUILDING FOUNDATION PLAN


4 OF 5 BUILDING FIRST FLOOR PLAN


5 OF 5 BUILDING SECOND FLOOR PLAN


SITE MAP


SITE BENCHMARK:


BM 1 - NE FLANGE BOLT ON FIRST HYDRANT EAST OF
INTERSECTION BETWEEN STH 165 & OLD GREEN BAY
RD. NORTH SIDE OF STH 165.
ELEVATION = 733.54


BM 2 - RAILROAD SPIKE ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE 5TH
POWER POLE EAST OF INTERSECTION BETWEEN STH
165 & OLD GREEN BAY RD. NORTH SIDE OF STH 165.
ELEVATION = 741.51


SITE DATA
TOTAL LOT AREAS:    475,785 SF
NO. OF UNITS: 46 UNITS


VOPP ENG REVIEW
PLAN MARK UP


JANUARY 9, 2019







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C1.0


OVERALL SITE
PAVEMENT I.D. AND
DIMENSION PLAN


ELIMINATE
CURVE IN
SIDEWALK;
RELOCATE LIGHT


EXISTING BINDER
TO BE REMOVED
AND REPLACED AS
WELL


FUTURE ROAD
EXTENSION


ADEQUTE SNOW
STORAGE  AREA
WITH ALL THE
DRIVEWAYS?


PROVIDE SIDEWALK ALONG OLD
GREEN BAY ROAD FROM 105TH
STREET TO INTERSECTION. 
COORDINATE LOCATION / DESIGN
WITH MAIN STREET MARK
DEVELOPMENT


PROVIDE INTERNAL
PRIVATE SIDEWALK
ALONG 104 STREET TO
CREATE LOOP OR
CONTRIBUTE COST OF
FUTURE SIDEWALK
ALONG 104TH STREET


EXTEND SIIDEWALK TO
INTERSECTION ON
BOTH SIDES OF THE
ROADWAY


66.0 ft
37.0 ft


8.5 ft


14.5 ft


RECONFIGURE
CROSSING TO
TYPE 2


EXTEND
SIDEWALKS TO
CUL-DE-SAC


CREATE A STANDARD CROSS SECTION
THAT ADDRESSES SIDEWALK, STREET
TREES, WATER SERVICE VALVE
PLACEMENT, EXISTING UTILITIES AND
ANY OTHER APPLICABLE UTILITY
SERVICES.  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL ROW
AND/OR EASEMENTS AS MAY BE
APPLICABLE.


POND AERATOR
/ FOUNTAIN
REQUIRED


CONCEPTUAL
FUTURE
SIDWALK


EVALUATE ADJUSTING
BUILDINGS ETC. TO PROVIDE
BETTER DRIVEWAY
SEPERATION. 







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C2.0


OVERALL GRADING PLAN


SHOW EXISTNG
STORM


POND AERATOR
/ FOUNTAIN
REQUIRED


REVIEW TO BE COMPLETED WITH
ENGINEERING PLAN SUBMITTAL


UPDATE GRADING
PLAN WITH
PROPOSED
CONTOURS ETC.







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C3.0


OVERALL UTILITY PLAN


SAN LAT: 6" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 6" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


UNUSED EXISTING
LATERALS TO BE
ABANDONED AND
PLUGGED AT MAIN
(TYP)


EXISTING 6"
WM TO BE
REMOVED


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


SAN LAT: 4" PVC
WTR LAT: 4" PVC


PROVIDE SEPERATE
LATERAL OR Y WITH
INVIDUAL SERVICE
VALVES TO EACH DUPLEX
UNIT


SUMP PUMP LATERAL
INFORMATION SHALL BE


PROVIDED.  SUMP LATERALS
SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR EACH


BUILDING


ADDITIONAL INFORMATION /
DISCUSSION IS NEEDED
REGARDING WATER SERVICE
PACKAGE / METER SET UP FOR
3-FAMILY BUILDINGS


NEED A LATERAL /
SERVICE VALVE FOR
EACH UNIT. PROVIDE
CONFIGURATION FOR
REVIEW. (TYP)


ADD FIRE
HYDRANT PER
FIRE DEPT
REQUIREMENT


EXISTING FIRE HYDRANTS
TO BE FIELD MODIFIED TO
PROVID STORZ PUMPER


NOZZLE.


PUBLIC SANITARY SEWER AND
WATER MAIN ACCESS AND
MAINTENANCE EASEMENT
REQUIRED.


PUBLIC WORKS
COMMENT: 
LATERALS TO BE
LOCATED OUTSIDE
DRIVEWAYS







 


 


 


 


8044 88th Avenue  Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2015  Phone 262.694.8027  Fax 262.697.1901  pleasantprairiewi.gov 


 


Office of the Chief of Fire & Rescue  
Craig Roepke 


 
 
 


VILLAGE STAFF MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director 


FROM:  Craig Roepke, Chief Fire & Rescue 


CC:  Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner, Community Development 


SUBJECT: Conceptual plan for Green Bay Trail Condos 


Trakit/Permit#: DEV1812-003 


DATE:  December 13, 2018 


 


These are initial comments for the Conceptual Plan received for the Green Bay Trail Condos project 


The Fire & Rescue Department have the following comments regarding the above project. 


1. See attached markup – Add or relocate hydrant to SW corner as shown. May utilize a hydrant from either 
dual set of hydrants (hydrants across from each other) located in project. 


2. Refit all hydrants on project area to the Storz pumper nozzle, replacing the existing 4-1/2” Kenosha 
standard thread. This is a field changeable operation. 


 







Governing Agency Contacts 
 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE HALL 
 9915 39TH STREET 
 PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WI  53158 
 OFFICE: (262) 694-1400 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 JEAN WERBIE-HARRIS, DIRECTOR PLANNING, ZONING ADMINISTRATOR       
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6718 
 EMAIL: jwerbie-harris@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
 PEGGY HERRICK 


ASSISTANT PLANNER & ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6716 
 EMAIL: pherrick@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 


AARON KRAMER 
DEPUTY PLANNER & ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 


 OFFICE: (262) 925-6711 
 EMAIL: akramer@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
  ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
 MATT FINEOUR, P.E. 
           VILLAGE ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6778 
 EMAIL: mfineour@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
 KURT DAVIDSEN, P.E. 


ASSISTANT VILLAGE ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6728 
 EMAIL: kdavidsen@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
  PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
 JOHN STEINBRINK, JR., P.E.  
 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS 


ROGER PRANGE MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
 8600 GREEN BAY ROAD 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6768 
           EMAIL: jsteinbrink@pleasantprairiewi.gov 


 
 STEVE WLAHOVICH 


CONSTRUCTION MANAGER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6767 
 EMAIL: swlahovich@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
  



mailto:jwerbie-harris@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:pherrick@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:akramer@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:mfineour@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:kdavidsen@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:jsteinbrink@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:swlahovich@pleasantprairiewi.gov





BUILDING INSPECTION DEPARTMENT 
 SANDRO PEREZ 


BUILDING INSPECTION SUPERINTENDENT  
 OFFICE: (262) 694-9304 
 DIRECT: (262) 925-6722 
 EMAIL: sperez@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 


DONALD KOEHNE 
BUILDING INSPECTOR 
OFFICE:  (262) 694-9304 
EMAIL:  dkoehne@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
MICHAEL KAPRELIAN 
BUILDING INSPECTOR 
OFFICE: (262) 694-9304 
EMAIL:  mkaprelian@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 


FIRE & RESCUE DEPARTMENT  
 CRAIG ROEPKE,  
 CHIEF OF FIRE & RESCUE 
 8044 88TH AVENUE 
 OFFICE: (262) 694-8027  
 EMAIL: croepke@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
 AARON LONGRIE 
 ASSISTANT FIRE CHIEF  
 OFFICE: (262) 694-8027 
 EMAIL: alongrie@pleasantprairiewi.gov 


 


Public Utility Contacts 
 
AMERICAN TRANSMISSION COMPANY   


BRIAN MCGEE 
 OFFICE: (262) 506-68955 
 EMAIL: bmcgee@atcllc.com 


EMERGENCY NUMBER: (800) 972-5341 
 
WISCONSIN DOT 
 ART BAUMANN 
 TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 548-6707 
 EMAIL: art.baumann@dot.wi.gov 
  


KEVIN KOEHNKE, P.E. 
PERMITS COORDINATOR 


 OFFICE: (262) 548-5891  
 EMAIL: kevin.koehnke@dot.wi.gov  
 
  



mailto:sperez@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:dkoehne@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:mkaprelian@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:croepke@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:alongrie@pleasantprairiewi.gov

mailto:art.baumann@dot.wi.gov

mailto:kevin.koehnke@dot.wi.gov





AT&T 
 MIKE TOYEK 
 OFFICE: (262) 636-0549 
 EMAIL: mt1734@att.com  
 
TDS TELECOM 
 SOUTHEAST WISCONSIN 
 OFFICE: (877) 483-7142 
 
TIME WARNER CABLE/SPECTRUM 
 STEVE CRAMER 
 UTILITY COORDINATOR 
 OFFICE: (414) 277-4045 
 EMAIL: steve.cramer@twcable.com  


EMERGENCY NUMBER:  (800) 627-2288 
 
WEC ENERGY GROUP 


JOEL BUROW 
 CEM MANAGER 
 OFFICE: (414) 221-3192 


EMAIL: joel.burrow@wecenergygroup.com 
 


WE-ENERGIES 
ALLIE KLAWINSKI 
SR. SERVICE MANAGER 
OFFICE: (262) 552-3227 
EMAIL: allie.klawinski@we-energies.com 
 
MICHAEL BAKER 
CUSTOMER SERVICE MANAGER 
OFFICE: (262) 886-7041 
EMAIL: michael.baker@we-energies.com 
 
HUSSAIN BIYAWERWALA 
SENIOR ENGINEER 
OFFICE: (262) 886-7074 
EMAIL: hussain.biyawerwala@we-energies.com 
 
BRANDON ERTS 
GAS ENGINEERING 
OFFICE: (414) 221-3654 
EMAIL: Brandon.erts@we-energies.com 
 


 NATURAL GAS EMERGENCY: (800) 261-5325  
 


ELECTRICAL EMERGENCY:  (800) 662-4797  


 
  



mailto:mt1734@att.com

mailto:steve.cramer@twcable.com

mailto:joel.burrow@wecenergygroup.com

mailto:allie.klawinski@we-energies.com

mailto:michael.baker@we-energies.com

mailto:hussain.biyawerwala@we-energies.com

mailto:Brandon.erts@we-energies.com





WI Department Of Natural Resources 
 
 TRAVIS SCHROEDER  


WATER MANAGEMENT SPECIALIST  
 OFFICE: (262) 574-2171 
 EMAIL: travis.schroeder@wisconsin.gov 
 


PETER WOOD, P.E. 
 WATER RESOURCES ENGINEER  
 OFFICE: (262) 884-2360 
 EMAIL: peter.wood@wisconsin.gov 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rev 11-2018 



mailto:peter.wood@wisconsin.gov





































































































pherrick

Text Box



pherrick

Text Box



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Typewritten Text

Existing Portion of the Neighborhood Plan 



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Callout

AREA OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD PLAN TO BE AMENDED PURSUANT TO THE ATTACHED  CONCEPTUAL PLAN--reduce the number of units from 66 to 46 condominium units







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C1.0


OVERALL SITE
PAVEMENT I.D. AND
DIMENSION PLAN



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

104TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

S.T.H.   "165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF WOODS



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 3 32,200 SF GREEN SPACE: 63.9% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 4 160,808 SF GREEN SPACE: 71.6% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 2 46,160 SF GREEN SPACE: 64.3% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 1 236,697 SF GREEN SPACE: 70.7% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

PRIVATE DRIVE CUL-DE-SAC



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED POND OUTLINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH   AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT LIGHT DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PATIO FINAL ASPHALT PAVEMENT LIFT  FOR PUBLIC ROADWAY TO BE  INCLUDED 



AutoCAD SHX Text

PAVEMENT LEGEND		



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C2.0


OVERALL GRADING PLAN



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

743



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

722



AutoCAD SHX Text

724



AutoCAD SHX Text

724



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

743



AutoCAD SHX Text

744



AutoCAD SHX Text

744



AutoCAD SHX Text

745



AutoCAD SHX Text

745



AutoCAD SHX Text

746



AutoCAD SHX Text

746



AutoCAD SHX Text

748



AutoCAD SHX Text

750



AutoCAD SHX Text

752



AutoCAD SHX Text

754



AutoCAD SHX Text

755



AutoCAD SHX Text

104TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

S.T.H.   "165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF WOODS



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.62



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.80



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.80



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.65



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=738.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.03



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.37



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.09



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.89



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.69



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.15



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.15



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.30



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.45



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

730.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATED TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

REVISED POND OUTLINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH   AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'











pherrick

Rectangle











PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C0.0


TITLE SHEET


SHEET INDEX
C0.0 TITLE SHEET


SITE CIVIL


C1.0 OVERALL PAVEMENT ID AND DIMENSION PLAN


C2.0 OVERALL GRADING  PLAN


C3.0 OVERALL UTILITY PLAN


CUSTOM DUPLEX BUILDING


1 OF 4 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


2 OF 4 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


3 OF 4 BUILDING FOUNDATION PLAN


4 OF 4 BUILDING FIRST FLOOR PLAN


3-FAMILY CONDO BUILDING


1 OF 5 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


2 OF 5 BUILDING ELEVATION PLAN


3 OF 5 BUILDING FOUNDATION PLAN


4 OF 5 BUILDING FIRST FLOOR PLAN


5 OF 5 BUILDING SECOND FLOOR PLAN


SITE MAP


SITE BENCHMARK:


BM 1 - NE FLANGE BOLT ON FIRST HYDRANT EAST OF
INTERSECTION BETWEEN STH 165 & OLD GREEN BAY
RD. NORTH SIDE OF STH 165.
ELEVATION = 733.54


BM 2 - RAILROAD SPIKE ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE 5TH
POWER POLE EAST OF INTERSECTION BETWEEN STH
165 & OLD GREEN BAY RD. NORTH SIDE OF STH 165.
ELEVATION = 741.51


SITE DATA
TOTAL LOT AREAS:    475,785 SF
NO. OF UNITS: 46 UNITS



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH AVE



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

106TH ST     -     S.T.H.  '165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 4 160,809 SF GREEN SPACE: 71.6% 15 UNITS 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 3 32,120 SF GREEN SPACE: 63.9% 3 UNITS 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 2 46,159 SF GREEN SPACE: 64.3%  6 UNITS



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 1 236,697 SF GREEN SPACE: 70.7% 22 UNITS 



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

80'



AutoCAD SHX Text

80'



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCEPTUAL PLANS FOR GREEN BAY TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN DECEMBER 10, 2018



AutoCAD SHX Text

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT JEAN WERBIE-HARRIS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR PLANNING, ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6718 262-925-6718 FAX:  262-925-6787  262-925-6787 EMAIL: jwerbie-harris@plprairiewi.com  PEGGY HERRICK ASSISTANT PLANNER & ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6716 262-925-6716 FAX:  262-925-6787  262-925-6787 EMAIL: pherrick@plprairiewi.com  ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT MATT FINEOUR, P.E. VILLAGE ENGINEER 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6778 262-925-6778 FAX:  262-925-6786  262-925-6786 EMAIL: mfineour@plprairiewi.com  KURT DAVIDSEN, P.E. ASSISTANT VILLAGE ENGINEER 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6728 262-925-6728 FAX:  262-925-6787  262-925-6787 EMAIL: kdavidsen@plprairiewi.com 



AutoCAD SHX Text

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT JOHN STEINBRINK JR., P.E. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS 8600 GREEN BAY ROAD PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6765 FAX: 262-694-2941 EMAIL: jsteinbrink@plprairiewi.com STEVE WLAHOVICH RIGHT OF WAY/ EROSION CONTROL INSPECTOR 8044 88TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6767 FAX: 262-697-1901 EMAIL: swlahovich@plprairiewi.com BUILDING INSPECTION DEPARTMENT SANDRO PEREZ BUILDING INSPECTION SUPERINTENDENT 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-925-6722 262-925-6722 FAX: 262-694-4734 262-694-4734 EMAIL: sperez@plprairie.com sperez@plprairie.com DONALD KOEHNE BUILDING INSPECTIOR 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-694-9304 262-694-9304 FAX: 262-694-4734 262-694-4734 EMAIL: dkoehne@plprairie.com dkoehne@plprairie.com MICHAEL KAPRELIAN BUILDING INSPECTIOR 9915 39TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-694-9304 262-694-9304 FAX: 262-694-4734 262-694-4734 EMAIL: mkaprelian@plprairie.commkaprelian@plprairie.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

FIRE & RESCUE DEPARTMENT CRAIG ROEPKE CHIEF OF FIRE & RESCUE 8044 88TH AVENUE PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-694-8027 FAX: 262-697-1901 EMAIL: croepke@plprairiewi.com  AARON LONGRIE ASSISTANT FIRE CHIEF 8600 GREEN BAY ROAD PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 53158 PHONE: 262-694-8027 FAX: 262-697-1901 EMAIL: alongire@plprairie.com OWNER DUSTIN HARPE HARPE DEVELOPMENT LLC 8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H KENOSHA WI 53188 PHONE: 262-694-1677 FAX: 262-694-1682 262-694-1682 EMAIL: sales@harpedevelopment.com ARCHITECT PHIL ANDERSON HARPE DEVELOPMENT LLC 8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H KENOSHA WI 53188 PHONE: 262-694-1677 262-694-1677 FAX: 262-694-1682 262-694-1682 EMAIL: phil@harpedevelopment.com CIVIL ENGINEER JSD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC. W238 N1610 BUSSE RD, SUITE 100 WAUKESHA, WI 53188 PHONE: 262-513-0666 FAX: 262-513-1232 RIZAL ISKANDARSJACH, P.E., P.L.S. EMAIL: riz@jsdinc.com







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C1.0


OVERALL SITE
PAVEMENT I.D. AND
DIMENSION PLAN



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

104TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

S.T.H.   "165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF WOODS



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 3 32,200 SF GREEN SPACE: 63.9% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 4 160,808 SF GREEN SPACE: 71.6% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 2 46,160 SF GREEN SPACE: 64.3% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

LOT 1 236,697 SF GREEN SPACE: 70.7% 



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

PRIVATE DRIVE CUL-DE-SAC



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED POND OUTLINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH   AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT LIGHT DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PATIO FINAL ASPHALT PAVEMENT LIFT  FOR PUBLIC ROADWAY TO BE  INCLUDED 



AutoCAD SHX Text

PAVEMENT LEGEND		



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C2.0


OVERALL GRADING PLAN



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

743



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

721



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

722



AutoCAD SHX Text

724



AutoCAD SHX Text

724



AutoCAD SHX Text

725



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

726



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

727



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

728



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

729



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

730



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

731



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

732



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

733



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

734



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

735



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

736



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

737



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

738



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

739



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

740



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

741



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

742



AutoCAD SHX Text

743



AutoCAD SHX Text

744



AutoCAD SHX Text

744



AutoCAD SHX Text

745



AutoCAD SHX Text

745



AutoCAD SHX Text

746



AutoCAD SHX Text

746



AutoCAD SHX Text

748



AutoCAD SHX Text

750



AutoCAD SHX Text

752



AutoCAD SHX Text

754



AutoCAD SHX Text

755



AutoCAD SHX Text

104TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

S.T.H.   "165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

B I T U M I N O U S    P A V E M E N T



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF GRAVEL



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF WOODS



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.62



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.80



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.80



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.65



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=738.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.03



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.40



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.37



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.09



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.89



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.84



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.69



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.55



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.15



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.15



AutoCAD SHX Text

737.30



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

736.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

738.70



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

735.75



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.45



AutoCAD SHX Text

732.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

733.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

739.60



AutoCAD SHX Text

731.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

730.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATED TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

REVISED POND OUTLINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH   AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'







PSM


RWI


MADISON  ▌MILWAUKEE
KENOSHA ▌APPLETON ▌WAUSAU


CREATE THE VISION


JSD PROJECT NO:


SHEET NUMBER:


SHEET TITLE:


Design/Drawn:


Approved:


PLAN MODIFICATIONS:


CLIENT:


PROJECT:


# Description:Date:


TELL THE STORY


TH
ES


E 
PL


AN
S 


AN
D


 D
ES


IG
N


S 
AR


E 
C


O
PY


R
IG


H
T 


PR
O


TE
C


TE
D


 A
N


D
 M


AY
 N


O
T 


BE
 U


SE
D


 IN
 W


H
O


LE
 O


R
 IN


 P
AR


T 
W


IT
H


O
U


T 
TH


E 
W


R
IT


TE
N


 C
O


N
SE


N
T 


O
F 


JS
D


 P
R


O
FE


SS
IO


N
AL


 S
ER


VI
C


ES
, I


N
C


.


CLIENT ADDRESS:


PROJECT LOCATION:


MILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE
W238 N1610 BUSSE ROAD, SUITE 100


WAUKESHA, WISCONSIN 53188
P. 262.513.0666


8501 75TH STREET, SUITE H
KENOSHA, WI 53142


GREEN BAY TRAIL
CONDOMINIUMS


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN


18-8835


Hearing Impaired TDD (800) 542-2289
Milwaukee Area (262) 432-7910


12-10-18CONCEPTUAL PLAN SUBMITTAL


C3.0


OVERALL UTILITY PLAN



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

104TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

S.T.H.   "165"



AutoCAD SHX Text

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

(WIDTH VARIES)



AutoCAD SHX Text

EDGE OF WOODS



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=734.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=738.35



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.20



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=739.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=736.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.25



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=737.00



AutoCAD SHX Text

T.F.=735.85



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

S



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST



AutoCAD SHX Text

1



AutoCAD SHX Text

2



AutoCAD SHX Text

3



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

6



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

8



AutoCAD SHX Text

11



AutoCAD SHX Text

12



AutoCAD SHX Text

14



AutoCAD SHX Text

15



AutoCAD SHX Text

16



AutoCAD SHX Text

17



AutoCAD SHX Text

18



AutoCAD SHX Text

19



AutoCAD SHX Text

20



AutoCAD SHX Text

13



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

10



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

DUPLEX



AutoCAD SHX Text

3-FAMILY



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATED TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAINAGE SWALE OVERLAND RELIEF



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW SANITARY LINE (PUBLIC)



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW TRANSFORMER



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATE HYDRANT



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW SANITARY & WATER LATERAL CONNECTIONS TO MAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATED STORM SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW 8" WATERMAIN (PUBLIC)



AutoCAD SHX Text

RELOCATED STORM SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW SANITARY & WATER LATERAL CONNECTIONS TO MAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW SANITARY & WATER LATERAL CONNECTIONS TO MAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

NEW ELECTRIC CONDUIT



AutoCAD SHX Text

105TH   STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

65TH   AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.DiggersHotline.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Call 811 or (800) 242-8511



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

40'







pherrick

Text Box



pherrick

Typewritten Text

TWO UNIT BUILDING



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



















pherrick

Typewritten Text

THREE UNIT BUILDING



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Text Box























CODE1812-001 
CODE1812-002 


VAC1901-001 


 


Consider Resoulution #19-01 to support the vacation of a portion of the Schmidt’s First 


Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision rights-of-way generally located north of 128th Street and 


east of Sheridan Road. 


Recommendation:  On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission approve Resolution #19-


03 and recommended that the Village Board also adopt Resolution #19-01 to support 


the vacation of a portion of the Schmidt’s First Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision 


rights-of-way as presented in the January 21, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


 


Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-02) for the request of 


Stephanie Judge, agent on behalf of The Nature Conservancy, owners of the properties generally 


located between 116th and 128th Streets east of Sheridan Road to amend Village 2035 Land Use 


Plan Map 9.9 to change the Low-Medium Density Residential, Commercial and Mixed Use Lands 


(CT) with an Urban Reserve Area land use designations to the Park, Recreational and Other Open 


Space Lands designation.  The Isolated Natural Resource Area and the wetland land use 


designations will remain unchanged.  In addition, Appendix 10-3 of the Village of Pleasant Prairie 


Wisconsin, 2035 Comprehensive Plan is proposed to be updated to reflect the above noted 


changes to the 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9. 


Recommendation:  On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission approve Resolution #19-


04 and recommended that the Village Board approve the Comprehensive Plan 


Amendment (Ord. #19-02) as presented in the January 21, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


 


Consider approval of a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #19-03) for the request of Stephanie 


Judge, agent, on behalf of The Nature Conservancy, owners of the properties generally located 


between 116th and 128th Streets east of Sheridan Road to be rezoned from the A-2, General 


Agricultural District and C-2, Upland Resource Conservancy District to the C-3, Natural and 


Scientific Area Resource Conservancy District.  The lands currently zoned C-1, Lowland Resource 


Conservancy District would remain unchanged. 


Recommendation:  On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing and 


recommended that the Village Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #19-


03) as presented in the January 14, 2019 Village Staff Report. 







2 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF JANUARY 21, 2019 


Consider Resolution #19-01 to support the vacation of a portion of the Schmidt’s First Addition 


to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision rights-of-way generally located north of 128th Street and east of 


Sheridan Road. 


Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-02) for the request of 


Stephanie Judge, agent on behalf of The Nature Conservancy, owners of the properties generally 


located between 116th and 128th Streets east of Sheridan Road to amend Village 2035 Land Use 


Plan Map 9.9 to change the Low-Medium Density Residential, Commercial and Mixed Use Lands 


(CT) with an Urban Reserve Area land use designations to the Park, Recreational and Other Open 


Space Lands designation.  The Isolated Natural Resource Area and the wetland land use 


designations will remain unchanged.  In addition, Appendix 10-3 of the Village of Pleasant Prairie 


Wisconsin, 2035 Comprehensive Plan is proposed to be updated to reflect the above noted 


changes to the 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9. 


Consider approval of a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #19-03) for the request of Stephanie 


Judge, agent, on behalf of The Nature Conservancy, owners of the properties generally located 


between 116th and 128th Streets east of Sheridan Road to be rezoned from the A-2, General 


Agricultural District and C-2, Upland Resource Conservancy District to the C-3, Natural and 


Scientific Area Resource Conservancy District.  The lands currently zoned C-1, Lowland Resource 


Conservancy District would remain unchanged. 


 


THESE ITEMS ARE RELATED AND WILL BE DISCUSSED AT THE SAME TIME; HOWEVER, 


SEPARATE ACTIONS ARE REQUIRED 


The Nature Conservancy (TNC) has purchased 150 acres of land generally located between 116th 


and 128th Streets, east of Sheridan Road for a wetland restoration project to be known as 


Chiwaukee West Restoration Plan.  The land area is west of the Chiwaukee Prairie State Natural 


Area (west of the railroad tracks). 


This area has been ditched, drained and is degraded agricultural land that the TNC intends to 


restore the natural hydrology and vegetation to host a mix of dry prairie, wetland swales and oak 


savannas.   The TNC plans to work with the Village in the future to plan public access 


opportunities for this site, including walking trails.  The site will feature a mix of grassy habitats 


intermixed with shallow wetlands, providing additional habitat for shorebirds including greater 


yellow legs, sandpipers, plovers, dowagers and godwits.  Blanding’s turtles have already been 


documented successfully nesting in the site’s sandy agricultural fields, but restoration will 


enhance opportunities and enhance viability.   


Beyond providing new wildlife habitat, improving degraded habitat and offering the public 


opportunities for nature-based outdoor recreation on this site, the planned restoration will also 


stop the excess flow of storm water runoff from this site through its ditch and drain tile network.  


By restoring the site’s hydrology to hold back storm water, the project will decrease downstream 


flooding and increase infiltration of clean groundwater follow to benefit drinking water supplies 


and feed springs that upwell to the adjoining State Natural Area. 


The site currently hosts about 67 acres of undesirable woody brush and trees interspersed with 


oak and hickory trees, 74.9 acres or agricultural fields, and approximately 5.8 acres emergent 


low-prairie, and a few acres of remnant native vegetation along the railroad right-of-way on the 


east side of the site.  These areas are more particularly described below (as presented in the 


Restoration Plan): 


Existing woody zones (67 acres): The property’s woody zones are primarily in areas of ditched 


and degraded wetland, with some areas of woody upland along Sheridan Road. The largest block 







3 


 


of wooded upland occurs immediately south of the adjoining Buoy Storage property and consists 


almost entirely of invasive black locust trees. The balance of the site’s degraded woodlands 


primarily grow on wetter soils and include a mix of undesirable cottonwood, aspen, box elder, 


green ash, silver maple, Norway maple, willow, black cherry, pine, spruce and fir trees. All 


wooded areas include an understory mix of invasive, non-native shrubs like European buckthorn, 


Japanese honeysuckle, multi-flora rose, and autumn olive, as well as a significant population of 


invasive Oriental bittersweet vines. Some native shrubs such as red dogwood, gray dogwood and 


hazelnut are found at woodland edges.  


A variety of native oak species (bur oak, swamp white oak, black oak, etc.) as well as shagbark 


hickory are scattered in the property’s woodlands, but these classic savanna trees have been 


severely suppressed by the surrounding invasive growth. Similarly, many ground surfaces in the 


woodland areas are stripped of native grasses and flowers that were present historically before 


invasive trees and shrubs shaded them out and invasive weeds like garlic mustard outcompeted 


for the limited remaining light, water and space. One 3-acre woodland area near the site’s south 


border includes a small ravine and does have a diverse array of ground vegetation remaining, 


including classic woodland species such as large-flowered trillium, jack-in-the-pulpit, large-


flowered bellwort, wild leeks and mayapples.  However, even this site has been invaded by garlic 


mustard, dame’s rocket, burdock and other problem species.  


Agricultural fields (74.9 acres): Judging by the age of some drain tiles located on the 


property, the site’s agriculture fields have likely been in tillable production for at least a century.  


A recent investigation has found many eras of drain tile installed, with some of the oldest dating 


to the early 1900’s. Subsequent tile installations date back to the 1930’s, 40’s and 50’s.  The 


site’s ditch network was created in the 1970’s, and the most recent drain tile was installed in the 


1980’s. Despite these efforts to dewater the property, the frequently wet soils tend to offer low 


crop yields. In 2018, the site was so wet that the farm tenant was unable to plant soybeans as 


planned in the spring, and similarly unable to plant a cover crop of winter wheat ahead of frost in 


the fall.  The property was sprayed with glyphosate herbicide in early July to combat weeds 


during this fallow year.   


Emergent low-prairie and border with railroad right-of-way: A diverse array of residual 


native vegetation still exists in a few pockets on this property. A 5.8-acre emergent low prairie in 


the central part of the site hosts the most native species, with over 70 documented in 2004 when 


surveyed by Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (SEWRPC).  Unfortunately, 


this pocket still suffers from invasion by at least 11 exotic plant species including reed canary 


grass, phragmites, purple loosestrife, Canada thistle and buckthorn.   The narrow, untilled 


acreage along the railroad right-of-way similarly hosts a variety of native species, but suffers 


from invasive species like reed canary grass, burdock, Canada thistle and garlic mustard. 


Restoration Plan Phases:  TNC envisions executing this restoration in four (4) primary phases: 


Phase 1 includes ongoing planning, permitting and neighbor notifications. Phase 2 covers site 


preparation between now and mid-2019 including removal of all undesirable woody trees, shrubs 


and vines this coming winter. (Stipulated Conservancy Permit and Erosion Control Permits have 


already been applied for and issued by the Village for these phases).  Phase 3 covers restoration 


of the site’s hydrology and replanting of native vegetation in late summer/early fall 2019. Phase 


4 covers intensive monitoring and follow-up for at least three years thereafter to assure 


restoration success before transitioning to a long-term maintenance plan.  (See the Restoration 


Plan for more specific details of each phase). 


Vacation of rights-of-way in the Schmidt’s First Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision 


(Resolution #19-02):  Since TNC now owns all of the lots involved and it's been more than 40 


years since the plat was recorded, and the public streets were not built and have not been used 


by anyone, a court procedure to vacate the portion of the plat is recommended by the Village.  


Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.40 says that the owner of the subdivision, or any lot in the 







4 


 


subdivision, may apply to the Circuit Court for vacation or alteration of all or any part of the 


recorded plat. The owner must give notice at least three (3) weeks before the application, by 


posting, publication, service on the Village, and mailing a copy to the owners of record of all lots 


in the subdivision or the part of the subdivision to be vacated or altered. 


Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.42 provides that after requiring proof that all of the necessary 


notices have been given, and after hearing all interested parties, the Court "may in its discretion" 


grant an order vacating or altering a part of the plat.  This does not include vacating or altering 


areas dedicated to public use (such as streets), which are subject to Wisconsin Statutes Section 


236.43. Wisconsin Statutes. Section 236.43 says the Court "may" vacate part of a subdivision 


dedicated and accepted by the public for public use if the plat was recorded more than 40 years 


prior to the filing of the application, the areas to be vacated were not improved as streets, roads 


or other public ways, the areas to be vacated are not necessary to reach other platted property, 


and all of the owners of the land in the plat or part thereof being vacated, and the Village, have 


joined in the application for vacation. 


Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.43(4) provides that if the plat area being vacated includes a 


street, road, alley or public walkway, it can be vacated by the Court if there is a resolution passed 


by the Village Board approving and requesting such vacation and the owners of all frontage of the 


lots and lands abutting the area sought to be vacated request in writing that such action be 


taken.   


The TNC has decided to follow the court procedures and will be responsible for petitioning the 


Court to vacate the portion of the plat.  The Village can assist in the vacation of the area which 


includes a street, road, alley or public walkway by passing a resolution requesting the vacation of 


the area.  Therefore, since the properties meet these requirements and furthermore that this area 


is zoned C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District and has been determined to be wetlands, 


the Plan Commission adopted Resolution #19-04 which supports the vacation and further 


recommends that the Village Board adopt a resolution approving and requesting said vacation.  


Note:  Only portions of the right-of-way that do not abut any other lands not owned by the TNC 


can be vacated.  In addition, vacating a portion of the plat does not vacate and existing utility 


easements that may have been dedicated will need to be vacated by the petitioner with the 


specific utility.    


Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-01): As a result of the forgoing, the 


Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 is proposed to be amended to change the Low-Medium 


Density Residential, Commercial and Mixed Use Lands (CT) with an Urban Reserve Area land use 


designations on the properties to the Park, Recreational and Other Open Space lands.  The 


Isolated Natural Resource Area and the wetland land use designations on the properties will 


remain unchanged.  In addition, Appendix 10-3 of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin, 2035 


Comprehensive Plan is proposed to be updated to reflect the above noted changes to the 2035 


Land Use Plan Map 9.9.  [Note:  As stated in the current Village Comprehensive Plan adopted in 


2009, all amendments to the Land Use Plan Map supersede any land uses noted on any 


neighborhood plan or other component of the Village Comprehensive Plan.] 


Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #19-02): The Land Use Map and the Zoning Map are required 


to be consistent, therefore; the petitioner is requesting to rezone the properties from the A-2, 


General Agricultural District and C-2, Upland Resource Conservancy District to the C-3, Natural 


and Scientific Area Resource Conservancy District.  The lands zoned C-1, Lowland Resource 


Conservancy District will remain unchanged. 


Update on TNC land in the Chiwaukee Prairie (south of 116th Street and east the 


railway):  TNC continues to acquire land as identified in The Carol Beach Chiwaukee Prairie Land 


Use Management Plan for preservation when there is a willing seller.  As of 2015 when TNC 


transferred their own property to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 56 lots still 







5 


 


needed to be acquired.  Since that time, the Chiwaukee Prairie Preservation Fund (CPPF), an all-


volunteer, charitable organization dedicated to acquiring, managing and preserving Chiwaukee 


Prairie, especially in this area, has acquired 14 additional lots within this zone, and 3 more lots 


further north.  The lots that remain in private ownership are shown on the attached map.  The 


platted roads east of the railroad are intended to be vacated when all of the adjacent land is in 


common ownership.  116th St., Lakeshore Dr., 1st Ct., parts of 121st St. and 122nd St. to 2nd Ave. 


and part of 2nd Ave. from 121st St. to 122nd St. are driveable. The rest of the platted roads are 


mostly grown prairie; a few have heavily rutted gravel. 


Future Plans for the Restoration Area:  TNC's restoration project will transform a degraded 


vacant site into an attractive natural area with excellent wildlife habitat that enhances 


groundwater recharge by stemming the otherwise ongoing discharge of water from the property. 


Increased groundwater recharge means less flooding downstream and cleaner drinking water. The 


project will also provide new opportunities for public outdoor recreation including hiking, 


birdwatching and cross-country skiing. To accommodate these activities and engage and educate 


the public, TNC is installing informational signage at three trailheads along the site's perimeter. 


In addition to these benefits, the TNC envisions that with community support, continued funding 


from those who have provided financial support and with participation from the other 


conservation partners at Chiwaukee, work will be undertaken to create mowed trails that will 


meander through prairies and past restored wetlands. Educational interpretive signs detailing a 


variety of subjects including the site's natural and cultural history, plants and animals may be 


staged along trail routes. 


Beyond these initial public amenities, TNC hopes that funding and partner support may be 


secured to provide additional nature-based outdoor educational opportunities at the site and they 


are actively exploring the feasibility of potential features like an ADA-accessible bird-watching 


platform and an outdoor classroom area that could provide a destination for area school groups. 


With additional funding, they could offer opportunities for school bus parking, a picnic area, 


bathrooms and even special, unique amenities like a natural playground, children's garden or 


nature center. 


Hunting Ordinances and Special Assessment:  At the public hearing the Plan Commission 


inquired about the Village’s hunting laws.  Attached is the current Village ordinance (Section 


250-3 of the Village Municipal Code adopted in 2015) related to discharge of firearms restrictions 


including hunting in the Village.  In addition, the Plan Commission inquired about any outstanding 


sewer/water assessments on the properties.  According to the Village Finance Department records 


there are no outstanding assessments on the properties owned by TNC or any other properties 


abutting Sheridan Road between 116th and 128th Streets. 


RECOMMENDATIONS 


On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission approve Resolution #19-03 and recommended that 


the Village Board also adopt a Resolution #19-01 to support the vacation of a portion of the 


Schmidt’s First Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision rights-of-way as presented in the January 


21, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission approve Resolution #19-04 and recommended that 


the Village Board approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-02) as presented 


in the January 21, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing and recommended that the 


Village Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #19-03) as presented in the 


January 14, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
RESOLUTION #19-01 


RESOLUTION TO SUPPORT THE VACATION OF RIGHTS-OF-WAY WITHIN A 
PORTION OF THE SCHMIDT’S FIRST ADDITION TO PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


SUBDIVISION IN VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN 
 


WHEREAS, the Schmidt’s First Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision is generally 
located north of 128th Street and east of Sheridan Road and was platted in the 1920’s; and 


WHEREAS, The Nature Conservancy (TNC), currently has purchased the following 
lots within the subdivision identified as Tax Parcel Numbers  93-4-123-314-0104 thru 93-4-
123-314-0150; 93-4-123-314-0174 thru 93-4-123-314-0220; 93-4-123-314-0242 thru 93-
4-123-314-0286; and 93-4-123-314-0312 thru 93-4-123-314-0330; and 


WHEREAS, to date no public roadway improvements were constructed within the 
subdivision rights-of-way on the lands adjacent to these properties owned by TNC as part of 
their Chiwaukee West Restoration Plan; and 


WHEREAS, these properties have been designated as wetlands and are zoned C-1, 
Lowland Resource Conservancy District; and 


 WHEREAS, since TNC now owns the aforementioned lots and its been more than 40 
years since the plat was recorded, and the public streets were not built and have not been 
used by anyone, a court procedure to vacate the portion of the plat is being supported by 
the Village as shown in Exhibit 1; and 


 WHEREAS, Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.40 provides that the owner of the 
subdivision, or any lot in the subdivision, may apply to the Circuit Court for vacation or 
alteration of all or any part of the recorded plat.  The owner must give notice at least three 
(3) weeks before the application, by posting, publication, service on the Village, and mailing 
a copy to the owners of record of all lots in the subdivision or the part of the subdivision to 
be vacated or altered; and 


 WHEREAS, Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.42 provides that after requiring proof 
that all of the necessary notices have been given, and after hearing all interested parties, 
the Court "may in its discretion" grant an order vacating or altering a part of the plat.  This 
does not include vacating or altering areas dedicated to public use (such as streets), which 
are subject to Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.43. Wisconsin Statutes.  Section 236.43 says 
the Court "may" vacate part of a subdivision dedicated and accepted by the public for public 
use if the plat was recorded more than 40 years prior to the filing of the application, the 
areas to be vacated were not improved as streets, roads or other public ways, the areas to 
be vacated are not necessary to reach other platted property, and all of the owners of the 
land in the plat or part thereof being vacated, and the Village, have joined in the application 
for vacation; and 


 WHEREAS, Wisconsin Statutes Section 236.43(4) provides that if the plat area being 
vacated includes a street, road, alley or public walkway, it can be vacated by the Court if 
there is a resolution passed by the Village Board approving and requesting such vacation 
and the owners of all frontage of the lots and lands abutting the area sought to be vacated 
request in writing that such action be taken; and 


 WHEREAS, the Village Plan Commission at its January 14, 2019 meeting adopted 
Plan Commission Resolution #19-03 to support and recommend that the Vilalge Board 
adopt a resolution to support the vacation of portions of the streets within Schmidt’s First 
Addition to Pleasant Prairie as shown on Exhibit 1 and adjacent to the following Tax Parcel 
Numbers:  93-4-123-314-0104 thru 93-4-123-314-0148; 93-4-123-314-0174 thru 93-4-
123-314-0218; 93-4-123-314-0246 thru 93-4-123-314-0286; and 93-4-123-314-0328 thru 
93-4-123-314-0330. 







NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that pursuant to Section 236.43(4) of the Wisconsin 
Statutes, the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees hereby supports and petitions for 
the vacation of a portion of the plat and portion rights-of-way in the Schmidt’s First Addition 
to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision adjacent to the following Tax Parcel Numbers 93-4-123-314-
0104 thru 93-4-123-314-0148; 93-4-123-314-0174 thru 93-4-123-314-0218; 93-4-123-
314-0246 thru 93-4-123-314-0286; and 93-4-123-314-0328 thru 93-4-123-314-0330 as 
shown on Exhibit 1. 


Adopted this 21st day of January 2019. 


       VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 
 
 


______________________________ 
______________________________  John P. Steinbrink 
Jane C. Snell      Village President 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:  __________________________ 
 
01-support vacation-schmidts 1st add 
 
VAC1901-001 


 







1 inch = 223 feet


DISCLAIMER  This ma p is neither a lega lly recorded  map nor a survey an d is not intended to be used as one.  This draw ing  is a compilation of records, data an d information loca ted in var iou s state, county and mun icip al offices 
and other sources affecting the area shown and  is to be used for refe rence purpose s only.  Kenosha County is not resp onsible for a ny inaccuracie s herein con tained .  If discrep ancies are fo und, please  conta ct Kenosha County.


¨


     


Date Printed: 1/6/2019


KENOSHA COUNTY 
INTERACTIVE MAPPING



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Polygon



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Rectangle



pherrick

Line



pherrick

Typewritten Text

Right-of-way areas to be vacated



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text

Portion of Schmidt's First Addition to Pleasant Prairie Subdivision to be vacated



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text

Exhibit 1



pherrick

Typewritten Text

SCHIMIDT'S FIRST ADDITION SUBDIVISION TO PLEASANT PRAIRIE



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text







ORD. # 19-02 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN  


2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 390 OF THE  


VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE 


 BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, Kenosha 
County, Wisconsin, hereby approves the following amendments to the Village 2035 Land 
Use Plan Map 9.9 on the properties generally located generally located between 116th and 
128th Streets east of Sheridan Road, located in U.S. Public Land Survey Section 31, 
Township 1 North, Range 23 East and further identified as Tax Parcel Numbers 93-4-123-
311-0070; 93-4-123-311-0201; 93-4-123-311-0204; 93-4-123-314-0410; 93-4-123-314-
0104 thru 93-4-123-314-0150; 93-4-123-314-0174 thru 93-4-123-314-0220; 93-4-123-
314-0242 thru 93-4-123-314-0286; and 93-4-123-314-0312 thru 93-4-123-314-0330: 


1. To amend the Village 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9 to change the Low-Medium 
Density Residential, Commercial and Mixed Use Lands (CT) with an Urban 
Reserve Area land use designations to the Park, Recreational and Other Open 
Space lands on the properties.  The Isolated Natural Resource Area and the 
wetland land use designations on the properties will remain unchanged.  


2. To update Appendix 10-3 of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin, 2035 
Comprehensive Plan to reflect the above noted changes to the 2035 Land Use 
Plan Map 9.9.  


The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record these 
Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to 
update Appendix A in Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said 
Amendments. 
 


Adopted this 21st day of January 2019. 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 


 
 
  
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 


  
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 


 
Posted:    
 


02-Comp Plan Amend- LU amend-TNC Restoration Area      


CODE1812-001 







 


 


 
 


ORD. # 19-03 
 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 


KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 420-13 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE 


 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, 


Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that the Official Village Zoning Map is hereby amended 
as follows: 
 
The properties owned by The Nature Conservancy that are generally located between 116th 
and 128th Streets east of Sheridan Road within U.S. Public Land Survey Section 31, 
Township 1 North, Range 23 East of the 4th Principal Meridian, in the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin and further identified as Tax Parcel Numbers 93-4-123-
311-0070; 93-4-123-311-0201; 93-4-123-311-0204; 93-4-123-314-0410; 93-4-123-314-
0104 thru 93-4-123-314-0150; 93-4-123-314-0174 thru 93-4-123-314-0220; 93-4-123-
314-0242 thru 93-4-123-314-0286; and 93-4-123-314-0312 thru 93-4-123-314-0330 are 
hereby rezoned from the A-2, General Agricultural District and C-2, Upland Resource 
Conservancy District to the C-3, Natural and Scientific Area Resource Conservancy District.  
The lands zoned C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District will remain unchanged. 


The Village Zoning Administrator is hereby directed to record these Zoning Map 
Amendments on the appropriate sheet of the Official Village Zoning Map and Appendix B in 
Chapter 420 of the Village Municipal Code shall be updated to include said Amendment. 


Adopted this 21st day of January, 2019. 
 


VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
 


_________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 


ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:____________ 
 
03- Chiwaukee West 
CODE1812-002 







 


Chiwaukee West Restoration Plan 


Phases 1 & 2 


 


 


11/20/18 


 


FULL PROJECT OVERVIEW & GOALS:   The Nature Conservancy  (TNC) currently owns 150 acres of 
ditched, drained and degraded agricultural land in the Village of Pleasant Prairie and intends to restore 
the property’s natural hydrology and vegetation to host a mix of dry prairies, wetland swales and oak 
savannas for the benefit of nature and people. 
 
This property is located along Sheridan Road/Wisconsin Hwy 32 between 116th Street and the Wisconsin‐
Illinois State Line. The Chiwaukee Prairie State Natural Area is adjacent to the east of the property.  
 
TNC hopes to work with the Village to plan public access opportunities for this site, including walking 
trails. Once restoration is complete, the site will offer substantial habitat for monarch butterflies and 
other pollinators through reestablishment of native prairie cover. The site will feature a mix of grassy 
habitats intermixed with shallow wetlands, providing additional habitat for shorebirds including greater 
yellow legs, sandpipers, plovers, dowagers and godwits. Blanding’s turtles have already been 
documented successfully nesting in the site’s sandy agriculture fields, but restoration will enhance 
opportunities and nest viability.  
 
Beyond providing new wildlife habitat, improving degraded habitat and offering the public opportunities 
for nature‐based outdoor recreation on this site, the planned restoration will also stop the excessive 
flow of storm water runoff from this site through its ditch and drain tile network. By restoring this site’s 
hydrology to hold back storm water, the project will decrease downstream flooding and increase 
infiltration of clean ground water flows to benefit drinking water supplies and feed springs that upwell 
to the adjoining State Natural Area. 
 
 


CURRENT SITE CONDITIONS: The site currently hosts about 67 acres of undesirable woody brush and 
trees interspersed with oak and hickory trees, 74.9 acres of agriculture fields, an approximately 5.8‐acre 
emergent low‐prairie, and a few acres of remnant native vegetation along the railroad right‐of‐way 
which borders the site to the east. 
 
Existing woody zones (67 acres): The property’s woody zones are primarily in areas of ditched and 
degraded wetland, with some areas of woody upland along Sheridan Road. The largest block of wooded 
upland occurs immediately south of the adjoining Buoy Storage property and consists almost entirely of 
invasive black locust trees. The balance of the site’s degraded woodlands primarily grow on wetter soils 
and include a mix of undesirable cottonwood, aspen, box elder, green ash, silver maple, Norway maple, 


 







willow, black cherry, pine, spruce and fir trees. All wooded areas include an understory mix of invasive, 
non‐native shrubs like European buckthorn, Japanese honeysuckle, multi‐flora rose, and autumn olive, 
as well as a significant population of invasive Oriental bittersweet vines. Some native shrubs such as red 
dogwood, gray dogwood and hazelnut are found at woodland edges. 
 
A variety of native oak species (bur oak, swamp white oak, black oak, etc.) as well as shagbark hickory 
are scattered in the property’s woodlands, but these classic savanna trees have been severely 
suppressed by the surrounding invasive growth. Similarly, many ground surfaces in the woodland areas 
are denuded of native grasses and flowers that were present historically before invasive trees and 
shrubs shaded them out and invasive weeds like garlic mustard outcompeted for the limited remaining 
light, water and space. One 3‐acre woodland area near the site’s south border includes a small ravine 
and does have a diverse array of ground vegetation remaining, including classic woodland species such 
as large‐flowered trillium, jack‐in‐the‐pulpit, large‐flowered bellwort, wild leeks and mayapples.  
However, even this site has been invaded by garlic mustard, dame’s rocket, burdock and other problem 
species. 
 
Agriculture fields (74.9 acres): Judging by the age of some drain tile located on the property, the site’s 
agriculture fields have likely been in tillable production for at least a century. A recent investigation has 
found many eras of drain tile installed, with some of the oldest dating to the early 1900s. Subsequent 
tile installations date to the 1930s, 40s and 50s. The site’s ditch network was created in the 1970s, and 
the most recent drain tile was installed in the 1980s. Despite these efforts to dewater the property, the 
frequently wet soils tend to offer low crop yields. In 2018, the site was so wet that the farm tenant was 
unable to plant soybeans as planned in the spring, and similarly unable to plant a cover crop of winter 
wheat ahead of frost in the fall. The property was sprayed with glyphosate herbicide in early July to 
combat weeds during this fallow year.  
 
Emergent low‐prairie and border with railroad right‐of‐way: A diverse array of residual native 


vegetation still exists in a few pockets on this property. A 5.8‐acre emergent low prairie in the central 


part of the site hosts the most native species, with over 70 documented in 2004 when surveyed by 


Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (SEWRPC). Unfortunately, this pocket still suffers 


from invasion by at least eleven exotic plant species including reed canary grass, phragmites, purple 


loosestrife, Canada thistle and buckthorn. 


The narrow, untilled acreage along the railroad right‐of‐way similarly hosts a variety of native species, 


but suffers from invasive species like reed canary grass, burdock, Canada thistle and garlic mustard. 


 


PROJECT PHASES, OBJECTIVES & SCOPES OF WORK: TNC envisions executing this restoration in 
four primary phases: Phase 1 includes ongoing planning, permitting and neighbor notifications. Phase 2 


covers site preparation between now and mid‐2019 including removal of all undesirable woody trees, 


shrubs and vines this coming winter. Phase 3 covers restoration of the site’s hydrology and replanting of 


native vegetation in late summer/early fall 2019. Phase 4 covers intensive monitoring and follow‐up for 


at least three years thereafter to assure restoration success before transitioning to a long‐term 


maintenance plan.  


 







 


Phase 1 – Planning, Permitting and Neighbor Notifications  


State and Federal Planning & Permitting ‐ We have begun restoration planning for the site with 


technical assistance from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) Partners for Fish & Wildlife Private 


Lands Program, which recently surveyed the property’s ditches and prepared a preliminary ditch‐fill plan 


that includes filling ditches and recontouring low areas to recreate natural wetland swales. TNC also 


recently contracted Huddleston McBride, a consulting firm specializing in drain tile investigations, to 


map the network of tile on our property so we can refine our plans for filling ditches and disabling drain 


tile to assure no negative off‐site impacts.  


The preliminary wetland restoration plan developed by the FWS will consider the property’s mapped 


drain tile network and be further refined ahead of submission to the Wisconsin Department of Natural 


Resources as well as the Army Corps of Engineers for review and permitting at the State and Federal 


levels. It is of note that the ditch network travels almost exclusively through the site’s nearly 30 acres of 


existing wetlands. All of these wetlands will remain, though their topography will be modified and 


naturalized, with the expectation that at least 33 more acres of wetlands will be created as part of the 


project.  


The site underwent an archeological review in summer 2018 to identify pre‐historic cultural activity. The 


archeological survey resulted in the identification of prehistoric cultural materials in the southern 


portion of the property. These materials include a single lithic flake associated with a previously‐


identified archeological site, and three pieces of lithic debitage that are part of a newly identified site 


just north of the other. Although archeological materials were confirmed to be present, no further 


investigations were recommended because planned restoration activities will provide a level of 


protection to these materials that is currently lacking, and no soil disturbance is planned near the sites. 


We are currently awaiting a Section 106 NHPA (National Historic Preservation Act) clearance to proceed 


with our plans. 


We are additionally working with the FWS to secure a Section 7 ESA (Endangered Species Act) clearance 


and the Wisconsin DNR to assure our project protects all relevant NHI (Natural Heritage Inventory) 


occurrences. 


 


Neighbor Notifications – We have contacted all of our property’s adjoining neighbors and are now 


sending letters to all other property owners within 300’ of our land. To date, we have received a positive 


response from any neighbors with whom we have spoken and we intend to keep all neighbors fully 


informed as we move ahead. We will also be installing signs at three locations (116th Street entrance, 


128th Street trailhead, and the “Big‐I” field along Sheridan Road) explaining the restoration project’s 


objectives and phases before any substantially visible change occurs on our land. 


 


Village of Pleasant Prairie Planning & Permitting ‐ 


Stipulated Conservancy Permit: The Village of Pleasant Prairie requires landowners secure a 


Stipulated Conservancy Permit ahead of embarking on a project such as this and we hope this 







Restoration Plan provides the basis for Village approval through Phase 2 (outlined below). After TNC has 


secured a Wetland General Permit through the DNR and ACOE to complete Phase 3 of the project, we 


would subsequently submit an updated restoration plan or other materials as needed to secure Village 


approval for the balance of the project.  


Erosion Control Permit: Although this project’s Phase 2a, as described below, will occur on 


frozen ground and so no erosion is anticipated, TNC is applying for an Erosion Control Permit covering 


this phase. TNC will submit an updated Erosion Control Permit Application prior to beginning Phase 3 


(ditch filling and recontouring into wetland swales, followed by replanting to native cover) and will work 


with Village Staff on this aspect after our wetland restoration plans are finalized.  


Zoning Map Amendment & Comprehensive Plan Amendments: TNC has sought Zoning Map 


and Comprehensive Plan Amendments at the request of Village Staff. The amendments will update the 


zoning and land use categories across the entire site to reflect the future land uses resulting from TNC’s 


investment in the ecological restoration of this degraded property. 


 


Phase 2a – Site Preparation – Woody Vegetation Removal 


Scope of Work: This project site has undergone over a century of intensive land use that has degraded 


its natural values. The site preparation phase of this project is fundamental. In the woodland areas, site 


preparation will focus on removing all undesirable woody vegetation including trees, shrubs and vines, 


while carefully preserving all oak and hickory trees. See attached Woody Vegetation Removal Map for 


reference.  


Description of Work: TNC will contract with Homer Tree Service of Lockport, IL to clear all trees, brush 


and vines, except oak and hickory trees, from approximately 67 acres of land. This woody removal will 


begin at the northern boundary of our property (see access point 1 on the map) and move south in a 


clockwise sequence, completing work in the vicinity of access point 6 on Sheridan Road, pending Village 


approval to clear in that area zoned C‐2. This work will be conducted by trained operators using heavy 


forestry equipment under sufficiently dry or frozen ground conditions to avoid rutting or soil 


disturbance. Logs and wood chips generated by the tree chipping process will be staged at pre‐


determined locations and removed from the site.  


Stumps 4” in diameter or greater in locations where future grading is planned will be ground out, with 


the stump grindings backfilled into stump holes. If TNC determines that stump grinding activities have 


disturbed sufficient soil that erosion may pose a concern, an oat cover crop will be broadcast wherever 


soil has been exposed to stabilize the site until Phase 3’s wetland restoration begins later in 2019. 


All other areas will have stumps cut flat and nearly flush (max 2” high) with the ground surface. All 


stumps not ground will be immediately treated with an appropriate herbicide according to 


manufacturer specifications, to minimize resprouting. Herbicide shall only be applied by licensed 


applicators. 


All property lines and removal boundaries will be marked ahead of the woody vegetation removal. 


Neighboring landowners will be consulted about whether any clearing can or should take place across 


property boundaries to ensure clean and aesthetic edges. In the event neighboring landowners consent 







to cutting on their lands, their permission will be secured in writing. TNC is working with Village staff to 


coordinate any clearing in the Village‐managed rights‐of‐way along 116th and 128th Streets and in 


undeveloped rights‐of‐way within the “Schmidt’s First Addition” area formerly owned by Kenosha 


County. 


Schedule: Assuming all permits are in place, the woody clearing project should be started by early 


January 2019 and be completed within 2‐4 weeks. 


Please refer to TNC’s Erosion Control Permit application filed with Village Engineering for any further 


information related to this process. 


 


Phase 2b – Invasive Herbaceous Vegetation Management & Woody Resprout Treatment 


Scope of Work: Herbaceous weeds have impacted all areas of this 150‐acre project site. Garlic mustard 


is ubiquitous in woodland areas while reed canary grass thrives in the site’s small emergent low prairie 


and along its railroad right‐of‐way. Numerous other herbaceous invasive weeds are present and need to 


be proactively managed through both chemical and mechanical means. TNC will contract a reputable 


land restoration firm to begin controlling invasive herbaceous weeds and treating woody resprouts 


across the property in the spring of 2019, as early as weather permits. 


Description of Work: The exact description and sequencing of work will vary depending on the specific 
proposal accepted by TNC when hiring a restoration company. However, TNC anticipates several specific 
actions will be taken to begin managing herbaceous weeds and woody resprouts: 
 


1) Use of Prescribed Fire: Although this will be a tool used broadly across the site in its later 
maintenance (Phase 4) stages, the application of prescribed fire may be used initially to begin 
enhancing the 5.8‐acre emergent low prairie as well as the native vegetation persisting along 
the railroad right‐of‐way. Prescribed fire may be implemented in early spring 2019 to clear off 
the duff and dead vegetation accumulated on these sites to prepare them for later, more 
effective targeted herbicide treatments of invasive plants. Any prescribed burns will be 
discussed in advance with the Village Fire and Rescue Department, and TNC or its contractor will 
apply for an applicable Burn Permit prior to implementing prescribed fire. 
 


2) Targeted Herbicide Treatments of Invasive Herbaceous Plants & Woody Vegetation Resprouts: 
TNC will contract a land restoration firm with licensed herbicide applicators to conduct ongoing 
and seasonally‐appropriate treatments of invasive weeds across our entire 150‐acre property. 
The following treatment areas and strategies are planned: 


 
a. Emergent low prairie, railroad right‐of‐way and southeast ravine: Each of these areas 


still hosts substantial populations of beneficial native grass, sedge and forb species. 
Restoration crews skilled in plant identification will grid these areas and carefully target 
invasive weeds with foliar spray or wick applications of an appropriate herbicide to 
minimize overspray and impacts to non‐target species. Key invasive weeds treated will 
include but not be limited to rhizomatous weeds such as reed canary grass, phragmites, 
Canada thistle and Canada goldenrod as well as biennial invasive weeds like garlic 
mustard, dames rocket and burdock. Other weeds known to be present and targeted for 
treatment include redtop, spotted St. John’s‐wort, purple loosestrife, and curly dock. 







 
b. Cleared woody areas: All cleared woody areas will undergo a “woody resprout” 


treatment when sprouts have reached a size of 3‐6 inches and enough leaf tissue is 
present to apply herbicide. A follow‐up re‐sprout/small stem treatment may be 
completed prior to July 1, 2019 if adequate control has not already been achieved. 
These same areas will also be searched for invasive herbaceous weeds such as garlic 
mustard. Weeds found in these areas will be treated with an appropriate herbicide and 
methods.  


 


c. Crop fields: TNC and the tenant leasing the crop fields had mutually agreed that winter 
wheat would be planted in September 2018, but wet conditions made this infeasible 
and the fields are currently fallow. If conditions in March 2019 are conducive, the tenant 
will cultivate the fields and plant a dense crop of oats to hold soil and compete with 
weeds until harvest in mid‐summer. Upon harvest of this final crop, the fields will be 
assessed for weed issues and other conditions that could impact seeding of perennial 
cover following wetland construction in late summer/early fall. Actions will be taken to 
assure optimal field conditions for seeding perennial cover. 


 


Schedule: Invasive plant treatments will begin in early spring 2019 and continue through the entire 


growing season. 


 


Future Phases – (3) Restoration of Site Hydrology & Replanting of Native Vegetation &   


       (4) Monitoring and Follow‐Up  


TNC’s restoration plan for Phases 3 and 4 of this project will be submitted to the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie as soon as a General Wetland Permit has been issued following review by the Wisconsin DNR and 


U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in early 2019. TNC requests issuance of a Stipulated Conservancy Permit 


and Erosion Control Permit allowing us to proceed with this project’s Phase 2 as soon as weather 


conditions permit. 







0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet ¯


Legend


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWest_VPP_PermitMap Date: 10/26/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


TNC Ownership - 150 acres


Chiwaukee West Restoration Area Site Map


116th St.


128th St.


kj


kj


kj


kj Public Information Signage Location


"Big-I"
Field


Ra vi ne


"Schmidt's
First


Addition"
Area


Emergent
Low


Prairie


Invasive
Black
Locust
Zone







0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet


¯
Legend


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWest_VPP_Zoning_AccessPoints_Map Date: 11/28/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


Chiwaukee West Restoration Area Stipulated Conservancy Permit Application Map
Phase 2a - Woody Vegetation Removal


93-4-123-311-0070


116th St.


128th St.


93-4-123-311-0201


93-4-123-311-0204


93-4-123-314-0410


"Schmidt's
First


Addition"
Area


(82 Parcels)
See Tax


Parcel # List
Below


Tax Parcel LinesTNC Ownership - 150 acres


Neighbor/ROW Woody Removal Areas, 
Pending Neighbor and/or Village Agreement


3


2


4


5


6


1


x


TNC Woody Removal Areas


Woody Removal Access Points & Routes







630


63
2


614


61
8


62
0


616


622


624


62
8


62
6


61
2


592


59
6


590


594


63
6


634


63
8


58
8


640


642
644


646


648


634


590


632


63
2


636


618


61
6


59
0


61
6


59
0


61
6


632


632


58
8


63
6


616


59
0


63
2


58
8


63
2


592


618


58
8


59
4


61
4


59
4


632


638


640


58
8


63
2


63
2


630


632


63
6


59
0


59
4


618


59
4


59
0


632
634


630


58
8


58
8


594


58
8


632


63
2


62
0


61
6


59
6


620


616


59
6


63
2


588


62
0


638


61
8


61
8


63
6


64
4


61
4


61
6


63
6


632


63
4


59
2


63
8 59


2


63
6


59
0


63
4


62
6


636


59
4


592


636


616


630


63
6


59
2


63
2


63
2


63
2


630


61
6


59
0


63
2


594


632
614


624


62
2


58
8


632


62
6


632


588


58
8


63
8


596


616


624


590


63
2


58
8


59
0


594


63
0


59
0


61
4


59
2


61
6


634


590


634


59
0


636


58
8


63
8


63
6


63
4


63
6


59
4


640


63
2


632


59
4


63
2


624


638


59
4


592


58
8


63
6


63
6


632


59
0


59
0


590


632


62
0


59
4


61
6


63
6


63
6


63
2


618


638


61
6


632


59
2


590


596


61663
0


58
8


612


636


63
2


61
6


64
0


58
8


62
6


588


626


59
0


638


59
4


62
0


59
2


59
0


63
2


62
2


58
8


63
6


594


63
4


63
2


636


62
0


63
4


63
8


640


61
6


63
2


58
8


59
0


62
4


590


59
4


61
8


62
2


63
8


59
0


61
8


59
2


63
8


632
63


4


590


59
4


59
4


59
6


62
8


63
0


63
2


632


634


620


63
2


634


592


636


632


59
2


590


616


59
0


62
2


63
6


58
8


636


636


63
2


63
6


59
0


61
6


64
0


596


634


63
8


61
4


590
630


632


590


594


63
6


590


636


59
4


622


636


59
2


63
2


618


63
2


636


618


59
2


638


590
588


646


620


58
8


61
6


63
6


622


59
0


638


59
063


6


636


620


59
0


616


59
2


62
0


59
0


59
0


634


590


63
6


59063
0


59
0


63
6


62
2


59
2


61
6


59
2


58
8


632


632


59
4


63
2


636


59
2


63
0


59
4


620


622


58
8


61
4


63
4


594


63
2


63
8


63
2


640


63
2


61
8


614


620634


58
8


63
6


590


63
6


58
8


59
0


61
8


63
8


618


622


63
6


59
0


62
4


63
8


61
6


0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet ¯


Legend


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWestRR_FullComplex_Contours Date: 10/26/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


TNC Ownership - 150 acres


Chiwaukee West Restoration Site - 2' LIDAR Contours


116th St.


128th St.


LIDAR 2ft Contours







S3/E1Ks


T3/S3K


E1H


T3/S3K


T3K


E2K


E2K


S3/E2Ks


F0Kf


T3/E1K


T3K


T3K
T3/S3K


T3K


F0Kf


S3K


W0Hx


S3/E1K


S3K


T3/E1K


S3K


T3/S3H


W0Hx


W0Hx


E1Ks


U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service


0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet ¯


Legend


Kenosha County Ownership - 15 acres


Wetland (SEWRPC)


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWestRR_FullComplex_Wetlands Date: 10/26/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


TNC Ownership - 150 acres


Chiwaukee West Restoration Site - Wetlands, Indicators & PRWs


116th St.


128th St.


Wetland Indicators (WDNR)


Potentially Restorable Wetlands (WDNR)







Lands South of 116th Street Still to be Acquired for Conservation, 
per Carol Beach/Chiwaukee Prairie Land Use Plan


¯0 750 1,500 2,250 3,000375
Feet


Legend


R
ai


lr
o


ad
 T


ra
ck


s


Lake
Michigan


Tax Parcel Lines


116th St.


122nd St.


WI/IL State Line


TNC Ownership


State of WI Ownership (DNR & UW-Parkside)


CPPF Ownership


Village of Pleasant Prairie Ownership


Tax Delinquent Parcels owned by Kenosha County


Lands Still to Be Acquired for Conservation (42 lots)







A. 


(1) 


(2) 


(3) 


(4) 


(5) 


(a) 


(b) 


[1] 


[2] 


[3] 


[4] 


Village of Pleasant Prairie, WI
Tuesday, January 15, 2019 


Chapter 250. Peace and Good Order 


§ 250-3. Discharge of firearms restricted. 


[Amended 6-18-2007 by Ord. No. 07-27; 9-8-2009 by Ord. No. 09-50; 9-4-2012 by Ord. No. 
12-31; 10-7-2013 by Ord. No. 13-47; 8-4-2014 by Ord. No. 14-24; 11-2-2015 by Ord. No. 15-
41]


No person shall fire or discharge any firearm, air rifle, spring gun or air gun (commonly 
referred to as "BB guns," "dart guns," "pellet guns" or "paintball guns") of any description 
or fire or discharge any instrument, bow and arrow, crossbow, slingshot or other weapon 
or device capable of discharging a single projectile, including an arrow, except this 
section shall not apply to the following:


Any authorized officer of the law in the performance of his duties.


At a shooting range, shotgun trap or skeet-shooting field, archery range, shooting 
gallery or public or private sportsman's range or club if allowed by the underlying 
zoning district.


Gun salutes as a special function at a parade, program or funeral.


The discharge of blank cartridges in a firearm suitable for their safe use when 
utilized as a starting signal device at athletic events or as a prop in any stage 
performance.


Hunting.


The discharge of a shotgun or use of a bow and arrow for hunting wild animals 
and birds under licenses issued pursuant to Ch. 29, Wis. Stats., including the 
hunting of deer during the State of Wisconsin gun and bow and arrow deer 
seasons.


Anyone engaged in the discharge of a shotgun or use of bow and arrow for 
hunting wild animals and birds under this section shall comply with all state 
statutes and rules promulgated by the Department of Natural Resources 
pertaining to game, including but not limited to the following:


State-designated hunting seasons, times, and zones.


State limits on the number of game obtained per season.


Safety measures.


Acquisition of necessary permits and licenses.







[5] 


(6) 


(a) 


(b) 


B. 


C. 


D. 


Penalties and fines for violations and noncompliance.


Shooting or discharging a bow and arrow or crossbow.


It shall be unlawful for a person to hunt with a bow and arrow or crossbow 
within a distance of 100 yards from a building located on another person's land. 
This restriction shall not apply if the person who owns the land on which the 
building is located allows the hunter to hunt with a bow and arrow or crossbow 
within the specified distance of the building. A building is defined as a 
permanent structure used for human occupancy and includes a manufactured 
home, as defined in § 101.91(2), Wis. Stats.


A person who hunts with a bow and arrow or crossbow shall discharge the 
arrow or bolt from the weapon toward the ground.


Transporting weapons. No person shall possess, use or transport, while on the lands of 
another, within the Village, any firearm, air gun or other weapon or device capable of 
discharging a missile, unless the express permission of the owner or occupant of such 
land has been first obtained.


Hunting and trapping prohibited. Hunting and/or trapping on all Village-owned property is 
prohibited.


It shall be illegal to discharge a firearm utilizing a single projectile in the area of the 
Village bordered by Sheridan Road on the west, Lake Michigan on the east, 128th 
Street (Illinois State Line) to the south and the Village boundary line to the north.















0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet ¯


Legend


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWest_VPP_Zoning_CompPlanChanges_Map Date: 11/20/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


TNC Ownership - 150 acres


Chiwaukee West Restoration Area
Rezoning & Comprehensive Plan Amendment Application Map


93-4-123-311-0070


116th St.


128th St.


Tax Parcel Lines


93-4-123-311-0201


93-4-123-311-0204


93-4-123-314-0410


"Schmidt's
First


Addition"
Area


(82 Parcels)
See Tax


Parcel # List
Below











0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet ¯


Legend


Chiwaukee
Prairie


Preserve
State Natural Area


Hw
y3


2/S
he


rid
an


Ro
ad


Document Name: ChiwWest_VPP_Zoning_CompPlanChanges_Map Date: 11/20/2018


Un
ion


Pa
cif


ic
Ra


ilro
ad


Tr
ac


ks


WISCONSIN - ILLINOIS STATE LINE


TNC Ownership - 150 acres


Chiwaukee West Restoration Area
Rezoning & Comprehensive Plan Amendment Application Map


93-4-123-311-0070


116th St.


128th St.


Tax Parcel Lines


93-4-123-311-0201


93-4-123-311-0204


93-4-123-314-0410


"Schmidt's
First


Addition"
Area


(82 Parcels)
See Tax


Parcel # List
Below

























































		Village Board Agenda - January 21, 2019

		Village Board Minutes - November 19, 2018

		Village Board Minutes - December 3, 2018

		Village Board Minutes - December 17, 2018

		8A. AND B.  Green Bay Trail Items

		Ord #19-01

		2019-01-09 Engineering Comments

		2018-12-13 Fire Department Comments

		Government Agency Contacts November 2018

		Building Elevation Comments

		Declartion comments

		Bylaw comments

		Comp Plan Amend App

		Area of 2006 Lakewood NP to be amended



		Concept Plan App and Plans



		8C. D. AND E.  Chiwaukee West Restoration Items

		Res 19-01

		Ord 19-02

		Ord 19-03

		Chiwaukee West Restoration Plan

		Chiwaukee Prairie Lands remaining to be acquired

		Section 250-3 Discharge of firearms restricted

		Letter Request for ROW Vacation

		Comp Plan Amendment Application

		Zoning Map Amendment Application



		8F.  VOPP Purchase of 10214 39th Ave

		Residential Offer to Purhcase - 10214 39th Ave.

		Jan 11 39 Ave Add

		Lead Addendum - 10214 39th Ave.










